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REGULATION
ON
CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Approved with Decision of the Supervisory Council No. 52, dated 14.07.2004

LEGAL BASIS

ARTICLE 1

This regulation is drafted in compliance with Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of Albania”,
Article 12, Letter “a” and Law No. 8365 dated 02.07.1998 “On the Banks in the Republic of Albania”,
Article 26, Point 3, Letter “b”, Article 28; Article 31, Point 2; Article 36 and Article 37.

GOAL

ARTICLE 2

The goal of this regulation is to provide guidance to credit risk management in order for the Bank to
minimize possible losses from loans and other comparable assets, susceptible to interest rate
fluctuations (hereinafter, other assets).

This regulation defines the criteria, categories and methods for classification of loans and other bank
assets, calculating an appropriate level of provisions to cover possible losses given the inability to
regain the full value of loans and other assets.

For purposes of this regulation, credit risk means the inability of the borrower, guarantor or counterparty
for other assets to fulfill their obligations to the bank in accordance with the terms set forth in the credit
agreement.

ENTITIES

ARTICLE 3

Entities subject to this regulation are banks, branches of foreign banks, and other non-bank entities
licensed by the Bank of Albania to grant credit. Hereinafter, these entities will be referred to as “banks”.

CREDIT CLASSIFICATION

ARTICLE 4

4.1. Banks will classify their loans into one of the following five categories:
Standard

Special mention

Substandard

Doubtful

Loss

agprwNE

Category 1 represents the highest quality of loans, while Category 5 represents the lowest one.



4.2. Loans classified in Categories 1 and 2 make up the group of quality loans. Their gross amount
(principal + interest) represents the total amount of quality loans.

4.3. Loans classified in Categories 3, 4, 5 make up the group of problem loans. Their gross
amount (principal + interest) represents the total amount of problem loans.

CHARACTERISTICS FOR CREDIT CLASSIFICATION

ARTICLE 5

5.1. For classification of loans into the aforementioned categories, banks will perform, according
to priority and on a complementary basis, a detailed analysis of the following characteristics:

a.

b.

An analysis of the financial condition of the borrower; this analysis should be given
priority in classifying the loan;

An analysis of the financial condition of the guarantor, when the bank is not convinced
or whenit finds it difficult to classify the loan by relying solely on Characteristic “a”;
An analysis of loan guarantee and assessment of the quality of collateral and/or
guarantee, when such collateral and/or guarantee do exict. The analysis of loan
guarantee, being continuously an indispensable element, shall be considered
necessary when the bank is not convinced or when it finds it difficult to classify the
loan by relying solely on Characteristic “a”;

An analysis of principal and/or interest delinquency. The overdue status of a loan
could be reason enough for a bank to reclassify the credit.

Account activity analysis in overdraft credit facilities, except for reclassifications, interest
accruals or recapitalization, as well as repayment of credit to immediately benefit
another one of higher value, under the situations when there has been no account
activity for previous repayment of credit. This analysis takes on greater importance
when the bank is not convinced or when it finds it difficult to classify the loan by
relying solely on the aforementioned Characteristics.

Credit restructuring due to inability of the borrower and/or guarantor to repay the loan.
This Characteristic is considered independent of the other Characteristics, for
classifying loans as problem loans;

Other Characteristics set forth in the banks’ own documents, which are used only
when a loan is classified into a category of lower quality than the one specified by
the analyses of the aforementioned Characteristics.

5.2. The supervisory inspectors have the right to require a change of loan classification category in
cases when:

they deem the interpretation of the aforementioned Characteristics from banks is not
accurate;

they deem there are additional elements, besides the aforementioned Characteristics,
to justify the change of loan classification category.

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

ARTICLE 6

With the approval of the Board of Directors, banks are required to develop a manual of the internal
policies, procedures and regulations for the continuous monitoring and control of loan portfolio quality
and the bank’s other assets. The manual, at a minimum, should contain:

oo oo

Credit administration strategies;

Policies on interest rates, terms, repayment, and size of the credits;

Informational and analytical requirements for the borrower and/or guarantor;
Procedures on the documentation requirements for granting loans, including loan



approval by hierarchy;

Risk management policies on the whole portfolio, and each particular client, limits to
one borrower, concentration of credit by sectors and the ratio between credit risk and
the other risks (change of exchange rates, interest rates, etc.).

Procedures for tracking performance, with particular attention to problem loans, re-
evaluating guarantee and collateral, on a continual basis, and assessing the adequacy
of provisions for possible losses;

Procedures for evaluating the quality of other assets and unused financing
commitments, and for making and assessing the adequacy of provisions for possible
losses from asset depreciation;

Approval and administration procedures on overdraft lines of credit (in accordance
with the meaning of “overdraft account credit” as described in Point 2.3.3. of the
Banking Accounting Manual, approved by the Council of Ministers Decision No. 820
dated 30.12.1998).

GENERAL RULES

ARTICLE 7

The bank’s manuals and/or policies will provide for a continuous evaluation of the quality of the loan
portfolio and other assets, as well as the risk of loss from their depreciation. For this purpose, these
documents will, at a minimum, contain the following general rules:

7.1

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

The organization of the credit follow-up process, including, but not limited to, the following

elements:

a. Administrative units performing risk assessments, provisions accrual and their
execution;

b. Methods for assessing the repayment capacity of the borrower (including risks arising
from crediting in cases when the monetary unit of credit is different from the one
stated in the borrower’s income, etc.), the relevant guarantee and collateral;

C. Cooperation with the independent internal and/or external control units;

d. Periodic assessment of classifications and forecasts for risk provisions coverage;

e. Periodic reporting to the bank’s administrators.

The analysis of the financial condition and creditworthiness of the borrower (as a primary
element for the classification of credit), including, but not limited to, the following elements:
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The borrower’s income and source of income;

Other credits and regularity of repayment;

Credit to related persons and regularity of repayment;

Balance sheet and account statement (loss and profit);

Business plan with cash flow statements and forecasts;

Credit history;

Capacity to repay the credit: for businesses this includes an analysis of the borrower’s
business cycle.

The analysis of the financial condition and creditworthiness of the guarantor. This analysis is
aimed at assessing the guarantor’s capacity to repay and is based on the same documents
used for the analysis of the borrower’s financial condition.

The analysis of loan guarantee, which is aimed at assessing whether a loan has or not been
well-secured.

Aloan is well-secured when the collateral and/or guarantee is sufficient to protect the bank from the
loss of principal and interest.

Sufficiency means in this case the collateral/guarantee should be accompanied by legal documentation



that assures the bank of its legal claim, and a valuation demonstrating that the collateral/guarantee is
sufficient to cover the principal and interest, as well as the cost of the disposition of the collateral/
guarantee.

STANDARD CREDITS

ARTICLE 8

The banks classify as “Standard Credits” all loans, except for those classified in accordance with
Articles 9,10,11 and 12.

When a standard credit is an installment loan and is past due from 1 to 30 days, then only the unpaid

installment amount is classified in Section 2.1. (Past due credits and advances for the customer) in
accordance with the “Bank Accounting Manual”. This amount is also included in Standard Credits.

SPECIAL MENTION CREDITS

ARTICLE 9

The banks classify as “Special Mention Credits” all loans that have one or more of the following
characteristics:

1. the financial condition of the borrower is evaluated as good; but there are possible weaknesses,
which might weaken the financial condition of the borrower in the future;

2. the financial condition of the guarantor is evaluated as good,;

3. the loan is considered “well-secured”, in accordance with Article 7, Point 7.4. of this regulation;

4. the principal or interest is past due from 1 to 30 days from the maturity date in the case of non-
installment loans;

5. the principal or interest is past due from 31 to 90 days from the due date in the case of
installment loans;

6. the borrower does not have account transactions for a period from 31 to 60 days in cases of
credit limit.

SUBSTANDARD CREDITS

ARTICLE 10

The banks classify as “Substandard Credits” those loans that have one or more of the following
characteristics:

1. the financial condition of the borrower is evaluated as unsatisfactory and his income from the
main business activity is considered insufficient;

2. the financial condition of the guarantor is evaluated as good, but problems are expected in
the future;

3. the loan is not considered well-secured; the value of the collateral and/or guarantee is not
considered to be in accordance with the requirements set forth in Article 7, Point 7.4. of this
regulation;

4. the principal or interest is past due from 31 to 90 days from the maturity date in the case of
non-installment loans;

5. the principal or interest is past due from 91 to 180 days from the due date in the case of
installment loans;

6. the borrower does not have account transactions for a period from 61 to 180 days in cases of
credit limit;



the credit has been restructured once due to an inability to repay it, and at the same time the
following conditions are met:

a. the credit is not being repaid on the value of principal and interest, according to the
new conditions;
b. notwithstanding the credit performance with the new conditions, no more than 365

days have past from the restructuring date.

DOUBTFUL CREDITS

ArTICLE 11

The banks classify as “Doubtful Credits” those loans that have one or more of the following

characteristics:

1. the financial condition of the borrower is such that the borrower will not be able to repay the
total obligation or other obligations to the bank or other creditors;

2. there is a real possibility that the borrower might go bankrupt;

3. the financial condition of the guarantor is such that the guarantor will not be able to meet
commitments to the borrower or the bank, at least temporarily;

4, the loan is not considered to be well-secured, in accordance with the requirements set forth
in Article 7, Point 7.4. of this regulation;

5. the principal or interest is past due for a period from 91 to 180 days from the maturity date in
the case of non-installment loans;

6. the principle or interest is past due for a period from 181 to 365 days from the due date in the
case of installment loans;

7. the borrower does not have account transactions for a period from 181 to 365 days in cases
of credit limit;

8. the credit has been restructured twice due to an inability to repay it, and at the same time the
following conditions are met:
a. since last restructuring, credit is not being repaid on the value of principal and interest,

according to the new conditions;
b. notwithstanding the credit performance with the new conditions, no more than 550
days have past from the last restructuring date.
9. the bank has acted on a legal basis (submitting a request to the Court of District) to initiate the

process of execution of the collateral from the Executor.

LOSS CREDITS

ARTICLE 12

The banks classify as “Loss Credits” those loans that have one or more of the following characteristics:

1.

the financial condition of the borrower is such that the borrower is clearly unable to meet
principal and interest repayment terms;

the borrower has gone bankrupt or is going through a liquidation process and there is a
danger that some creditors will remain unsatisfied;

the borrower has died and there is no one to pay the credit;

the bank has definitely acted on a legal basis (the Court decision is issued and payment for
execution of the collateral is performed) to carry out the process of execution of the collateral
from the Executor;

the borrower has pledged the same collateral to other creditors and the bank is unable to
execute in due time and appropriately the collateral, to recover the credit value;

the financial condition of the guarantor is such that the guarantor is unable to meet commitments
to the borrower and the bank on a continuous basis;



7. the loan is not considered to be well-secured, in accordance with the requirements set forth
in Article 7, Point 7.4. of this regulation;

8. the principal or interest is past due for a period of more than 181 days from the maturity date
in the case of non-installment loans;

9. the principal or interest is past due for a period of more than 365 days from the due date in the
case of installment loans;

10. the borrower does not have account transactions for more than 365 days in cases of credit
limit;

11. the credit has been restructured more than two times due to an inability to repay it.

ARrTICLE 13

For the credits classified in accordance with Article 10 that are passed due more than 90 days and for
credits classified in accordance with Articles 11 and 12, there is no accounting of the accrued interest.

In cases the borrower shall pay the obligation, the accrual of non-accounted interests is included in the
obligation. This is done to avoid overloading the balance sheet of the bank for those interest values that
are unsafe to be received.

Subsequent receipts of the bank should be applied first to payment of interest of all the period and
subsequently to payment of principal.

PROVISIONS RATES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS

ARTICLE 14

1. Depending on the classification categories, the banks set up corresponding provisions to
cover the possible losses from loans. The rates for calculating provisions are as follows:

A. fixed rates for the group of qualitative loans:

1- for “Standard loans” and *“Past due loans and advances for the
CUSTOMIEI™ .o 1 per cent.
2- for “Special mention 10ans” .........cccccoviiieeiiniienns 5 per cent.

The provisions for the above mentioned loans are calculated on the common value of principal and
interest and are considered provisions to cover the statistical risk.

B. variable rates for the group of bad loans:

1- for the principal:

L “substandard loans” not lower than 20 per cent;
L “doubtful loans” not lower than 50 per cent;
L “loss loan” not lower than 100 per cent.

2- for the accounted interest the rate is 100 per cent in each case.

Provisions accounted for problem loans are considered as provisions for covering the credit depreciation
risk.

2. If for a loan the following conditions are simultaneously met:
a) for the whole credit guarantee (or part of it) is used as collateral and/or guarantee a

10



banking deposit/account in cash, for which,

b) the bank possesses all the legal documented rights and physical possibilities to
own and benefit the collateral/guarantee on behalf of the bank in due time and
appropriately, if the borrower shall not meet the conditions on due loans.

The bank, through analysing all risk types, shall classify the loan (or its collateral part in cash) into the
category where it is more confident that the collateral and/or guarantee value (or the collateral partin
cash), together with the provisions value established in accordance with the definition of this article,
but not indispensably with its requirements, cover adequately the value of principal and interest (or the
collateral part).

ACCOUNTING OF THE CREDIT CLASSIFICATIONS AND PROVISIONS
FOR CREDIT LOSSES

ARTICLE 15

In the same category with the loan that is classified (principal and interest), other loans related to it are
classified as well. They represent loans granted from the bank for the related persons financially
depending on the borrower and/or the guarantee provided from the bank for the same borrower or the
related persons financially depending on him.

The provisions calculated based on the above article are to be recorded as expenses.
If a loan is reclassified from one category into another:

1. Overall credit balance (principal and interest) and other related accounts that represent loans
granted from the bank for the related persons financially depending on the borrower and/or
the guarantee provided from the bank for the same borrower or the related persons financially
depending on him, are classified into the same category.

2. Accounted provisions are recorded as “income” from the reversal of provisions and provisions
established in accordance with the loan classification into the new category are recorded as
“expenses”.

For loan assessments in accordance with this regulation, banks and foreign banks branches are

required to complete, for each loan, the form No. 1 attached to this regulation. This form is to be
enclosed in the borrower’s file.

CAPITALIZATION OF INTEREST

ARTICLE 16

Capitalization of interest is the process whereby the “accrued interest” is added to the principal, being
recorded in the principal accounting.

Capitalization of interest from banks occurs only if the following conditions are simultaneously met:

1- the borrower is able to pay its obligations from the business activity income;

2- capitalization of interest is included in the terms and conditions of the initial loan agreement,
in case the borrower is in a difficult position of liquidity;

3- the loan, including the capitalized interest, is well guaranteed;

4- the business plan of the borrower ensures that the financial condition in the future will be

considerably improved, or his business activity income will be considerably increased;
there is no an instant risk for the loss of loan, including the capitalized interest;
6- the borrower may procure funds to repay the loan from other sources at the same time and

a
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exact amount of the loan maturity.

CREDIT RESTRUCTURING

ARTICLE 17

Banks, in agreement with the borrower, restructure the credit in cases when the borrower does not
repay the credit in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the initial loan agreement and
on the basis of the criteria specified in the credit manual approved by the Board of Directors. In case
of credit restructuring, in the file is added also the restructuring agreement signed between the bank
and the borrower.

WRITING OFF LOSSES

ARTICLE 18
1. The writing off losses is done with the decision of the Board of Directors when one of the
following conditions is met:
a. the legal process of demanding payment from the borrower is completed and the
borrower continues to be a debtor to the bank for the unpaid portion;
b. the loan is, with the Board of Directors decision, on the list of loss credits, which may
be written-off, and the deadline for the loan to remain on this list has expired.
C. the loan is classified Loss and has not been paid for more than 365 days after being
classified as Loss.
d. the loan is classified Loss by the examiners and is to be written-off as required in the
report of examination.
2. The files of written-off loans are to be kept and assessed on a continuous basis, and reviewed

by the Board of Directors no less than every six months. Every receipt from written-off loans
is considered to be extraordinary income.

CLASSIFICATION OF OTHER ASSETS AND OUTSTANDING FINANCING
COMMITMENTS

ARTICLE 19
Other assets and financing commitments are to be classified into two categories:

1. Standard or Regular
2. Doubtful or With Problems

The policies on the classification of other assets and financing commitments into Category “Doubtful
or With Problems”, as well as the size of the provisions to cover possible loss from their depreciation
are to be approved by the Board of Directors.

The size of provisions for possible loss from the depreciation of other assets, which are sensitive to
interest rate, should not be less than the accrued interest.

The accounting treatment is to be in accordance with the methodology specified in Article 15 of this
regulation.
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REPORTING

ARTICLE 20

Banks, at least quarterly, perform the classification of loans and other assets of the bank and the
calculation of provisions for credit losses.

They draft and submit to the Bank of Albania the forms attached to this regulation (forms 2 and 3 are
component part of the Unified Reporting System, while forms 4, 5 and 6 are to be reported quarterly
to the Supervision Department).

ARTICLE 21

Bank of Albania shall, at any time, require to banks to provide additional and analytical data on the
credit risk management and the provisions for credit losses.

SPECIAL CASES

ARTICLE 22

Manuals approved by the Board of Directors must contain special rules and regulations in compliance
with the regulation “Regulation on bank relations with persons related to bank”.

Credits to “Related Persons” are assessed on a continuous basis and reviewed by the Board of
Directors no less than every six months.

FINAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 23
Violations of the provisions of this regulation will be addressed by the Bank of Albania based on
Articles 44 and 45 “On Violations and Sanctions” of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in
the Republic of Albania”.

ARTICLE 24
The regulation “On Credit Risk Management” approved by the decision No. 13, dated 21.02.2001, and

changed by the decision No. 32, dated 08.05.2002, of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania,
is invalidated.

ARTICLE 25

This regulation shall enter into force 15 days after its publication in the Official Gazette of the Republic
of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISIORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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DATA ON CREDIT BALANCE OF THE CUSTOMER

FORM 1

Estimation Period

31.03...

30.06... 30.09...

31.12...

Scope

Ownership type

Purpose of granting the loan

Loan type (according to the term)

Guarantee obligation given to the bank

(28 (520 B> [°*2 LS L

Total unpaid amount:

- principal

- interest

Financial position of the borrower:

- reliable, good

- not reliable

- not satisfactory

- worsened

- bankrupt

Credit guarantee

- sufficient, well-secured

- insufficient, not well-secured

Repayment of principal and payment of interest:

- paid at maturity term

is not paid for 1-30 days

is not paid for 31-90 days

is not paid for 91-180 days

is not paid for more than 181 days

installment is not paid for 1-30 days

installment is not paid for 31-90 days

installment is not paid for 91-180 days

installment is not paid for 181-360 days

installment is not paid for more than 361 days

10

Number of credit restructuring

11

Credit classification:

- standard, past due loans and advances for the

customer (installment)

- special mention

- substandard

- doubtful

- loss

12

Provisions to credits (according to the term)

13

Provisions for the collateral/guarantee
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FORM 2

PROVISIONS FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Table No.1 Principal Provisions for the principal
No [Credit Credits |Interbank| Doubtful [Provisions] Credits |Interbank| Doubtful
classification| to the | credits [commitments| rates to the | credits |commitments| SUM
costumer customer
1 2 3 4 5=1*4 | 6=2*4 7=3*4 [8=5+6+7
1| Standard 0.01
and past
due credits
(installment)
2 Special 0.05
mention
3 |Substandard 0.20
4 | Doubtful 0.50
5 Loss 1.00
6 TOTAL
Table No.2 Accrued interests Provisions for interests
No Credit classification Credits Interbank | Provisions Credits Interbank
to the credits rates to the credits SUM
customer customer
1 2 3 4=1*3 5=2*3 |6=4+5
1 | Standard and past due 0.01
credits (installment)
2 Special mention 0.05
3 Substandard 1.00
4 Doubtful 1.00
5 Loss 1.00
6 TOTAL
Table No.3 Provisions reversal for the principal Provisions reversal for
interests
Nr Credit Credits |Interbankcredits| Doubtful | Principal | Credits | Interbank |Interesq
classification| to the commitments sum to the credits sum | SUM
customer customer|
1 2 3 4=1+2+3 5 6 7=5+6|8=4+7
1| Standard
and past
due credits
(installment)
2 Special
mention
3 [Substandard
4 | Doubtful
5 Loss
6 TOTAL
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FORM NO. 3
PROVISIONS ESTABLISHED BY THE BANK FOR CREDIT
LOSSES

Accounts
numbers

Accounts
denomination

Initial
balance
1(+)

Provisions
growth
2(+)

Provisions
reversal
3(+)

Written-

off
credits
during

the
period

4()

Corrections
performed
during the
period
5(+or-)

Balance
by the
end of
the
period
(6=
1+2+3-
4+5)

128

198

238

248

258

268

298

3128

3138

3228

418

518

528

538

551

558
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FORM NO. 4

FOREIGN CURRENCY CREDIT AND CUSTOMER FUNDS

INFLOWS

Foreign
No. of forei currency
currency | [eredit
. d 2 h ,
Purpose of Total roreign Foreign /_Vo. of (;;Z (,{flssz;l/milr7 when the
foreign credit cur;e_'ncy currency /fmmfature does not customer
currency portfolio cre )Ict /i credit orelgn \perform any doif not
credit value portfolio balance currency business pertorm
value credits L any
?gf;‘l//%/ mn business
curr£7 o acth{ity in
foreign
currency
(000 Lek) (000 Lek) (000 Lek) (000 Lek)
L@ ] o | o [ @ || ®© | ®
[rrace | | | | | | | | | | |
[reat estate | | | | | | | | || ||
Business
development|
Consumer
credits
jother || | | || | | || |
[rotal || | | | | | | | | ||
The exchange rate used in filling in the form: 1 EUR= _ Lek; 1USD = Lek
Source :
Note:

-in column (e), the number of credits, for which according to the bank the customer does not generate
his main foreign income, must be recorded.
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GUIDELINE
ON
REGULATORY BANK CAPITAL

Approved by Supervisory Council Decision No. 57, dated 05.05.1999 and
changed by Supervisory Council Decisions No. 21, dated 24.03.2004, and No. 45,
dated 08.06.2005.

CHAPTER 1
GENERAL

This guideline is issued pursuant to Law No. 8269, date 23/12/1997 “On Bank of Albania” and
Law No. 8365, date 02/07/1998 “On Banks in the Republic of Albania.”

Entities subject to this Guideline are banks and branches of foreign banks that exercise banking
activities in the Republic of Albania.

The purpose of this Guideline is to define the calculation method of Regulatory Capital of
banks in order to cover credit risk.

Definition: Credit Risk shall mean the negative effect to a bank’s capital due to default of the

counterparty (or third parties).

CHAPTER 11
RecuLATORY CaAPITAL FOR CREDIT Risk COVERING

Regulatory Bank Capital is composed of core capital and supplementary capital.
Elements of regulatory capital are:

2.1 Core Capital is composed of two groups:

2.1. 1. Elements that are added (A):

i Subscribed Capital

i Reserves (besides the revaluation reserves)

i Primes of emissions and mergers (merging, blending)

i Retained earnings (carried over)

i Profits at the end of the fiscal year (as defined in section 5 below)
i Profits of the current year (as defined in section 4.1. below)

. Credit revaluation differences

2.1.2. Elements that are subtracted (B):

i Unpaid Subscribed Capital

i Nominal value of bank shares in bank’s possession (redeemed or unissued shares)
i Undistributed losses (carried over)

i Losses during the Fiscal Period (as defined in section 4.2.)

. Debt revaluation differences

- Intangible fixed assets

20



Total of Core Capital is equal to C = [(A)-(B)]

2.2. Elements of Supplementary Capital:
2.2.1. Supplementary Capital is composed of these elements (j):

o Revaluation Reserves
o General Reserves (as defined in section 6)
o Subordinated Liabilities:

i) hybrid Instruments (as defined in section 8.1)
ii) time subordinated liabilities (as defined in section 8.2).

2.2.2. LIMITS AND RESTRICTIONS

Elements of supplementary capital have the following limitation when included in the
calculation of the regulatory capital.
2.2.2.1. The total of supplementary capital should not be greater than 100% of the total of core
capital.
2.2.2.2. The total of time subordinated liabilities, that are a part of supplementary capital,
should
be no greater than 50% of the total of core capital.

3. The regulatory capital is calculated by subtracting from the amount of core capital and
supplementary capital, as calculated in section 2, the following elements:

3.1 Participation and subordinated rights in banks and other financial institutions (p).

(i) Participation in banks and other financial institutions with an amount greater than
10% of their capital or less than 10% of their capital but which plays an important
role in the decision making process of such institutions. Subordinated rights in the
same banks and financial institutions would be added to the participation.

(i) The total amount of participation in banks and other financial institutions, that do not
meet the above mentioned conditions, along with other subordinated rights in the
same banks and other financial institutions, after they are decreased by 10%, that is,
[10% x (C+J)).

3.2. Guarantees given to the Mutual Guarantee Fund according to the terms and conditions
defined by the Bank of Albania (q).

3.3 1All projected deductions provided in the Bank of Albania regulations (V).
THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF REGULATORY CAPITAL IS [C+J—(P+Q+V)].

THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF REGULATORY CAPITAL IS [C+J-(P+Q)].

4. INTERMEDIATE RESULTS
Intermediate Result shall mean the fiscal earning or loss in every fiscal period except the fiscal
period at the end of the year.

4.1. Earnings of the Fiscal Period shall be included in the total amount of the regulatory
capital, calculated according to the methodology described in this guideline, as an
element of the core capital if the following conditions are met at the same time;

4.1.1 |Ifitis calculated after a full accounting of all expenses of the corresponding period,
including here the amortization expenses and expenses for provisions;

4.1.2. Ifitis calculated as a net earning after subtracting projected income tax

* Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 21, date 24.03.2004.
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and projected dividends;
4.1.3. [Ifitis verified by the bank audit committee and its authorized accounting expert.
4.2 Losses during the Fiscal Period, for business and supervision reasons, regardless of
the fiscal year in which it occurred, shall be included in the total amount of regulatory
capital as an element of the core capital, which is calculated according to the
methodology described in this guideline.

5. FISCAL YEAR END EARNINGS
2For the purpose of this guideline, fiscal year end earnings shall mean the earnings of the fiscal

period 01.01 to 31.12. It will be included in the core capital when the following conditions shall be
simultaneously met:

- after it has been verified by the Audit Committee and the authorized accounting expert;

- after it is decreased by the liability to the state for the income tax and by the amount of
dividends

projected to be distributed.

6. RESERVES:3:
Reserves, excluding revaluation reserves, come out of the allocation of bank’s profit after the
taxation and before the allocation of dividends. They are created:
upon the decision of the decision — making authorities
pursuant to the internal regulations of the bank, being adopted by the decision —
taking authorities,
pursuant to the legal and regulative framework into force.

Reserves include the following categories:

6.1. Legal reserves established pursuant to the legal by — laws into force.

6.2. Statutory reserves established pursuant to the bank statute.

6.3. Re — evaluating reserves that represent the counterpart of fixed re-evaluating assets
in the framework of the revaluation upon the decision of the decision — making
authorities and/or the observance of the by-laws.

6.4. Other reserves that represent all the reserves created from the profit allocation,
excluding those in paragraph 6.1 and 6.2.

6.4.1. The general reserves are part of the other ones that meet the following terms and
conditions:

- they are frequently used by the bank to cover the unidentified risks related to bank
activity and which do not reflect the reduction of a certain asset value,

- they are presented in the bank accounting;

- the amount is established by the executives and it is verified by the Audit Committee
of the Bank and by the authorized audit expert.

7. SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES

Subordinated liabilities are defined as “liabilities that originate from the emission of subordinated
titles or loans, with maturity time or not, whose payment in case of liquidity is made after the payment
of other liabilities.” Their classification depends on the subordinated condition and not on the emission
method (title or loan) or the maturity criteria (with or without maturity dates).

In accounting, they will be entered as a credit of account 56 “Subordinated Liabilities” and as a
debit of account 112 “Central Bank”, or as a debit of account 131 “Current account with Banks ...” or
as a debit of account 271 “Transactions with Clients”, depending on the counterparty.

8. TYPES OF SUBORDINATED LIABILITIES
8.1 Hybrid instruments:
They are uninsured, subordinated and fully paid,

2 Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 45, date 08.06.2005.
3 Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 21, date 24.03.2004.
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8.3.

8.3.1.
8.3.2.

They are paid only on the initiative of the debtor and upon approval of the Bank of
Albania;

Contract terms foresee the possibility of extending the payment time of interest in
case the entities included in this regulation are working at a loss;

Contract terms foresee that payments of principal and unpaid interest may be used
to recover losses, without making these entities stop their activity.

Are included in the Regulatory Capital only for the collected amounts.

Time subordinated liabilities:

In case the contract foresees a certain payment date, the initial maturity date should
be no less than 5 years.

If the contract does not foresee a certain date, liability may be paid after a 5 year
notice is given.

In no cases is prepayment allowed, unless it is done without the approval of the
Bank of Albania.

Payments are not used to cover losses.

Only amounts actually collected are included in the regulatory capital, after they are
progressively deducted by 20% for the last 5 years before the maturity date.

The Bank of Albania gives approval only in cases when all of following terms and
conditions are met at the same time:

Entities subject to this guideline are profitable,

Any payments of principal and interest of instruments, defined in paragraphs 8.1.and
8.2., do not reduce the capital adequacy under the limits defined by the Bank of
Albania.

REPORTING PERIOD

Regulatory Capital is reported every month to the Bank of Albania, Supervision Department.

REPORTING METHOD

Reporting of regulatory capital is made based on the following form, which is part of the reporting

This guideline takes effect on 01.06.1999.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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REPORTING FORM*
(Regulatory Capital for covering credit risk)
Bank Name
Reporting Period
Reporting Date
Prepared by (Name, Last Name, Signature)
Director (Name, Last Name, Signature) in thousands lek

Cone Capital Ao, Mo, Amount
I Elements that are added to (&)

1 Subscrbec Capits 5711

” . e . . BT BT33

2. Feserves (othar than the resvaluzaticn capitali 579

3 Primes of amissions 3nd mangers B2

4 Undistributed sarnings {carried ower) BE77 [P

. Fiszal Y'=ar End Earmings B7BIP

8 Earnings during the Fiscal Period 57EIF)

I Credit re-eveluaiion ditferences BIZIF]
Subtotal &= {1+2+3+4+5+8+7) Ji

II. Elements that are subtracied (8]

1. Unpaid Subscribed Capita 5112

2. Mominal value of bank sharas In
iredesmad or unissued shares)

3. Undistributed losses (Carmied over 577
4 Lpsses during Fiscal Pericg o7 EF)
E Debt re-evsluanon cifference s [negztmwe| 574
2. Intangible fxed assets® 531-5371

Subiotal B= {1+2+3+4+5+8

01|

Tohal of Core Capital C= (A-Bj

EUPPLEMENTARY CARITAL

I. Elernents of Content )

1.Reevzluation Reserves h73Z EA4
2.Ganera RBaesersas EE
2. Hybrid Instrumenits =] EC
4. Time Subordinated Lisbilities i F
I F< = 2, then G=F G
IT Fir = /2. then G=C/2 G
Limited Subtotal H= [EA+EB+EC+A): H
First Limitation.  H== C, than J=H J
second Limitatan # H>G. then J=0C -
Total of Supplementary Capits| pnor to deductions (J) J

IV Elements that are subtracted (P+0+V)

4 Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 21, date 24.03.2004.
5According to the Banking Account Manual, it should be replaced with “assets”.
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Participa tion in Banka and financis! inatifutiona (P):
Participation over 10% in them and adding to i

gubordinated nghite in the game bank or financia K
ingtitution

Farticipaton amcunt that does not meet the above

conditions along with other Subcrdinated Rights in L
the same bark o« financial institution is reduced by

10% of Its Qwn Funds (G+J)

For Exmmple PA= [(5+J ¥ 10% Pl
Fatained after the abovs deduciion: M= (L - b} if M
positive

Subioial B = (K4 E
GCuaranieze gwen  to Mutusl Guaranios Fund o
according to tha serme eot by tha Contral Bank

Begulative acte of Bank of Albania (W)

Requlation “Cn Investments fram banke in the W

capital of imde asesociationa” approved upon Bank W
of Albania Buperdsory Council deciaion no. 42, date

05062001

Fequlation “Cn the amount and complement of the

rninimurn initial capital on licensed bank sclivilies

ard licensed foreign bank bmnches”. approved upon WE
Eank of Albania Supervizory Council decision no. B1,

dats 22 0218953

WE = AT — 254 [CHJ ifWZ > 0

Cither regulative acts b
The total of Aegulations: W=001 V24 +3n)

Subtotal of the subtrecied amount is (F+02+4) P+
Surm marized Calculstion of the Com Capital and

Supplementary Capltal after deductione of Ma. [V

IFJ2=({P+03+V) then

Supplemeantary Capitsl after the subtrection JA=0 M.
Cora Capital CA=C+1-(P+0+) L)
If J= (P07 than

Supplemantary Capital after the subtraction JA=.J- i
P+

Care Capital CA= C CA
Total of regulatory capital (E): Core Capdal and E

Supplemantary Capifal: E= [JA+TA]
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REGULATION
ON
CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Approved upon the decision no.58, dated 05.05.1999 amended upon decision

no.86, dated 07.11.2001, decision no.72, dated 11.09.2002, decision no.30, dated
16.04.2003, decision no.82, dated 08.10.2003, decision no.22, dated 24.03.2004 and

upon decision no. 46, dated 08.06.2005 of the Supervisory Council.

CHAPTER |
GENERAL PROVISIONS

This regulation is issued pursuant to the Law no. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of
Albania”, and the Law no. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

Subiject to this regulation are banks and foreign bank branches that exercise banking activities
in the Republic of Albania. Hereinafter, these entities will be referred to as “banks”.

The purpose of this regulation is to establish the ratio between regulatory capital to risk-
weighted assets and off-balance sheet items, referred to as “The capital adequacy ratio”,
and to set the minimum required limit for this ratio, referred to as “The minimum capital
adequacy ratio”.

Definitions:

4.1 Capital adequacy ratio is the ratio of the regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets
and off-balance sheet items, expressed as a percentage.

4.2 Modified capital adequacy ratio is the ratio of the core capital to risk-weighted
assets and off-balance sheet items, expressed as a percentage.

CHAPTER I

The Minimum Capital Adequacy Ratio required is 12 percent. 'The inspectors of the Bank of
Albania, when they deem it is appropriate, can ask to every bank in pre-defined or not defined
terms, for an adequacy ratio bigger than the minimum ratio.

COMPONENT ELEMENTS:

5.1. The bank’s regulatory capital, calculated according to the methodology described in
the guideline “On bank’s regulatory capital”, shall constitute the numerator of the
adequacy ratio.

5.2. The risk-weighted amounts of the following elements shall constitute the denominator
of the adequacy ratio:

5.2.1. Balance sheet assets;

5.2.2. Off-Balance sheet items representing term financial instruments contracts
related to interest and exchange rates;

5.2.3. Other off balance-sheet items.

ITEMS TO BE SUBTRACTED
The following items are subtracted from the balance sheet assets, prior to their risk-weighting:

6.1. Assets included in the regulatory capital as subtracting items.
6.2. Assets included in trading securities portfolio that are analyzed in the light of market
risks.

+ Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 86, dated 07.11.2001.
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6.3.Specific reserve funds provided for standard loans, which include past due

installments and special mention loans, from the respective assets.

6.4.Reserve funds for revaluation or similar items, closely related to the respective balance

sheet assets that are classified as components of the supplemented capital but that
are notincluded as a restriction to paragraph 2.2.2.1 of the instruction “On bank’s
regulatory capital”.

26.5.Bank’s balance sheet assets guaranteed by guarantee account and/or blocked account

for accounting guarantee at the liabilities items of the bank’s balance sheet.

7. METHODOLOGY OF CALCULATION
7.1. The total of risk-weighted assets is calculated in Form No.1;
7.2. The total of risk-weighted off-balance sheet items, which involve interest norms and
foreign exchange rates, is calculated in Form No. 2;
7.3. The total of other risk-weighted off-balance sheet items is calculated in Form No. 3;
7.4. The total amount of risk-weighted assets and off balance-sheet items is calculated in
Form No. 4;
7.5. The capital adequacy ratio is calculated in Form No. 5 and the result is compared to
the minimum ratio set by the Bank of Albania.
8. CALCULATION
8.1. The risk-weighting of assets is made as follows:
8.1.1. Assets at no risk are weighted with a 0% weighting rate.

Such assets include the following:

a)
b)

c)

Q

b)

Cash and cash equivalents;

Claims on the Central Bank and the Government of Albania when such are denominated

in the national currency;

Claims on central banks and central governments of OECD countries® (as defined

in paragraph 12.1), explicitly guaranteed by them and by International Institutions (as

defined in paragraph 12.3);

Claims on central banks and central governments of non OECD countries* (as

defined in paragraph 12.2), endorsed, guaranteed and funded in the national currency

of the borrowing country;

Claims on a debtor of non OECD countries explicitly backed by the central

banks and the governments of non OECD countries, endorsed, guaranteed

and funded in their national currency;

Claims on the European Community and explicitly guaranteed by it.

Assets guaranteed through collateral or similar, as follows:

i) Securities issued by the central banks, by governments of OECD countries
or the European Community;

ii) Deposits in the lending banks;

iii) Certificates of deposit or similar instruments issued by, and deposited in
the lending banks.

Claims on the Bank of Albania fully guaranteed by it in foreign currency.

Claims in Lek and/or in foreign currency on Ex-Im Bank of the United States or fully

guaranteed by it.

Assets at low risk are weighted at a 20% weighting ratio.

The following are included in this asset category:

Short term claims (no longer than one year) on banks and financial institutions operating
in the Republic of Albania.

Claims on multilateral development banks (as defined in paragraph 12.4).

2 Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 46, dated 08.06.2005.

3 Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 22, dated 24.03.2004.
4 Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 22, dated 24.03.2004.
> Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 30, dated 16.04.2003.
& Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 82, dated 08.10.2003.
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8.1.3.

8.1.4.

c) Claims on banks and financial institutions operating in countries of OECD and explicitly
guaranteed by them, except when such claims that are included in their Regulatory
Capital according to the regulations in force.

d) Claims on central, regional and local government bodies of OECD countries.

e) Short term claims on banks and financial institutions of non OECD countries or
claims on central banks and central government of non OECD countries, or explicitly
guaranteed by them, except when such claims are included in their Regulatory Capital
according to the regulations in force.

f) Assets guaranteed through collateral or similar, as follows:

i) Securities issued by multilateral development banks;

ii) Securities issued by the local and regional government bodies of OECD
countries;

i) Deposits in banks of OECD countries;

iv) Certificates of deposit or similar instruments issued by banks of OECD
countries.

g) Transit items and claims on instruments payable at sight (traveler-check, credit cards,
etc.).

Assets at medium risk are weighted at a 50% weighting ratio.

Such assets include the following:

a) Loans that simultaneously fulfill the following characteristics:
have as a subject the purchase of a resident possession (house, apartment);
the borrower is the buyer of this residential ownership;
are fully collaterized through a pledge of a residential ownership, which isin
the possession of the borrower and it is in use or for rent from him.

b) Operations of financial lease for tangible fixed assets.
c) Settlement asset accounts (that are not offset by the liability ones) for which there is
no specific counterparty.

Assets at high risk are weighted at a 100% weighting ratio.
Such assets include the following:

a) ’Claims on the Government of Albania, or fully guaranteed by it, when denominated
in foreign currency.

b) Claims of over-1-year maturities on banks operating in Albania.

c) Claims on central banks and governments of non-OECD countries, which are not
endorsed, guaranteed or funded in the borrowing country’s currency.

d) Claims on local government bodies of non-OECD countries.

e) Claims of over-1-year maturities on other banks of non-OECD countries.

f) 80ther credits to the clientele, except the ones described above and evaluated from
the bank itself.

g) Fixed tangible assets and those fixed intangible assets which have not been deducted
from the supplementary capital.

h) All participations of a 100% extent which are not deductible from the regulatory
capital.

8.2.Risk-weighting for off-balance sheet items that represent financial term contracts on interest

and foreign exchange rates, are evaluated according to the “initial risk assessment” method,

if no renewal or compensation agreement between the two parties exist:

8.2.1. Term financial contracts agreed upon interest rates are weighted based on the amount
of the contract as follows:

8.2.1.1. At 0.5% when maturity is less than 1 year;

8.2.1.2. At 1% when maturity is from 1 to 2 years;

8.2.1.3. At 1% for each additional year if maturity exceeds 2 years.

8.2.2. Term financial contracts agreed upon foreign exchange rates are weighted based on
the amount of the contract as follows:

8.2.2.1. At 2% when maturity is less than 1 year;

” Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 30, dated 16.04.2003.
8 Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 86, dated 07.11.2001.
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8.2.2.2. At 5% when maturity is from 1 to 2 years;
8.2.2.3. At 3% for each additional year when maturity exceeds 2 years.

8.3.
8.3.1.

KIS RURC)

D

R}

=

Risk-weighting for other off-balance sheet items (commitments issued):
Off-balance sheet items at high risk, which are weighted at a 100% ratio, include the
following:

Guarantees issued to fund a loan as a substitution to a guarantee issued from another
bank to cover the same loan originally.

Banking acceptances.

Endorsed bills of exchange that carry no additional endorsement from another bank.
Transactions with repurchasing rights to the buyer.

Commitments for revocable and irrevocable credit lines in case of letters of credit
offered as a substitution of another originating bank.

Commitments to purchase within a certain term as irrevocable commitments to buy
any asset at a pre-fixed price.

Securities to be repurchased or received.

Other items at high risk ®assessed by the bank itself.

8.3.2. Off-balance sheet items at medium risk, which are weighted at a 50% ratio, include

8.3.3.

b)

the following:

Commitments for documentary credit, issued or confirmed, without the pledge of
the respective commodities.

Guarantees to successfully complete the operations and customs and fiscal
commitments if they do not substitute the initial issuer of the loan.

Commitments to receive assets if their holder has a reselling option.
Commitments to open letters of credit.

Commitments for credit facilities in unused overdrafts. These facilities may involve
lending, purchase of securities, banking acceptances with an original maturity of
over 1 year. Overdraft facilities should be confirmed and irrevocable.
Commitments for facilities in issuing securities.

Other off balance-sheet items of medium risk *°evaluated from the bank itself.

Off-balance sheet items at moderated risk, which are weighted at a 20% ratio,
include the following:

Commitments for the documentary credit, granted or confirmed, guaranteed by the
respective goods and other similar operations.

Other items at moderated risk *evaluated by the bank itself.

Off-balance sheet items at low risk, which are weighted at a 0% ratio, include the
following:

Commitments for facilities such as unused overdraft. Such commitments involve
lending, purchase of securities, banking acceptances with an original maturity of up
to 1 year. Overdraft facilities can be annulled at any moment, at no conditions and
without prior notice.

Other items at low risk ?assessed by the bank itself.

9. REPORTING PERIOD
The Capital Adequacy ratio is reported to the Supervision Department in the Bank of Albania, on
a quarterly basis, together with the accounting balance sheet of the respective period.

10. CONTROL
If the capital adequacy ratio is observed to be under the level set in paragraph 5:

9 Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 86, dated 07.11.2001.
10 Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 86, dated 07.11.2001.
1 Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 86, dated 07.11.2001.
2 Added upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 86, dated 07.11.2001.
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10.1.

10.2.

10.3.

10.4.

11.

The bank should report to the Supervision Department in the Bank of Albania, on a monthly
basis, the capital adequacy ratio for a period of at least 6 months.

The bank should report to the Supervision Department in the Bank of Albania, on a monthly
basis, the modified capital adequacy ratio that is expressed as a percentage, and which is
no less than 6%.

The bank should accomplish the requirement of paragraph 5 no later than the end of the
succeeding month.

If the bank fails to meet the requirements established in the paragraph 10.3 above, the Bank
of Albania may act in accordance with the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the
Republic of Albania”, Article 44, Article 45, paragraph 3.

REPORTING FORM

Each bank is obliged to report to the Banking Supervision Department in the Bank of Albania,
according to the following forms, which are an integral part of the reporting system.

12.

DEFINITIONS

12.1. The list of OECD countries, other than Turkey:

BAustralia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany,
Great Britain, Greece, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, Netherlands,
New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Slovakia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, USA.

12.2. All the countries not listed above do not pertain to OECD countries.
12.3. The list of International Institutions:

— Bank for International Settlements (BIS);

— European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD);
— World Bank (WB);

— International Monetary Fund (IMF);

— European Community Commission;

— Other World Bank Institutions;

12.4. The list of Multilateral Development Banks:

13.

14.

— European Investment Bank (EIB);

— International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD-WB);
— International Financial Corporation;

— Inter-American Development Bank;

— Asian Development Bank;

— African Development Bank;

— Council of Europe Social Development Fund;

— Nordic Investments Bank;

— Caribbean Development Bank;

— European Investment Fund;

— Inter-American Investment Corporation.

The regulation No.2, dated 16.08.1996 “On the Adequacy of the Bank’s Own Funds (Capital)”,
approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, is abrogated.

This regulation enters into force on 01.06.1999.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
Shkélgim CANI

Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 72, date 11.09.2002.
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REPORTING FORM NO. 1

RISK-WEKHTHED ASSET [TEMS

{in thousand k=k]

Marme of the Bank

A= porting Pariod

Dgte of the Fepart

Frepared By [Name. Surname. Signature]

B -y T - - - - H - -
| SNEJEr {Mame, Surnams. E.IE' FLrs

CODE

Descnption

Bookad
Value

Weighting
Ratio

WVWeight=d
Amount

1-hssets at no nsk (0% nsk wesghbng rabo]:

0

- Cash and cash aguivalents

o

- Claims on the Central Bank and the Albanian
Govsmment . when such are denominated in the
hational currency

|:|

- Clzims on ceniral banks and governments of
CECD cowntries (P.12.1) or explicitly guarantssd
by them znd by the Intematicnal Instiiutions
P17 3
123

- Claims on cenfral banks 3 governments of
non  DQBECD  ccuntnes (P 1232 endorsed,
guaranteed or fundsed in the nabonzl currency of
the borrowing country

na

- Claims on 3 deblor of non DECD counfries
explicitly backed by the cantral banks and the
povamments of countnes of mom QECD
couftnes, endorsad, guarantesd and fundad in
their national curmency

- Cl3ims on the Eurcpean Commun ity or
e plicihy guarantesd Dy it

AssEts guaranteed with collateral or similar:

* Securiies issusd by the cenfral banks,
govermnments of OECD countries or the
Eurcoesn Community

* [Deposits in the lending banks

* Deposit Cerbficates or similar instruments

issued by, and deposted in, the lending banks

2-Assals at low risk (205 rsk weighting ation:

- Glaims of an up-to-1sear matumy on credit a2
institutions cperating in the Fepublic of Albania

- Clairns om multilzteral cevelopment banks as 02
lizted in P 12.4

- Clams on banks and financizl instiiutions 02

coergting inm OECD countries and  explicitly
guaranieed by them, sxcept when such claims
are induded in the ocwn funds of the credit
instifution, besed on the regustions in force
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- Claims= en loczl and regicnal gowvemmant bod ies
in JECD countries

Zlaim= of an up-to-1-vear matunity on banks and
financial insttustions in non QECD countnes or
explicitly gusrameed by central banks and
govemments in non GECD countnes. excent
Wwiian such claims are included in the regulatony
capital of the Danks, based on the regulations in
iorce

tszats sacured with collsteral or similar
-Secunties izsusd by the mulilateral banks for
oeveloprment

-Secunties issyed oy the lotal and regona
gevermment bedies in OECD countries:
Lapcmts in banks and financial insttutions in
QECh countnas, differant Trom ths lend ng bank
or instrtuticn

Lerificates of deposiis or similar iInsraments
issued by the banks and financia instituoons in
QECD counties. differsnt fTrom the lending bank
of instit uticn

- Transit items and claims on inst ruments pavable
at sight {travae-chack, cradit cands, sic.)

F-assets at medium sk (50% risk
waightling @tio):

=
en

- WMcrtgags lcans ssuad To bomoywars 1o
purchase, rent or improve the conditions of the
building, which serves &5 3 morgage (accordng
o813 a)

=
[%1]

- Leasing opeations of fmed tanobls asseis
laccording to 8.1.3 b

=
(%]

- Settlement asset accounts [which sre not offsst
by the liability anes) for which thers are no
SpECific countemarns

4-Assets at high risk (100% risk weighting
ratia):

- Claims oh the Govemment and The BEank o
Alcamia, or Tully guarantesd by them, whan they
are endorsed, guarantesd or Tunded in Toraign
currency.

- Claims of owar-14ear maturity on banks
cperatng in Albznia

- Claims= on central banks and Governmments innon
OECD counines, which are not endorsed,
guargnieed or funded in the currency of the
Borroning coun iy

- Claims on local government bodies in o DECD
=
COUMINES.

- Claims of over-1yezr maturity on banks in non
QECD countries.

- Jther loans 1o customers. expepi the ones
stated above

- Fixed fangible and infangible 3s5ets which have
not besn deductsd from tha regulatory eapital

o

- Al participation of 100% axtent, that are not
deductible Trom the regulatory capital.

TOTAL RISE-WEIGHTED ASSETS
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REPORTING FORM NO 2

OFF BALANCE-SHEET ITERMS REFRESENTI NG CONTRACTS FOR ANANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
INVOLVING INTEREST AND FOREIGH EXCHAMNGE RATES WEIGHTED AT RISK in thousand k)

Heme= of the Banlk

Asparting Period

A=porting Dat=

Frapamd by {Mame. Sumarne, Signatura)
hianeger (Meme, Sumams, Sgneturs]

B-CONTRACTS AT FLOATING INTEREST AND | Booking | Waighting | Weightec
FOREIGMN EXCHAMGE RATES Wl Ratlic Armiou

tams with floatng exchange rata

- Patunty less than 1 year:

|:. e
il

-tlatunty betwesen 1 and £ years,

0 05

Slatunty over 2 years, for each subssgquent vear

003

-

2. Itams with floating interast rata

- bdatunty less than 1 wear;

- Matunty between 1 and 2 vesars;

- BAAtunty ovar 2 yaars, Tor each subsequent vaar.

TOTAL RISE-WEIGHTED OFF BalANMCE-SHEET
ITEMS
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REPORTING FORM NO. 3

OTHER OFF BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS | in *housand =k
Warne of the Bank

A=poring Fenod

Aeparting Cats

Freparzd by (Narme. Sumams. Signamins.

hiar ager Mame, Sumam e, Signaturs)

Code

Booking
Walue

Vi eighting
Ratio

Weighted
Amount

1- Off balance-shesl nems a1 high sk {100%
risk-weilghting ratio)

- Guarant=es |ssu=d to fund a loam as a
SUbSTITUTION 1o 2 guarances issued from another

fank to coverthe same loan origingl i

- Banking acceprances,

- Endorazd oills of exchangs carrving no
additional endorsement 8y anather bank;

- Transactions with repurchasing rghts to the
DuyeEr,

- Commitments to opEn a8 condmionad or
unconditoned l=tt=r of credit offered as=
subSTITUTiONn T Enother C-ri;li"ET ng BENE:

- Commitment: o0 purcha== within a c=riain
TEMmM: uncendiioned COMMITNENTS 10 DUICRESE

any 353215 808 pre-fued price:

CUTItieE o be T

whers It cam o2 chosom to repurchese or get

celved Wwithin In operaton

-Qtheroff balance-shest tems st high nsk
Z- O balance-shesl items ot medium figk [50%
nsi-wesphting ratio]

0.5

Izsued or confirmed commitments  Tor

documentary credil gEyment, unsecursd gy Ihe 1.5
pledg= of the corre=ponding commoditi=s;
S UErEniess tor ihe successful completion of
the tram=action and custom= and foca - =
oM mitments if they do ROl CORSTILDE 3 -
replzcement of the origing! lendsr
- Cammiaments to receive assels Tar a5 long as - -
3 holder hag a reselling optign - -
- Com mitm ents 10 ocpen leners of credit; 1.5
ties. such 23 unuzsd
IFENTE may involys
sEcurities., Canking - =
l-y=ar ongmal matunty -
12 confirm ed and
revacabls
- Commiaments for facilities regarding isswancs
of Securities: 1.5
.Other off palance-shesl mems a1 medium risk 1.5

F Off balance-sheet mems at moderated risk

120% rskweighting rams}
- Commitments for the documentary credm.
opened or confrmed, guarant==d by pl=dging

the corresoonding commodities or other similar o
cperations:
- Other off bzlance-shesr tems at moderated - =

rimk

4- DT balance-sheel mems at ko'W risk (0% nsk-
weghting ratao )
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3- Off balnce sheot ilems al moderaked risk
[20% risk waighting ratin)

022

wekhting ratio)

- Commitments  for the documentary  crodit, 0.2
ocpanad or confirmad, guamntecd by pledging tha

coreeponding  commoditice oF ofthar  eimilar

oparations

- Dthor off-balance sheot itene at moderated ek 0.2
4- Off-balance sheet teme at low rel (0% risk- ]

- Camm itmen ts for facilites suwch as overdrafis
unused  These imvclve lending. purchasze of
gecunties, ard banking accepiances of an up-to-
1yrear ovigiral maturity. Facilites such as the
overdrafte, may be annulled at any moment, 51 ne
conditione and without pre-notifiestion.

- Dther off balance-sheet tems at low nsk

L=

TOTAL &F OTHER OFF BALAMCE-SHEET

TEMS

35




REPORTING FORM NO. 4

TOTAL RISK-WENGHTED ASSETS AKND OFF BALANCE-SHEET ITEMS AND OTHER OFF BALAMNCE-
SHEET ITEME [in thousand |k

“lame of the Benk

Aeporting Perniod

Aeporting Date

Prepared by {Mame. Surname. Signoture)

“anzoer (Wame. Sumame. Sianaturs

Mo | Type of Form Descrption Amounts
1 Form Mo, 1 Total Risk-Weaighted Assets

Total RiskXWeighied Off Badance-shest items
2 Form Mo, 2 repressnting financial contracts on inferest and

foreign sxchenge rates

a Form Mo

[N

Total Othar ONT Balanca-shaat mems
TOTAL {1+2+4d]
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REPORTING FORM NO. 5

CAPMTAL ADECGUACY RATIO (in tho wi=znd lek
“larme ot the Bank

Reporting Peariod

Aeporting Dats

Frepared by [Neme, Surname, Signeture)
fanzger [Mame. Surrame Signature)

Mo, | DESCRIPTION AMOUNTS
] FReguiatorny Cepitsl computed sccording fo the instruction ‘On the
Regulatory Capital of the Sank
7 LAmounts reported in Form ne. d
] Capital Adecuacy Batio 1121000 [exprassed a5 3 percont 30|
Mimifnurn Capital Adequacy Ratio 12%
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REPORTING FORM NO. 6

MODAED CAPTAL ADEOUATY RATION | n frousand =k
Marme of the Bank

A=parting P=nod

Aeparting Cate

Fregared by (Marnes. Surrame. Signature

[ ]
¥

anager [Mame, 3urname, Signature

Description

AMNOLUNTS

—

Regulatory Capital computed sccording to the instruction "On Bank
Aegulatony Capits

Bzse Capital computed based on chapier Il of the instruction ‘On
Bznk's Reguatory Capital

Lmounis reported according to Form Mo, 4

Capital Adecuacy Fatio {137 100] expressad as 3 pencantage

KModified Capital Adeqguacy FRatic [HE23)F100] expressed &5 a
pEMENTZgE

Kinimmum Modified Ratio

& percent

wl|m| o [ m]e] w2

Minimum Capital Adeguacy Ratio

12 percent
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REGULATION
ON
OPEN FOREIGN POSITIONS

Approved by the decision of the Supervisory Council, No 59, dated 05.05.1999.
I. GENERALS PROVISIONS

1. Legal grounds of this Regulation are the Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “ On the Bank of
Albania “ chapter VII, article 61 and the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On Banks in the
Republic of Albania”, article 27.

2. Scope of this regulation is to determine the level of Net maximum foreign open positions for
such entities as banks and foreign bank branches, which are licensed by the Bank of Albania
to conduct banking activity in the territory of the Republic of Albania.

For the porpose of this Regulation, these entities will be refered to as “ banks “.

3. Purpose of this regulation is to determine rules for measuring the open foreign exchange
positions of banks. These rules are intended to limit the losses of banks from both foreign
exchange transactions and precious metal ones.

4, Definition of the following terms:

Assets shall be considered the sum of foreign currency assets in the balance sheet plus
assets from off balance sheet items (commitments given).

Liabilities shall be considered the sum of foreign currency liabilities in the balance sheet plus
liabilities from off balance sheet items (commitments received).

Net open foreign exchange position in a certain currency is the equivalent amount in Lek of the
difference between all assets and liabilities of the bank in that currency.

Abank has a“ Net long open foreign exchange position”, when the equivalent amount in lek
of all its assets in a certain currency exceeds the equivalent amount in Lek of all its liabilities
in that currency.

The Bank has a “Net short open foreign exchange position”, when the equivalent amount of all
its liabilities in a certain currency exceeds the equivalent amount in Lek of all its assets in that
currency.

“Total net open foreign exchange position “is the difference between the amount of net long
open foreign exchange positions and the amount of net short open foreign exchange positions.

!Precious metals held in a negotiable way are to be treated as foreign currencies.

2To calculate the open position, all the currencies that are exchanged at a fixed exchange rate
with the Euro (are its components) shall be converted into Euro and the net position in euro
shall be reported at the Bank of Albania. The currencies shall be converted into Euro at a
published fixed exchange rate.

The component currencies of the euro shall be replaced with the euro (that is they shall not be

reported in DM, ITL etc), in the reporting statement of foreign exchange positions.

*Amended by the Supervisiory Council Decision No. 118, dated 01.12.1999.
2Amended by the Supervisiory Council Decision No. 118, dated 01.12.1999.
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seze

With * Structural foreign exchange position “ we mean the equivalent amount in Lek of the
following elements:

Total of item “ Ownership interests “

Total of item “ Affiliates “

Total of item “Fixed tangible and intangible assets”
Capital donation to bank branches opened abroad

With “ Operational foreign exchange position “ we mean the equivalent amount in Lek of all components
that are notincluded in the components of “ Structural foreign exchange position *“.

With “ Global foreign exchange position “ we mean the amount of “Structural foreign exchange position”
and “ Operational foreign exchange position “.

1.13

12

I1. PERMmISSIBLE LiMmITs oN OPEN FOREIGN EXCHANGE PosITION

All the banks licensed to perform banking transactions in foreign currencies shall monitor the
process and shall not exceed the following rates at the end of each day:

A maximum ratio of 20% of the net open foreign exchange position in each foreign currency
to bank regulatory capital;

A maximum ratio of 30% of net total open foreign exchange position to bank regulatory
capital.

I11. INnDEX CALCULATION

Bank regulatory capital is defined pursuant to the Regulation of the Bank of Albania “On Bank
Regulatory Capital *.

Short or long open foreign exchange positions shall be determined by taking into account the

following elements:

2.1 The difference between assets and liabilities in foreign currency, including accrued interests,
paid in capital and its premiums in foreign currency.

2.2 Off balance sheet items in foreign currency.

To determine the foreign exchange positions, the data must be taken from bank accounting
books and the estimation of the data shall be performed by the interest rate of the last day
proclaimed by the Bank of Albania.

In calculating the “ Net long or short open foreign exchange position “ and * Net total open
foreign exchange position “, the following elements shall be excluded:

4.1 Foreign exchange operations whose foreign exchange risk is covered by the state.
z
4.2 Structural foreign exchange position when its financing resource is in domestic currency
(Lek).
IV. RuLEs To MANAGE FOREIGN EXCHANGE POsITION

The Banks operating regularly with foreign currencies must have:

1.1 A permanent accounting system to record transactions, to calculate results and to

3Amended by the Supervisiory Council Decision No. 118, dated 01.12.1999.
“Amended by the Supervisiory Council Decision No. 118, dated 01.12.1999.
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determine a total foreign exchange position and a net position by each currency;

1.2 A supervisory system to administrate the risks in continuity, the boundaries established
by the institution, as well as the conditions to ensure that are applied these boundaries.

1.3 A permanent audit system to ensure that all necessary procedures are applied to
fulfill the above mentioned measures.

Banks shall compile written policies on foreign exchange operations they perform. These
written policies shall be approved by the Board of Directors of the bank and shall include at
least the following data:

2.1 Types of foreign exchange transactions the banks are authorized to perform;
2.2 Internal bank limits for maintaining open foreign exchange positions;
2.3 Internal reporting system;

24 Structural and organizational measures that ensure the allocation of the activity,
authorities and responsibilities concerning those people who are responsible for
performing foreign exchange operations.

25 Other rules on the criteria and competences to determine interest rates on foreign
currency operations, level of knowledge of the staff involved in these operations, and
risk management techniques.

The banks operating in the Republic of Albania shall submit the above established policies at
the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania within a month from the day this regulation
enters into force and within 10 days from the date of their change. Meanwhile, new banks
shall present their policies from the beginning of these operations.

V. REPORTING

In the end of each business day, all the banks licensed to perform foreign exchange operations
shall draft a Report and submit it at the Monetary Operations Department of the Bank of
Albania on their daily trading foreign exchange positions.

Open foreign exchange positions for each foreign currency and in total shall be reported
monthly at the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania. The reporting shall be made
according to the attached forms approved by the Bank of Albania, and they shall constitute
an integral part of the reporting system.

V1. OTHER PROVISIONS

Banks that do not observe the approved rules at the moment this regulation enters into force
shall draft an acceptable scheduled plan to bring the open positions within the limit. These
plans shall be submitted for approval at the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania,
which supervises their implementation following the approval.

In case of violations of supervision norms “ On open foreign exchange positions “, the banks

and their managers shall be subject to Articles 44 and 45 of the Law No. 8365, dated 2.07.1998
“ On Banks in the Republic of Albania “.
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The Supervision Department shall compile a methodic instruction “On calculating open foreign
exchange positions *“.

The Regulation of the Bank of Albania “On open foreign exchange positions”, approved by the

decision of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania”, No 42, dated 31.03.1998 shall be
abrogated.

This regulation shall enter into force on 1.06.1999.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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METHODIC GUIDELINE ON
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS

This Guideline is issued to implement the provisions of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On
Banks in the Republic of Albania” and the Regulation of the Bank of Albania “On Open Foreign Exchange
Positions”, approved by the decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 59, dated 05.05.99. The purpose
of this Guideline is to provide some procedural knowledge and guidelines in foreign exchanges area.

I.CONCEPT OF RISKS FROM OPEN FOREIGN EXCHANGE POSITIONS

Banks, throughout their activity, to satisfy their customers’ demands in foreign currency through extending
loans, accepting deposits, providing/receiving guaranties, commitments or through spot1, forward2,
swap, futures, options, and other operations, or to assume operations of foreign exchanges if licensed
for such operations by the Bank of Albania, undertake the risks from foreign exchange fluctuations
after the performance of foreign currency transactions.

The ratios of foreign exchanges, as otherwise called foreign exchange rates, should be searched in
the domestic and international market. The means of obtaining information on these ratios and on their
forecasts for the future are various. Risks spring from different ways.

1. Net open position — during foreign exchange operations a bank may find itself in a selling or
purchasing position for a particular currency. These positions have equal exchange rate risk,
but are conditioned by the direction of this currency, that is by its appreciation or depreciation.

Abankis on a net open position in a certain foreign currency, when its assets (including cash in hand,
deposits at foreign banks, deposits at central banks or at other banks, loans extended in foreign
currency, precious metals, contracts for buying spots, forward, swap, future, option, etc, or other off
— balance sheet items), and liabilities (including foreign exchange loans from domestic or foreign
banks, foreign currency deposits of all types, paid in capital when it is paid in foreign currency,
contracts for selling spot and forward, swap, future, option etc., or other off — balance items) are not
equal. When assets are higher than liabilities we have a “purchasing position (+) (long), whereas
when liabilities are higher than assets, we have a “selling position”(-) (short). “A net purchasing
position” in a certain foreign currency (for example in dollar) that is being depreciated, will lead to its
loss, on the other hand “a net selling position”(-) in an appreciating currency (there are increased the
exchange rates of national currency) represents a loss, since more domestic currency is needed to
fulfil the obligations toward third parties.

Example

The exchange rate of USD in Lek as of January 1st was 1usd = 160 Lek. The bank has a net selling
position of USD 2000.

Asmets Liabilities Fosition
| 3000 5000 -2000
Lek Equivalert A50.000 0,000 -320.000

1 We have spot when the operation is performed two working days from the agreements date. This kind of operation is used
in most banking operations and as a result in most operations we have the implication of spot prices when no other operation
is emphasized.

2 We have forward when the operation is performed at a second term after the agreement date. This term is determined at the
moment the agreement is concluded. In theory the forward price should be equal with the spot one, but practically it is not so.
In practice, the forward price may be higher (premium) or lower (discount) than the spot one. Forward operations in most
cases, may serve to prevent the risk of foreign exchange fluctuations, for both the commercial and financing area. Also,
forward may be used even for speculative operations, particularly in capital markets. To avoid misunderstandings, when
speaking about pure forward operations, they are called “outright” so as to distinguish them from forward operations, as a
component part of swap operation.
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If on February 1st, the Lek value against USD is reduced (Lek is depreciated) from 160 to 170 for 1 USD,
the Lek equivalent position would be:

Asmeis Liabilities Positon
UsDy 2000 5000 -2 000
L=k equivalent 510.000 ES0.000 340,000

As the Lek value decreases against USD, the “Net selling position” causes the bank to resultin aloss.
Although the value of bank assets expressed in USD is increased in comparison with the previous
month by Lek 30.000 = (510.000 - 480.000), the cost of fulfilling the liabilities is increased by Lek
50.000 (850.000 - 800.000) leading to a net loose of Lek 20 thousand (50.000 — 30. 000).

2. Maturity discrepancy. The risk of foreign exchange operations may spring from maturity
discrepancy as well, furthermore when banks do not have open “net position”(assets =
liabilities). Discrepancies are a result of imbalances of coming maturities, creating a discrepancy
in purchasing or selling’s in that foreign currency, for daily or longer periods. For example, a
maturity discrepancy of bank assets and liabilities may make possible that a considerable
amount in a certain foreign currency be received at a time when the payments in this foreign
currency are projected to be effected later on. Following is an example to illustrate this
phenomenon:

We suppose that a bank has a one-month deposit of USD 20.000 at a foreign bank. This amount of
money is ensured through a 3 - month deposit being established by its client. As a balance position,
we do not have an open position.

Assets Liabilities

A deposit of USD 20.000 at a foreign bank Time deposit of USD 20.000

But, as concerns to maturity, we have a discrepancy

Assets Liabilities
One month Three months

The above case is called “positive discrepancy”. In this case, once the one-month maturity is over, the
deposit at the foreign bank is matured, while the maturity of liabilities (deposit established from
clients) needs two other months. In such case, the bank decides if it should:

. continue to keep the money at the corresponding bank;
o invest or extend short — term loans with them;
. sell them (spot or forward, etc) up to the avoidance of discrepancy (2 months).

An opposite situation happens when the discrepancy reflects the short-term maturities of liabilities,
and as a result, considerable outflows of foreign currency amounts are needed prior to maturity of
assets (“negative discrepancy”). This case constitutes a risk for bank liquidity. This may be presented
as follows:

Assets = Liabilities in USD, but

Assets Liabilities
three months one month

The bank should fulfil its liabilities as they fall due. Therefore, it should either borrow or purchase spot,
forward, etc., with maturity up to reaching the maturity term of assets. The decision to close the
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discrepancy or to let it open is determined through the analyses of applicable spot and forward
interest rates, or between two forward exchange rates. The potential loss or profit for the bank is
determined by the future or current changes in “swap” rate between the time when the discrepancy is
established and closed.

3. Client’s credibility and solvency. When a bank assumes a foreign currency transaction, it
should become ensured that the other party (the client) has a good financial position and is able to
fulfill the obligations when they fall due.

Il. THE WAYS OF MANAGING FOREIGN EXCHANGES RISKS.

Banks should know clearly the risks of foreign currency transactions, determine in written form the
targets and policies concerning the amount of risks they will undertake, establish necessary security
and information system to reflect and control risks. At least, there should be established the limits,
indicators to be reported, control types to ensure continuous supervision of limits as prescribed in the
regulation.

1. Supervision rate.

The Bank of Albania has established the percentage rates of open foreign exchange positions in
relation to bank regulatory capital (stipulated in the Bank of Albania guideline “On Bank Regulatory
Capital”. There are established rates on both net open foreign exchange position for each foreign
currency and on total net open foreign exchange position. Each bank should keep net open foreign
exchange position for each particular foreign currency by the end of each day and the total open
foreign exchange position, not higher than the regulatory capital percentages established by the Bank
of Albania.

2. General risk exposure from foreign currencies operations.

General risks exposure of the foreign currencies operations is accounted as the total of Lek sums of all
the “net positions in selling”(-) or of all “net positions in purchasing” (+), in foreign currencies in which
the respective bank has a net open position.

3. Calculation method of risk exposure from foreign currency operations.

An example on how the calculation is made:
Accounting balance — sheet as of December 31st

Fx Positiom of bank Pocition of tank Off-balance dheet | Cpenposition
accounting balance accounting balance- it=ms
sheet assels sheet ishilites
sl | 11000000 10000000 -2.000.000 -1.000.000
DEM | 7000000 6000010 =500.000 +500.000
FEF | 19.000.000 20.000.000 -1.000.000
WLG | 2200000 2000000 + 200000
EEF 000000 5000000 +3.000.0:00
ATS | 1000000 2000000 -1.000.000
™ F-200.004 J000.000 + 200,000

It results from the calculation of regulatory capital pursuant to the Guideline “On Bank Regulatory
Capital” that for the same period they are Lek 350.000.000.

Using the exchange rate (rate that is used to estimate the accounting balance — sheet according to
accounting procedures) in Lek for each foreign currency, for the reporting day, we calculate the equivalent
positions in Lek of the foreign currencies:
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FOREINGM Foreign Ex ¢ Ewchange Fate inLek | Equivalent positions m
CURRENCIES Positions Lek
UsD -1.000.000 160 - 160,000 000
LEM + + 500000 &5 + 41.000.000
FFF -1.000.000 26 - 26.000.000
NLG + 200,000 78 + 15.600.000
EEF +3.000.000 4 + 12.000.000
ATS -1.000.000 13 - 13.000.000
Y + 200,000 17 + 23.400.000

We sum up together the Lek equivalent for all the “selling positions” (-) of foreign currencies:

Bank celling pocition i foreign clime oy Thedr equivalert in Lek

5D -1 000030 -160.000.000
FFF -L.000.000 - 2465.000.000
ATS -1.000:000 - 13,000,000
Total - 192 000, 000

The same way is followed for the “purchasing positions” for all the foreign currencies of (+) sign:

Bank fored gn prarchacing position (+) Thedr egnudvalent in Lek

DEM + 500,000 + 41000000
WLG + 200,000 + 15,400,000
EBEF + 3.000.000 + 12 000.000
™y + 200,000 + 23.400.000
Total + 95,000,000

We calculate the ratio of net open foreign exchange position for all the foreign currencies together to
regulatory capital:

R =104.000.000 / 350.000.000 x 100 = 29.7 per cent

We compare this ratio with the maximum permitted rate for total exposure, which presently is 20 per
cent, which results to be higher than the permitted limit (29.7 per cent — 20 per cent).

We calculate the exposure ratio of any particular foreign currency, for which the bank has open positions
and is, in consequence, exposed to risks.

Lek equivalence of open X Fegulatory capital F.atio in percentage

posbions | A} (B AJBX100

S Lek 1600000000 260,000 000 45,71 per c=nt
DEM Lek 340000000 350000000 13,57 per cemit
FEF L=k 26.000.000 250000000 743 per cemit
WLGLak 5600000 350.000.000 446 per cent
EEF Lek 12000000 350000000 343 per cent
ATS Lak 13000000 350000000 3.71 per cent
TPY Lek 23400000 350000000 .68 per oot

Any individual ratio on foreign currencies is compared with the maximum limit stipulated by the Bank
of Albania (presently 10 per cent). As it is shown, the bank has exceeded the stipulated limit for both
foreign currencies, USD and DEM, and it should take measures for observance of the stipulated rate.
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I11. REPORTS ON OPEN POSITIONS

Reporting evidences, being rightly established, are the most useful means of reflecting and managing
risks of foreign exchange operations. Bank managers should receive daily notification (evidence) on
open positions for any foreign currency and for all the foreign currencies together.

IV. ACCOUNTING RE-EVALUATION AND RECORDING

The re-evaluation of foreign currencies is made at the last day exchange rate, published by the Bank of
Albania. Losses and profits resulting from the re-evaluation of foreign currencies are accounted as an
income or expenditure in the result account.

All the data on calculating foreign exchange open positions are taken from the accounting balance —
sheet of the bank for the reporting date.

There are not taken into account the items on which:

a) foreign exchange risk is covered by the state;

b) all the foreign exchange structural assets that serve for along period of time, such as interests
in participation (banks and financial institutions), accorded amounts for branches abroad,
fixed tangible or intangible assets when their financing source is in domestic currency (Lek);

c) off-balance sheet items held to justify balance sheet items, such as:
L Guarantees received from banks or clients on loans extended by the reporting bank;
L Letters of credit with coverage ;
L Guarantees given with coverage;
i Other items of such nature.

(For reporting reasons, off-balance sheet items of the statement attached to the Regulation should be
based on accounting and off-balance sheet items deducted according to point “c” should be recorded
at the end of the statement).

Also, the standards of accounting entries in foreign currency and in lek should be taken into account
and observed, and the below items are summarized and they may have sub-items for each foreign
currency.

What items of accounting balance — sheet are taken into account for calculating the position of various
foreign currencies:

ASSETS
ltem1.1.1.2: Foreign Exchange cash in hand.

ltem 1.1.1.4: Travellers’ checks in other currencies.
Group 1.1.2: Relations with the Bank of Albania (in foreign currency)

ltem 1121 Currentaccounts

ltem 1122 Required reserves

ltem 1123 Deposit accounts with central banks
ltem 1124 Loans to central banks

ltem 1127 Overdue accounts with the central bank.
ltem 1128 Other accounts with central banks.

(Here are included both the principal and accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency).

Rubric 1.2 T-Bills and other bills eligible for refinancing with the central bank.
Group 121 T-Bills.
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Group 122 Other bills eligible for refinancing with the central bank.
(Here are included both the principal and accrued interests for the foreign exchange sub-items, in any
foreign currency).

Rubric 1.3 Current accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Group 131 Current accounts with resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Group 132 Current accounts with non-resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial
institutions.

Group 137 Past due current accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

(Here are included both the principal and accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency).

Rubric 1.4 Deposits with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.
Group 141 Deposits with resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.
Group 142 Deposits with non-resident banks, credit institutions and other financial institutions.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 1.5 Loans to banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Group 151 Loans to resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.
Group 152 Loans to non-resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.
Group 153 Commercial paper and remittances received under a repurchase agreement.
Group 157 Overdue loans to banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub- items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 1.8 Other accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Item 1821 Guarantee paid to banks (in foreign currency).

Item 1822 Accrued interest (in foreign currency)

Item 1831 Amounts deposited in an escrow account at a bank (in a foreign currency).

Item 1832 Accrued interest (in foreign currency).

Group 186 Other accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.
Group 187 Other overdue accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Rubric 1.9 Doubtful receivables with banks banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Rubric 2.0 Standard loans and advances to customers

Group 201 Short—term loans.
Group 202 Medium - term loans.
Group 203 Long - term loans.
Group 204 Real estate loans

Group 205 Financial lease contracts.

Rubric 2.1 Overdue loans and advances to customers.
Similar as in Rubric 2.0.

Rubric 2.2 Special mention loans and prepayment
Similar as in Rubric 2.0.

Rubric 2.3 Substandard loans.

Group 231 Short—term loans.
Group 232 Medium - term loans.
Group 233 Long —term loans.
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Group 234 Real estate loans
Group 235 Financial lease contracts.
Group 238 Provisions on substandard loans.

Rubric 2.4 Doubtful loans.
Similar as in the rubric 2.3.

Rubric 2.5 Loss loans.
Similar as in Rubric 2.3.

Rubric 2.6 Albanian Government and public administration.

Group 261 Current accounts.

Group 262 Loans to Albanian Government and public administration.

Group 266 Doubtful receivables with Albanian Government and other public administration.

Group 267 Overdue accounts with Albanian Government and other public administration.

Group 268 Provisions on doubtful receivables with Albanian Government and other public
administration.

Group 269 Other doubtful accounts with Albanian Government and other public administration.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for the foreign exchange sub - items, in
any foreign currency.)

Rubric 2.7 Customer current accounts.
Group 271 Current accounts.
Group 277 Past due debtor customer current accounts.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 2.8 Other customer accounts.
Group 286 Other customer accounts.
Group 288 Other overdue customer accounts.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interest for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 2.9 Receivable customer accounts, other than loans.

Rubric 3.1 Fixed income securities.

Group 311 Trading securities.
Group 312 Placement securities
Group 313 Investment securities.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 3.2 Variable income securities.
Group 321 Trading securities.
Group 322 Placement securities.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 3.4 Securities purchased and sold under repurchase agreement.

Group 341 Securities purchased under re-selling agreement.
(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
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foreign currency.)

Rubric 3.5 Collateral on securities transactions.
Group 351 Collateral paid for securities lent.

Rubric 3.6 Premiums on financial instruments.

Group 361 Received.

Rubric 4.1 Other assets.

Group 411 Sundry debtors.

Group 412 Inventories.

Group 418 Provisions for other assets.

Group 419 Accrued income and deferred expenses.

Rubric 4.3 Agent transactions.

Rubric 4.5 Suspense, differences and position accounts.
Group 451 Suspense accounts

Rubric 5.1 Participating interests.
Rubric 5.2 Affiliates.

Rubric 5.3 Fixed assets.
(It stands for fixed assets evaluated in foreign currency).

Rubric 9.0 Financing commitments.
Group 901 Commitments given.

Rubric 9.1 Guarantees.
Group 911 Guarantees given.

Rubric 9.2 Commitments on securities.

Group 922 Securities to be received.
Group 924 Securities given as a guarantee for credit or re-financing.
Group 926 Borrowed securities.

Rubric 9.3 Foreign currency transactions.
Group 931 Forward foreign currency purchases.

Rubric 9.4 Other commitments.

Rubric 9.5 Commitments on financial instruments.
Group 952 Given.

Liabilities

Group 1.1.2: Relationships with the Bank of Albania (in foreign currency).
ltem 1121 Current accounts.

ltem 1125 Deposits with central bank.
ltem 1126 Loans with central bank.
ltem 1128 Other accounts with central banks.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)
Rubric 1.2 T- bills and other bills eligible for refinancing with the central bank.
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Item 1215 T-bills sold under repurchase agreement.
Item 1225 Other T-bills sold under repurchase agreements.

Rubric 1.3 Current accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Group 131 Current accounts with resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.
Group 132 Current accounts with non - resident banks, credit institutions, and other financial
institutions.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 1.6 Deposits from banks, credit institutions, and other financing institutions.
Group 161 Deposits from resident banks, credit institutions, and other financing institutions.
Group 162 Deposits from non-resident banks, credit institutions, and other financing institutions.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 1.7 Loan received from banks, credit institutions and other financial institutions.

Group 171 Loan received from resident banks, credit institutions and other financial institutions.
Group 172 Loans received from non - resident banks, financial institutions and other financial
institutions.

Group 173 Commercial papers and amounts of cash delivered under repurchase agreement.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 1.8 Other accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

ltem 1823 Banking guarantees (in foreign currency).

Item 1829 Accrued interest (in foreign currency).

[tem 1833 Amounts received in an escrow account (in foreign currency) from a bank.
Item 1839 Accrued interest (in foreign currency).

Group 186 Other accounts with banks, credit institutions, and other financial institutions.

Rubric 2.6 Albanian Government and public administration.

Group 261 Current accounts.

Group 263 Deposit accounts.

Group 264 Time deposits from Albanian Government and public administration.

Group 265 Borrowings from Albanian Government and public administration.

Group 269 Other doubtful accounts with Albanian Government and public administration.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 2.7 Customer current account and deposit liabilities.

Group 271 Current accounts.
Group 272 Demand deposit accounts.
Group 273 Time deposit accounts.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 2.8 Other customer account.
(the whole rubric, excluding group 288)

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any

52



foreign currency.)
Rubric 3.3 Debts represented by securities.

Rubric 3.4 Securities purchased and sold under repurchase agreement.
Group 342 Securities sold under repurchase agreement.

(Here are included both the principal and the accrued interests for foreign exchange sub - items, in any
foreign currency.)

Rubric 3.5 Collateral on securities transactions.
Group 352 Collateral received for borrowed securities.

Rubric 3.6 Premiums on financial instruments.
Group 362 Paid.

Rubric 4.2 Other liabilities.
Group 421 Sundry creditors.
Group 429  Accrued expenses and deferred income.

Rubric 4.3 Agent transactions.

Rubric 4.5 Suspense, of differences and position accounts.
Group 451 Suspense accounts.

Rubric 5.4 Grants and public financing.
Rubric 5.5 Provisions.

Group 551 Provisions for risks and expenses.
Group 558 Other provisions.

Rubric 5.6 Subordinated debt.

Rubric 5.7 Shareholders’equity.

Group 571 Paid in capital.

Group 572 Share premiums.

Rubric 9.0 Financing commitments.
Group 902 Commitments received.

Rubric 9.1 Guarantees.
Group 912 Guarantees received.

Rubric 9.2 Commitments on securities.

Group 921 Securities to be delivered.
Group 923 Securities received as a guarantee for a credit or a refinancing.
Group 925 Securities borrowed.

Rubric 9.3 Foreign currency transactions.
Group 932 Forward foreign currencies sold.

Rubric 9.4 Other commitments.

Rubric 9.5 Commitments on financial instruments.
Group 952 Received.
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Given the operations in some banks or branches of foreign banks, we clarify that in no case is the
financial result account from foreign currency operations considered as a component item in calculating
the foreign exchange open position. This is so, because the financial result of a bank, at any case, is
held in Lek, the domestic currency.

Total asset = Balance sheet asset + off-balance sheet asset; and
Total liability = Balance sheet liability + off-balance sheet liability, or another presenting way:

A. Balance-sheet asset C. Off balance-sheet asset items E. Total asset (A+C)
B. Balance sheet liability D. Off balance-sheet liability items F .Total liabil (B+D)
Difference (A-B) Difference (C- D) Total of differen.(E-F)

Based on the data from the accounting balance sheet of the reporting period, we calculate:

a- amount of open positions in purchasing (+);
b- amount of open positions in selling (-).

The difference between the above amounts ‘a’ and ‘b’ shall be put in ratio to regulatory capital.

DIRECTOR
Miranda RAMAJ
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REGULATION
ON
MARKET RISKS

Approved by the Supervisory Council Decision No. 72, dated 02.06.1999 and

amended with the Decision no. 98, dated 19.12.2001.

CHAPTER |

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1- This regulation is issued pursuant to Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997, “On the Bank of Albania”,
and to Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On the banks of the Republic of Albania”.
2- Subject to market risk analysis are banks and branches of foreign banks. For purposes of this

regulation, these subjects will be referred to as “banks”. They shall satisfy at least one of the
following conditions:

2.1,

22.

The booking value of the portfolio of securities for trading is on average higher than
5% of total assets and off-balance sheet items during the last two six month periods,
or higher than 6% of total assets and off-balance sheet items at any moment.
Total value of portfolio of securities for trading is on average higher than 15 milionEURO
during the last two six month periods or, at any time, higher than 20 million EURO.

The calculation as to whether the bank meets the above conditions shall be disclosed in the Reporting Form

No.1.

3- The purpose of this regulation is the calculation of the Regulatory Capital to cover market
risks. Market risk shall mean the risk of loss for on- and off- balance sheet positions as a result
of changes in prices of financial markets. It involves analysis of position risk for:

3.1.  theinterestrate on fixed-income securities;
3.2.  the market value of variable-income securities;
3.3.  settlement of payment with the counterparty;
3.4.  the surpass of limits on significant risks;

3.4. theforeign exchange.

41 Reporting shall be rendered to the Supervision Department, Bank of Albania, according to
article 2 of this regulation:

4.1. In case of non-compliance with requirements set in the paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2, only
Reporting Forms No. 1, 2, 6, 7 shall be submitted. Trading portfolio shall be included
in the computation of capital adequacy, according to the regulation “On Capital
Adequacy”.

4.2. In case of compliance with requirements established in paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2, all

enclosed reporting forms shall be reported.

Reporting forms are to be considered a part of the reporting system.

5- The control to cover market risks involves:

5.1.

The Regulatory Capital required to cover market risk shall be not higher than the

Regulatory Capital available to the bank to cover market risk.

In case of non-compliance with the above condition:

* Amended by the Supervisory Council with the Decision no. 98, dated 19.12.2001.

55



5.2.
5.3.

Banks shall take measures to comply with it within three months.

In case of bank’s failure to meet the requirements set in paragraph 5.2, and a
continuous failure to comply with the ones set in paragraph 5.1, the Bank of Albania
may act in accordance with articles 44 and 45, paragraph 3, of the Law No. 8365,
dated 02.07.1998, “On the banks of the Republic of Albania”.

The following definitions are given for purposes of this regulation:

6.1.
6.1.1

6.1.2

6.1.3
6.1.3.1
6.1.3.2

6.1.3.3

6.2
6.2.1
6.2.2
6.2.2.1

6.2.2.2

6.2.2.3

Securities of Trading Portfolio include:

Trading securities: securities purchased or benefited for reselling or repurchasing
purposes within a short period of time. They should be traded in an active and liquid
market. The market prices for these securities are constantly in use by third parties
and maintained by banks for verification when closing the accounts.

Securities for Placement: securities benefited with the purpose of keeping them for
a period over 6 months, other than fixed-income securities that are kept up to maturity
(investment). In calculating the value of trading portfolio, banks may omit securities
for placement from the total amount of trading portfolio, if total trading portfolio plus
securities for placement are not hgher than 10% of total assets and off-balance
sheet items on average during the last two six -month periods:

Derivative instruments used for the purpose of:

Keeping open positions in order to benefit from the price evolution;

Specialized managing of trading securities including derivative instruments, securities
and equivalent financial operations, at the condition of simultaneous fulfillment of the
following:

i) The bank is able to ensure a continuous and steady participation in the market of
derivative instruments such as interest rate swap contracts and foreign exchange
contracts;

i) The Trading Portfolio that includes such derivative instruments should include a
large volume of transactions in the market;

iii)The Trading Portfolio circulates continuously and as a whole.

Limitation, since its origin, of the market risk to which banks are exposed while
performing their operations with securities of the Trading Portfolio.

Eligible Issuers must have the following characteristics:

Issuers that are weighted at 20% in the calculation of Capital Adequacy Ratio;
Issuers that fulfill the following conditions:

One of the securities issued by these issuers is traded in regulated markets or markets
acknowledged by third countries;

The bank may consider as adequately liquid the securities issued by such issuers,
while the Bank of Albania may object this consideration;

The bank may consider the risk of issuer as not higher than the one of paragraph6.2.2.1,
while Bank of Albania may object this consideration.

CHAPTER 1l

RecuLaTORY CaAPITAL TO CoVER MARKET RISKS

The structure of bank’s Regulatory Capital to cover market risks is:

1.1.
1.2.
1.3.

Residual Base Capital
Residual Additional Capital
Capital Surplus

The following are the components of bank’s Regulatory Capital to cover market risk:

2.1

The Regulatory Capital, calculated according to the regulation “On Bank’s Regulatory
Capital”, shall be reduced by its portion that serves the compliance with the capital
adequacy ratio (12% of total assets and off-balance sheet items weighted at the
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respective risk), as calculated in the regulation “On Regulatory Capital Adequacy”.
The difference constitutes the Residual Regulatory Capital.

The Residual Regulatory Capital is composed of:

2.1.1. Residual Base Capital calculated according to Table 5 of the Form No. 2.

2.1.2. Residual Additional Capital calculated according to Table 5 of the Form No. 2.

2.2. Surplus Capital is comprised of:
2.2.1 Intermediate Earnings that do not simultaneously fulfill the following conditions:

. They are determined after booking all expenses incurred during the respective period,
including expenses for depreciation and provisions;

. They are calculated for the net value after deduction of anticipated tax on profit and
dividends;

. They are certified by the bank’s Audit Committee and the certified public accountant.

2.2.2  Subordinated Debts with the following characteristics:
. Subordinated Term Debts defined in the regulation “On Bank’s Regulatory Capital”

that are not included in the calculation of Regulatory Capital due to the limitation
established by paragraph 2.2.2.2 of the same regulation;

. Hybrid instruments and Subordinated Term Debts determined in the regulation “On

Bank’s Regulatory Capital”, which are not included in the calculation of Regulatory
Capital due to the limitation established by the paragraph 2.2.2.1 of the same regulation;

. Subordinated Debts with initial maturity over 2 years, which fulfill the following
conditions:

i) They are fully repayable, and the contract for issuance or loan does not stipulate any
case of prepayment without the approval by the Bank of Albania ;

ii) Principal or interest payment for such Subordinated Debts shall under no circumstances

reduce Regulatory Capital to cover market risks, in a way that this capital does not
fall below the level required to cover market risks.

2.3. The amount of the Residual Additional Capital along with the Surplus Capital shall
not be higher than 250% of the Residual Base Capital.

24. The sum between the elements defined in paragraphs 2.1 and 2.2, and the limitation
of paragraph 2.3, shall constitute Bank’s Global Regulatory Capital.

3. Regulatory Capital to cover market risks shall be reported every six months to the Supervision
Department in the Bank of Albania.

If deemed necessary by the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania, such reporting may be
required quarterly.

4. Reporting of Regulatory Capital to cover market risks shall be rendered according to the
Reporting Form No. 2.

CHAPTER 111

DEeTeERMINATION OF NET PosiTiON

1. Definition: Net Position shall represent the net long or short position resulting from bank
transactions in each of securities and instruments of the Trading Portfolio, which are related to
market risks.

2. Net positions for securities of the trading portfolio are calculated through:
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2.1, Evaluating them at the market price per foreign currency on a daily basis;

2.2 Offsetting net long positions with the short ones, when simultaneously dealing with
the following:

2,21  Variable income securities of the same issuer;

2.2.2 Fixed income securities of the same issuer, having similar maturities and nature
regarding the contract of issuance;

2.2.3 Variable and fixed income securities traded in markets regulated by the members of

the European Union or acknowledged by the Ministry of Finance.

3. The net positions for the securities of trading portfolio shall be reported in LEK. Net foreign
exchange positions shall be converted in LEK on a daily basis at the daily official rate issued
by the Bank of Albania.

4, Specific Cases:

41.  Security lending and sales through REPO agreements are included in the calculation
of net positions according to the nature of contracted securities. On the other hand,
security borrowing and purchases through REPO agreements are not included in the
net positions.

4.2. Positions resulting from commitments for irrevocable purchase of securities shall be
included in the calculation of net positions starting only from the first working day,thus
two days after the bank is irrevocably committed to accept a given amount of securities
at a predetermined price.

In this case, two conditions shall be simultaneously fulfilled:

4.2.1. Positions signed by third parties based on a formal agreement shall be deducted
from positions created as a result of bank’s commitments for irrevocable purchases;

4.2.2. Net positions determined as shown above shall be weighted at the appropriate
ratios, according to workdays:

Dpe=n Wiork days Weghtng Ratios
Clmy zero 0%
Clay one 1095
Ciay twra and threa 2h%
Cay four 0%
Day fue T0%
After dav five 10023

Between the first moment of commitment and the workday one, the bank shall assume that amount
of risks that can be covered by the Regulatory Capital.

CHAPTER IV

INTEREST RATE RiIsk

1- Entities are the ones defined in paragraph 2 of Chapter |, and the interest rate risk review is to
be performed for items of the trading portfolio defined in paragraph 6.1 of Chapter | of this
regulation.

2- The purpose is the calculation of the Regulatory Capital required for the bank to protect and

cover risks related to interest rates. These risks may be of two types:
2.1.  Specific Risk related to the adverse evolution of security prices due to the deterioration
in the issuer’s financial conditions;

2.2.  Overall Risk related to the risk of loss due to adverse market changes in the interest
rates.

58



Banks shall classify their net positions, evaluated at the market rate, for each currency, and
shall calculate, using the methodology described in Chapter lll, the amount of Regulatory
Capital to cover specific and overall risk.

The calculation methodology of the Regulatory Capital required to cover the specific risk
consists of:
4.1.  Determining the net position for each security through the methodology described in
Chapter lil;
4.2.  Weighting each net position at the appropriate ratio;
4.3.  Determining the required Regulatory Capital.

The calculation method of the required Regulatory Capital to cover the specific risk is:

Net positions, depending on the nature of the issuer and the residual maturity, are weighted
at the following ratios:

5.1.  Securities of administrations and central banks of zone A, at 0%.

5.2.  Securities from eligible issuers (Chapter I, paragraph 3) with a maturity of:

5.2.1. 0 to 6 months, are weighted at...............c....... 0.25%
5.2.2. 6 to 24 months, are weighted at ..................... 1.00%
5.2.3 Over 24 months, are weighted at ................... 1.60%

5.3. Securities from other issuers are weighted at ...8%.

The amount of net positions weighted as above shall constitute the Regulatory Capital required
to cover specific risk.

There are two methods for the calculation of required Regulatory Capital to cover overall risk,

and the methodology for each one is:

6.1. For the Maturity Method:

6.1.1. The net position is determined for each security according to the methodology
described in Chapter Il;

6.1.2. The net position is weighted for each security according to the maturity. This weighting
reflects the sensitivity to the overall fluctuation of interest rates;

6.1.3. The netweighted positions are offset according to the following steps:

6.1.3.1. The offset within each timeframe:

6.1.3.2. The offset of each timeframe within each area;

6.1.3.3. The offset between all areas;

6.1.4. The Requirement for Regulatory Capital is determined.

6.2. The Duration Method:

6.2.1. The calculation of Modified Duration for each security;
6.2.2. Thedistribution of positions according to areas;

6.2.3. The offset within each area;

6.2.4. The offset between areas;

6.2.5. The Requirement for Regulatory Capital is determined.

The calculation method of the Requirement for Regulatory Capital to cover the overall risk is:
7.1. For the Maturity Method:
7.1.1. First Stage: Determination of net weighted positions.

Each position of the respective Timeframe shall be weighted at the ratios listed in column (4).
Subject to this regulation shall classify the net positions in the following table according to:

7.1.1.1. Residual maturity for fixed interest rate securities:

7.1.1.2. Duration up to the interest rate change, for variable interest rate securities.

7.1.1.3. Coupon rate, making the distinction between securities at a coupon rate less than
3%, and those at a coupon rate not less than 3%.

7.1.2  Second Stage: Offsetting
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7.1.2.1. For every timeframe:
Weighted Short Positions are offset against the Weighted Long Positions:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the offset weighted positions for every timeframe.

— The difference between them, short or long, shall constitute the uncompensated weighted
positions for each timeframe.
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7.1.2.2. For each Zone:

i) Alluncompensated weighted long positions for each timeframe are totaled;

i) Alluncompensated weighted short positions for each timeframe are totaled;

iii) The total of uncompensated weighted long positions for each timeframe shall be
offset against the total uncompensated weighted short positions for each timeframe;

— Their minimum shall constitute the offset weighted positions for each zone;

— Their difference, long or short, shall constitute the uncompensated weighted positions
for each zone.

7.1.2.3. Between zones:

A) In ascending order:

i) The uncompensated weighted long (short) positions of zone 1 are offset against the
uncompensated weighted short (long) positions of zone 2:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the offset weighted position between zone 1 and zone
2;

— The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

i) The residual uncompensated weighted long (short) positions of zone 2 are offset
against the uncompensated weighted short (long) positions of zone 3:

— The least of them shall constitute the offset weighted position between zone 2 and
zone 3;

— The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

B) In descending order:

i) The uncompensated weighted long (short) positions of zone 2 are offset against the
uncompensated weighted short (long) positions of zone 3:

60



The least of them shall constitute the compensated weighted position between zone
2 and zone 3;

The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

The residual uncompensated weighted long (short) positions of zone 2 are offset
against the uncompensated weighted short (long) positions of zone 1:

The lowest of them shall constitute the offset weighted position between zone 2 and
zonel;

The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

Finally, either in the Ascending Method or the Descending one, the residual uncompensated weighted
position of zone 1 is offset against the residual uncompensated weighted position of zone 3, thus
obtaining the Residual Final Uncompensated Weighted Position.

7.1.3. Third Stage: Determining the Requirement for Regulatory Capital:

The Requirement for Regulatory Capital is calculated as the total of the following items:

10% of the amount of compensated weighted positions of all timeframes;
40% of the compensated weighted position of zone 1;

30% of the compensated weighted position of zone 2;

30% of the compensated weighted position of zone 3;

40% of the compensated weighted position between zone 1 and zone 2;
40% of the compensated weighted position between zone 2 and zone 3;
150% of the compensated weighted position between zone 1 and zone 3;
100% of the final residual uncompensated weighted position.

7.2. For the Duration Method:
7.2.1. First Stage: Calculation of Modified Duration for each security:
7.2.1.1. For fixed income securities:
The bank, based on the market value of security, shall calculate the yield-to-maturity,
which is also the security’s discount rate.
7.2.1.2. For variable income securities:
The bank, starting from the market value of the security, calculates the yield-to-maturity,
considering the period up to the change of interest rate as the maturity.
7.2.1.3 The Modified Duration is calculated through the formula:
> a
L
I -+ - e - w D
"ouraign= o' = A1) Maodified - Duration= Dm"= —
m . (1+ 1)
Ct
= (1)
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“Ct” is the financial flow received by the security holder in the moment “t” of time
“m” is the residual duration
“r” is the yield-to-maturity (discount rate)

7.2.2. Second Stage: Determination of net weighted positions.

Each position, depending on the Modified Duration (column 2), is weighted at the ratios in column (3),
thus obtaining the weighted positions for each zone.

lone "odified Duration (n ctential Intere=t Fate Pl=tunty {n yearsd
¥ SR CGhange in %l
1 i ] 4
] 0==110 1.0 0==110
2 = 1,0<=38 0.35 = 1,0==4
3 > 3,6 0.30 e

7.2.3. Third Stage: Offsetting.

7.2.3.1. For each Zone:

The Long or Short weighted position shall be determined, and:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the compensated weighted positions for each
zone;

— The difference between them, short or long one, shall constitute the uncompensated
weighted positions for each zone.

7.2.3.2. Between zones:

In ascending order:

The uncompensated weighted long (short) positions for zone 1 are offset against the

uncompensated weighted short (long) positions for zone 2:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the compensated weighted position betweenzone
1 and zone 2;

— The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

The residual uncompensated weighted long (short) positions for zone 2 is offset against the

uncompensated weighted short (long) positions for zone 3:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the compensated weighted position between
zone 2 and zone 3;

— The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

In descending order:

The residual uncompensated weighted long (short) positions for zone 2 is offset against the

uncompensated weighted short (long) positions for zone 3:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the compensated weighted position between
zone 1 and zone 3;

— The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.

The residual uncompensated weighted long (short) positions for zone 1 is offset against the

uncompensated weighted short (long) positions for zone 2:

— The lowest of them shall constitute the compensated weighted position between
zone 1 and zone 2;

— The difference between them shall constitute the residual uncompensated weighted
position.
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Finally, in either the Ascending or the Descending Method, the residual uncompensated weighted
position of zone 1 is offset against the residual uncompensated weighted position of zone 3, thus
obtaining the Residual Final Uncompensated Weighted Position.

7.2.4. Fourth Stage: Determining of the Requirement for Regulatory Capital:

The Requirement for Regulatory Capital is defined as the total of the following items:
— 2% of the compensated weighted position for zone 1;

— 2% of the compensated weighted position for zone 2;

— 2% of the compensated weighted position for zone 3;

— 40% of the compensated weighted position between zone 1 and zone 2;
— 40% of the compensated weighted position between zone 2 and zone 3;
— 150% of the compensated weighted position between zone 1 and zone 3;
— 100% of the final residual uncompensated weighted position.

The reporting on the Regulatory Capital required to cover market risks as calculated by the
bank, and the comparison between the Requirement for Regulatory Capital and the actual
Regulatory Capital, shall be rendered according to Reporting Form No. 3, 4, 5, 6.

CHAPTER V

ForEeicN ExcHANGE Risk

Entities subject to this regulation are defined in paragraph 2 of Chapter | and the foreign
exchange risk analysis is done exclusively in this case for all assets and off-balance sheet
items in foreign currency.

The purpose is to calculate the required Regulatory Capital providing protection and coverage
from foreign exchange risk in, cases when the Global Net Position in foreign currency is higher
than 2% of the Global Regulatory Capital.

The components are:

3.1 Global Regulatory Capital calculated in Chapter Il of this regulation.
3.2. Global Net Position, which shall mean the maximum of the amounts of “Foreign
exchange long positions” and “Foreign exchange short positions”.

“Foreign exchange long positions” and “Foreign exchange short positions” shall be calculated according
to the methodology established in the regulation “On Foreign Exchange Open Positions” and respective
guidelines.

4-

5-

The Regulatory Capital required to cover foreign exchange risk shall be equal to 8% of the
balance of Global Net Position over the Global Regulatory Capital.

The Calculation of the Requirement for Regulatory Capital shall be performed according to the
attached Form No. 7, which is an integral part of the reporting system.

FinaL ProvisioNs

Requirements described in this regulation shall be fulfilled using the accounting information as of
31.12.1999.
This regulation enters into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
Shkélgim CANI
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REPORTING FORM NO. 1

Calculation of Frudentnl| Hatio for Moot Fislkes (in thousands of LEKD
Bank
Reporting Pencd
Regorting Date
Praparad by (Namea. Surname. Signaturs
Reviewed by (Mame, Surmame, Signature

CALCULATION ©F TRADIMGE PORTFOLID  AWD  THE | Code  Aversge | BMeximum
RECUIRENMEMNT OF ARTICLE 2 OF CHAPTER |

I. Calzultion of Tading Portfoelie in Book Vae

1 — Components of Trading Fortfolio

- Trading Securities A
- Securties for Placsmeant B
- fi-Balance Shest Dperations with Secunoes -
- Derremtiee Instruments Defned in Faregregh 6 1.3, of Chapter o
2 — Caleulation of Portdfolio with the Beserve Defined in Farsaragh

B 2.1 of Chapter

- Total of A=sei= and Off-Ealenc= Shest [tems= E
-E T 10% F
-If A+B4+C+0>=F on sversge during Tweo sis-manth pariods, then G
= e

-1 A+B+C+=0=F on eversge dunng twa sis-month p=riods, th=n G

the bank may choose a3 G=A+EB+C

Il. Calculation of the Regquirement of Paragraph 2.1 of Chapter |-

* 502
o

0

= GO
3

0

lli. Caloulation of the Poston of Tradng Portiobao:

- Trading Securtes S

- Securiies for Placemeand 3
- Ufi-Belance Sheet Operations wit Securidies

- Derivative Instruments Defined in Paragragh € 1.3, of Chapter r

- E=basB 00 then M=d+g =L+ ]
-fG=4+E+Cthen N=J+K+L H
I Cabculston of the Fequirement of Famagreph 2 2 of Chapier I-

)

- Eguivalent in LEE of 15 million EVRD at the closing day

-

- Eguivalent in LEE of 20milian EVRC at the closing day

L&]

Firt Ceme: The bank =hall report o the Bupervimion Dept in the Bank of Alberi= on all merket nsk-

related operations acoarding to following forms. i

11 At the reporting date, the conditons that G=l or H=F are fulfiled, or

2i At the reporing dei=, the condiions thet G=H or M= 0 on sversge dunng the la=t =im-month
pencds, are fulfilled

Second Case: [n c5se of noncompliance with the abave conditions, the bank shall raport only tha

regorting forrm Mo, 1 to the Supervision Degt. in the Bank of Albania.
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REPORTING FORM NO. 2

Calowlaton of Regulatory Coprial to Cover Market Risks [in thousandz of LEK

ank
Reporting Pencd
Reporting Date
Praparad by
Beviewed by

CORE GAFTTAL

Arnounk

| - Components to be Added (Al

Subscribed Capisl 5711

2 | Feserves [other than Aeserves for Beveluation) h731, B733
[yl
Frermiums of Is2ungs and Marging BTZ

Fetzined Eamings

Eamings of the End of YWear [Chapter IV, Paragraph 2)
Eamings of the Regorting Pericd [Thapter IV, Paragraph 3.1)
Credit A=velustion Oifferences [Positee

L ) L | I o

SubrTotel A=M1+2+3+4+5+6+]7

|- Components 1o be Subtracted (Bl

Sub=cnbed Unpaid Caprtal

Mominal Valus of Shar=s
Loms Brought Forward

urscld, repurchesed)

Financial Loss {Chagter IV, Paragragh 3.2

Cebit Aevalustion Differences (Negative,

l'_TIl'_TICH

|

ol m

=] oD

Lac Ly | I8 0 [P I O]

Iriza rgikle Fied Azsels

[&]]
(5]
&

Subr-Totel B=[1+2+3+4+05+E6 3
TomEl core Capital G= UA-B] c
SUPPLEMENTARY CAPITAL
Il — Components to be Added LI}

1 | Reseraes for Aevaluation Gr3 -

2 | Other Aessrvas (that fulfill the conditions defined in Chapter IV =
Paragragh 4)

3 | Subordinsted Debi= ithet fulfill the condiions defned in Chapter tE EC
V. Paragraph §.1]

4 | Subardinated Ceb® thaet fulfill the condidone defined in Chaptar i F
', Paragraph 5.2)
{ F == L2 than E=F 5
i F 5 G2 then G=G02 5]

Limited Sub-Total H=IE& + EE + EC + G
CifH == C then J=H

Fist limit

L

N — Components 1o be Subtracted (P +Q:

Second limit: £ B = Cthen J=C J
Total Add mional Capitl before Deducoon L) u

Participations 1o banks and financial institutions (P}

- | Participations cow=r 10% in ther =quty or =ignificant

Chagter IV, Paragragh 5 1) over the eame bank
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_'E' .l'.rnn_". I:|'. FE': CIpETICNS T8t I:|I:| not '._'.I L= BDOYE CrITET
arnd othar Subordineted Claims (Chapter V. Peregraph 571 owver
the same banks. are reduced by 108 of the Cwem Funds (C2]
Foresamgle M = [C+J)"102

Remeainder stter s ubtraction N={L-RA)f 1= po=ifrse

|
[

SibrTate| P={K+N

| ]

GCugranees  given 0 Wuwal Guarsnse Fundes under the
conditions establehed by the centrzal bank

ub-Totel of the D=duction = [F =)

Summary of Calculation for the Core Capital and Supplementany
Capital after subtraction IV

If J <= [P+ then
ditienal Svwn Funds afar suliraction JA=
Base OwnFunds CA=C+ HP =)

If J = {F+0)then

&dd tional Ohvem Funds afi=r subtraction JA=H P00
Base Chwn Funds CA=C

Total Core Capital and Supplernentary Capital: E = [JA + CA)

W, CALCULATION OF RESIDUAL CAPITAL

o m -

Regulstony Capital 1o Cover Adeguacy Ratio

Caleulaton of Aesidual Capital. A=E-D

Cetributon of Fe=idusl Capisl betwe=n the Core end the
supplementary Capital Oetemination of Residual Core Capital
and Residual Supglementan, Capie

1-1f A == (L2 then:
Remainder of Supplementany Capiteli= JB =10

Bemainder of Core Capimlis: CB =E
o= 11 dA = D2 thar:

Remainder of Sugpkmentary Capital is: JB = JA -[DV2
Remainder of Core Capiwlis: CB = CA- (O3

M. {:l!u.FlT.ﬁ.L SURFLUS

| ]

Ezrrings of the reporting period (Chapter IV, Paragragh 3.1)
Secunties and Subordnated Debis for purpos=s of hMark=t Rizk

- The Amount of Subardineted Termn Oebts. which are not
inclugded in the calculstion of Supplemsarntary | Capisl far the
purpo=e of the Restricion 22222 in Chapt=r || of “Aegustory
Capital” guidelines

- The amount of Hybrid Instrumens and Subordinated Term
Cielrts, which are notincluded in the calculztion of 3upplementary
Capital for the purpose of Ft:T" ction 2221 in Chapter || of
"Regulatary Capital” guidelines

Subordinated Deb= thet do not fulfll the criteria reguired to
include them in the Supplem=rtary Capitel, while fulfillng the
requirerments of the Bank of Albania

Crther Subordinazed Debis with an infial mawrity not less than 2
VERE

TOTAL CAMTAL SURALUS: OF=I0A+0B+OC+0D+0E)

66




Wi CALCULATION OF MAIMUM LUMT OF THE TOTAL
BETWEEN THE REMAINDER OF SUPPLEMENTARY CARTAL
AND CAPTAL SURPLUS

Totsl of Fesidusl Supplemermtary Capitsl with Capis| Surglus prior
to restricton: 2 = JE = OF

Wlasarmum Lirmuk

[

I-1§5 <=CB ™ 26 then U=3 1)
2-1f5 = CB " 2.Ethen U=CB " 2.8 1)

Vill. TOTAL REGULATORY CAPITAL TO COVER MARKET RISK

Total of Besidual Core Capital with "U™ {The amaount “J" & the
votE OT :EE JUE SIJ:: lE_E'I'I'.E"_.' CE: CE WnTn :!FI'.-E' 5_':|u1 !'.'.E'
resmiction 4 1) to cover Marker Hisks: W =08 + U]

Total Regulatory Capital o cover Market Beks (= D+W)
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REPORTING FORM NO. 3

Calulation of the Repurement for Regulatory Capital bo cover Overall Hisk relafed to

imterest mtes (in thousarnds of LER]
Eank
Fepzriing Penod
Faparting Oate
Mawirity Method
Fregared By
Fevieswed By

A CALCULATION OF WEMGHTED POSITIONS FOR EACH 20OME Code Amount
TaME 1-
Tatal Gompenassied VYWeighted Fositions for the Timesf mms of the Zon PPET1

Amournt of mcompensated YWeighted Long Posiions

Apnount of Uncompensated Weighted Short Positions

Compen=sted Weighted Fomition
Uncompensat=d Weight=d Po=ition

TOME 22

— 3 —

otal Compensated Weighied Fositions for the Timef mme of the Zone

Arnount of Uncompensated Weighted Long Positions

Amourt of Uncompen=ated Weighted Short Positions

Compensated Weighted Position

FREZ

Uneormpensated Weight=d Position

PPpk2

JOME 3

Total Compenseted Weichied Fo=itions for the Timef mme= of the Jone

m]a] {\._3

Armount of Uncompensated Weighted Long Foafions
Armount of Uncompensated Weighted Short Positions
Compensated Yeighted Position

FRES

Uncompensated Weightzd Position

SEphs

Zares: PPK = (FPKT1 + FFKTZ + PPKT3

tal Compensated VWeght=d Pos=iticrns for the Timeframes= of the thre=

PAK

Bl CALCULATION OF WENGHTED POEITIONS BETWEEN JONES

I- IMN ASCEMDING SRDER:

CFFSETTIMNG BETWEEN ZOKE 1 AMD ZOME 2
Cormpensated Fosition between FPpE] and PRPpE2

FEXZ 12

Femeining Uncompenzeied Fosdion of Zone 2

SEpkZz

Femaining Uncompensated Foadion of Zone |

SPpkZ]

CFFSETTIMG EETWEEN ZOME 2 AMD ZOME 3:
Cormpensated Position betaween PPRpEZZ and PPpE3

PPEZ 213

Femaining Uncompenssted Fostion of Zone

SFok

| L

Eernzining Yncompensated Foadion of Zone

R

QFFSETTING BETWEEM ZONE 1 AMD ZOME 3:

Compensasted Fosition between FPpEZ! and PPpE.Z3
Femaining Uncompensated Fosition of Zone 1
FEI'I'I!II'I il Jncompen=sted FD! ion D'- ::I'IE _:

PRz e

Ri
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CFEFSETTIMG BETWEEN Z0OKE 2 AND ZONE 1

Compenzated Fosdion betwvesn FPpEZ2 and PPpK FPEZ 21
Eemaining Uncompensated Postion of Zone 1 PPRkL
Farnaining \Jncompensatad Fosiion of Zone 2 E2

CFFSETTIMG BETWEEN Z0OKE T AND ZONE 3

Compenaated Fosdion between FPpEZT and PR3 PPEZ 13
Eernzining Yncompensated Foadion of Zone 1 ]
Fernaining \Jnocompenssted Fosiion of Zone 3 E3

Gl CALCLLATION OF AMAL REMAINING POSITION

Fnal Aemzining Pasition: PF={R1+E2+H3; FF

D1 GALCULATION OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR REGULATORY CAPITAL TO
COVER THE CVERALL RISKE. OF INTEREST RATES
FRE* 040 &1

FFE1 " D.20 52

PPREZ * 0.30 53

PRK3 ® 0.30 54
PREZ 1 * 040 55

PRKZ 23 =0.40 2B

PPEZ 13 = 1.6HD =7

FF* 1.00 58

The Feguirement for Aegulatory Capita VAT
WAZ=181+52+59+ 54+ 55+ 56+57+55)
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REPORTING FORM NO. 4

The Calculation of the Raquirement for Begulatory Capital to cover Owverall Risk related to imenest

r.|r|= Ininou=sanos ot _EH..l
Bank
Regorting Period
Reportng Diste
Curaton M ethod
Prepared by
A=vimwesd by

A CALCULATION OF WEIGHTED POSITIONS FOR EACH ZONE:

Codse

Amount

IME 1
Uncompensated Weight=d Long Positons
Uneormpensated Weight=d Short Posdions

Compeneatad YWaighted Position

FPE]

Uncompensated Weighted Positian

N E 7
LOME L

PFpE1

Uncompensated Weightsd Long Fosioons

Uncompensated YWaighwed Short Positions

Cormpeneated Yeighted Position

FRFZ

5
Uncompensated Weightzd Position

FFpk.2

MINE 3

Pl B =

Uncompensated Weight=d Long Posioons

Uncompensated Waighted Short Positions

Compgensated Weighted Position

FFE3

Uncompenseted Weighi=d Po=ifion

FRRi

B] CALCULATION OF WENSHTED POSITIONS BETWEEN ZONES:

I— IN ASCENDING ORDER
CFFSETTIMG BETWEEN Z0KNE 1 AND ZONE 2

Compenaated Foadion between FPpE] and PPREZ:

FRKZ '

Uneampansated Bsmaining Position of Zona 2

Unearmpensated Remaining Position of Zone 1
OFF3ETTIMG BETWEEN ZOKE 2 AND ZIONE 3

Comp=n=sted Po=tion betwesn FPpHE and PRRE3

L 23
Uncompensated Bermaining Fosion of Zone 3 FPpkKZ3d
Uncompensated Remaining Fosition of Zone 2 2
CFFSETTIMG BETWEEN ZOKWE 1 AND ZOMNE 3

Compen=sted Fo=dion between FPpZ! and PPpZ3 PREZ13

Uncompensated Remai ning Foation of Zone
Uncompensated Rermai ning Position of Zone d

Z- I DESCEMDING CRDER
DFFSETTIMNG BETWEEN ZOMNE 2 AND ZOMNE 3

Compenestad Fostion batwean FPpEZ ard PPpE3

Fermaining Incomgensated Position of Zone 2

Fermaining Uncomgensated Position of Zone 3

DFFSETTIMNG BETWEEN ZONE 2 ANDO ZONE 1:

Compeneated Fosition betwean FPpEZZ and PRk

Femaining Jncom tion of Zone 1
Femaining Jncom tion of Zone 2
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CFFSETTIMG BETWEEN Z0OKE T AND ZONE 3

Compenzated Fosdion between FPpEZ and PPpk.Z3

Famazining Yncompensstad Position of Zone |
Femaining Yncompensstad Fosition of Zone 3

Gl CALCULATION OF AMAL REMAINING POSITION:

Fnal Rernaining Pasition: PF = [RAR1 + A2 + AR3

FF

D1 GALCULATION OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR REGULATORY CAPITAL TO
COVER OVERALL RISE OF INTEREST RATES

SR F |:|_':
PPE2 ™ 0.30

PPEd ™ 0.30

=7

S

PPEZ v * 0.40

FPEZ 22 = 140

=5

FPIKZ 13 150
FF* 1.00

26
a7

The Reguirement far Aegulatory Capita
WAZ = (3] B2 SR3-BL L8R B8 5T
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REPORTING FORM NO. 5

The Requirement for Regultony Capital to Cover Market Risk related with the Imerest Fates

n thou=snds of LEK)
Bank
Regoring Period
Reportng Diste
Curaton Method
Freparad by
Aeviswed by

A) FOR THE SPECIFIC RISK:

- = 0 —
C20E ARIOUN

1l B=curtie=s 1msu=d by eligible m=ue= BE1 = (=h? + =h2 + sh3)
- From [ to & months sr=weighted 51 0.25%

- From B to 29 rnonths are weighted at 1.00%
- Chvar 24 rronths are weighted st 1.60%

21 W utual Rate Funds are weighted at 4.00%
31 Other 12su=rs ar= weight=d =t B 0[P

Total Reguest:- VA1 = R3] + ASE + AS3)

]

B] FOR THE OVERALL RISK
I- Dreerad |l rizk for each currency:
- Besed on the Forrms Jand 42 VATD = WAZ + Va3l

— 5N aa 4m . i A 58
- Brzmd on the Forms Sand 4 Wa&10 = (WA = WAS)

Total Request- VATD0 = E vall

WA TN

C] THE REQUIREMENT FORA REGULATORY CAFTAL TO DOVER INTEREST
RATES RISE:

Ui For the Specific Rizk:

2i For the Creerall Hisk

Taotal of the Requirerment for Beguletory Capiml- VA = [IVAT + VAT
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REPORTING FORM NO. 6

The Companson between tha Bank's Begulatory Capital and the Reguirement for Regulatory
Capatal to cover Market Risk relsied to Int=rest Rates (0 thou=ends of LEK

ank

Reporting Fencd
Regoring Date
Curadon M athod
Prepared by
Reviewed by

Amount

=]
HI.:I

A1ANMDUNT QOF REGULATORY CAPTTAL -
- Basad on :apu:nF.n_ Form Mo, 22X =0 +'W

B] THE REQGUIR EMENT FOIR REGULATORY CAPITAL

-

1- For the Trading Portfalio
- 3!52: on j‘IE :£FD'1I'E F:'_ f-.n E rar '.hi INTETEST r2tE rias
- For the risk of changes in markes prices of wariakle-incame securities:

- For the risk of setlament with the counterpary

mca|m e

=]

- For the n=k of =xcesding the imits regarding =igndicant naks
2- For tha Foraign Exchangs

F|

Their total: VE=QA =VBLVYE+VD+VE)

Total A=guirsmert for B=gulstory Capitel: ¥ = O+ YWF

] GOMPARION BETWEEN LAl AND (Hi

Jvarall Bate of Covarsge: £ = 100" GOy z

*inimum Cwverall Bate: 100%
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REPORTING FORM NO. 7

The Requiremant for Regulatory Capital to cover Market Risk rebted to Foreign Boxchange
transachons (in thousends of LEK
Bank
Regoring Feriod
Reportng Date
Curgton Method
Prepared by
ReviEwed by

Eequirement
for
Sagulstary

Capital
fd LA

Code Met Pasiton Weighting

A) COMPARISON BETWEEN

- et Global Fostion WO T
- 2% of Clobal Regulatory Capiml e

B] REQUIAEMENT FOR REGULATOHRY

CAPITAL
I WD = XA then
WO = VD - WA WD Bl
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REGULATION
ON
THE SIGNIFICANT RISK MANAGEMENT

Approved by Supervisory Council Decision No.78, dated 07.07.1999, amended
by Supervisory Council Decision No0.119, dated 01.12.1999 and No0.92, dated
05.12.2001.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

This Regulation is issued pursuant to Law N0.8269, dated 23.12.1997, “On Bank of Albania”
and to Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

Banks and branches of foreign banks that exercise banking activities in Albania are subjects
to this regulation. These entities, for the purpose of this Regulation, shall be called “banks”.

The purpose of this Regulation is to calculate and control the significant risk for a single
beneficiary, to avoid the negative financial impact on the bank as a result of the significant
risks on a single beneficiary.

This is fulfilled through simultaneously and permanently respect of:

3.1. A maximum ratio of 20% among all the risks that are taken from the bank during its
operations on any beneficiary and on its own regulatory capital as well;

3.2. A maximum ratio of 700 % between the sum of significant risk and the regulatory
capital of the bank, which to mean all risks incurred from operations concerning
the same beneficiary when their ratio against the regulatory capital of the bank is
higher than 10%.

3.3t A 30% maximum of total risks assumed by the bank during its operations with any
other bank and to its regulatory capital as well.

For the purpose of this regulation, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

4.1. risk means assets and off balance sheet items when these items are subject to
counterpart risk;

4.2. beneficiary? shall mean a person or affiliate in such relationships that financial difficulty
of one or more of them render financial difficulties in reimbursement.

Specific cases:

5.1. For bank related persons as well as bank employees, the risk shall be reported
quarterly directly to the Board of Directors.

The maximal level of risk for bank related persons and bank employees should be determined every
year by the board of directors®.

6.

ComposiTioN, CALcULATION METHOD

The established ratios in paragraph 3.1. and 3.2%.are comprised of:
6.1. regulatory capital calculated according to guideline “On the regulatory capital”;

* Changed by the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No.92, dated 05.12.2001

2 Changed by the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No.119, dated 01.12.1999

3 Point 5.2 is repealed by the Decision of Supervisory Council, No. 119, dated 01.12.1999
4 Changed by the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No.119, dated 01.12.1999
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6.2. risks related to asset and off balance sheet items.

For the purpose of calculating risk ratios, before weighting, from asset and off balance sheet

items:

7.1. shall be excluded those asset items that are used in regulatory capital calculation as
deductions;

7.2. shall be deducted the following:

7.2.1. allreserve funds calculated for covering potential losses,

7.2.2. guarantees and collateral taken, whether they are effective for a period no shorter
than the period the risk covers. These include the following:
securities issued by Zone A governments and central banks, EU and EU members
local or regional administrations;
deposits in cash at the lending bank, parent bank of the lending bank, or banks
controlled by the lending bank;
certificates of deposits or other instruments similar to ones issued by the lending
bank, parent bank of the lending bank or banks controlled by the lending bank;

. guarantees issued by a third party with the following characteristics.

A)® The third party is:

. Zone A central administration, institutions known and specialized in issuing guarantees
on the state behalf, especially for foreign trade purposes.

Zone A central banks;
International financial institutions.

B) risk shall be considered by the bank which profit from the guarantee, as arisk assumed
by the third party and not by the client. The guarantor bank assumes the risk of the
clientin any case;

C) the guarantee given by the third party should be direct and unconditioned.

The Bank of Albania shall ask a formal guarantee agreement and may disapprove its consideration.

8.

10.

Risks reduced by the reserve funds and both the assumed collateral and guarantees (pursuant
to point 7.2.2 of the regulation), shall be weighed according to the established rates of point
8 of the regulation “On capital adequacy” , approved by the Decision of the Supervisory
Council of the Bank of Albania, No. 58, dated 05.05.1999.

Banks shall report quarterly near the Supervision Department, Bank of Albania. In specific
cases, when Bank of Albania deems reasonable, Bank of Albania may ask submission of
reports at any time. Reporting shall be according to the attached forms, which are part of the
reporting system.

Control:

10.1. Banks must have an internal management and supervision system. This system
shall assess, control and meet at any time the ratios specified by this regulation.
Bank of Albania, whenever it deems reasonable, shall ask a written report on the
above system. Furthermore, this system shall be object of on site inspections
conducted by the Department of Supervision, Bank of Albania.

10.2. in cases when the bank does not meet the established ratios, it reports to the
Supervision Department, Bank of Albania, on more frequent periods being determined
by the Supervision Department. The bank is obliged to meet the established ratios
no latter than the first month of the next quarter;

10.3. in case that banks do not fulfill the obligations stated in paragraphs 10.1 and 10.2,
Bank of Albania shall act according to Law Nr. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in
the Republic of Albania”, article 44, article 45, paragraph 3.

5 Changed by the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No.119, dated 01.12.1999
8 Changed by the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No.119, dated 01.12.1999
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11.

12.

The Regulation No. 7/4, dated 26.02.1997, “On supervision norms for the maximum level of
credits” is abrogated.

This regulation shall enter into force 30 days following its publication in the official Bulletin of
the Bank of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
Shkélgim CANI
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REPORTING FORM NO. 1

MEASUREMENT AND CONTROL OF CONCENTRATION RISK (in millicas of

LEK)

Bank s neme:

Feporting period: ...

Reporting dare: ..

Prepared by (name, surnam e, signature)
Manager (name, sumam e, signature)

REGULATORY CAPITAL

AMOUNTS

REGULATORY CAPITAL AT THE BEGINNING OF THE
PERIOD-

ADDITIONS (+) ' EEDUCTIONS (-) DURING THE FERIOD:

FEGULATORY CAPITAL AT THE END OF THE PERIOL:

(20 per cent) OF THE BEGULATORY CAPITAL

(10 per cent) OF THE BEGULATORY CAPITAL

(70 per cent) OF THE BEGULATORY CAPITAL

CONCENTRATION RISK

Beneficiary’s name, | Gross risk classificadion | Secured uarantees | Wet risk for each
sumame and address | weighted with the and collateral benefidary
respectiverisk
0 20 0 1M}
per per per per
cent cent cent cent
i3 (6)
CONCENTRATION RISK
Bencficiary's name, surname and Total significant risk classification
address (in percentage)
e .'.'.':: i
TOTAL SIGNWIFICANWT RISE: ST L
MAXIMUM RATIO 600 per cent or 800 per cent
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REGULATION
ON
“BANK'S INVESTMENTS IN THE EQUITY OF COMMERCIAL
COMPANIES”

Approved with the Supervisory Council Decision No. 42, dated 06.06.2001.
Based on Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of Albania”, article 12, paragraph a, and Law
No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, article 31, paragraph 4 and article
33, the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania approved the regulation “On the bank’s investments
in the equity of commercial companies” (hereinafter it will be referred to as “regulation”).
ARTICLE 1

Subject to this regulation are banks and branches of foreign banks that exercise banking activities in
the Republic of Albania. Hereinafter, these entities will be referred to as “banks”.

ARTICLE 2

The purpose of this regulation is to establish a balance between the bank’s free activity to invest in the
equity of commercial companies and its obligation to comply with certain prudential ratios.

ARTICLE 3
For purposes of this regulation, bank’s investment in the equity of commercial companies shall mean
the purchase of shares of commercial companies that are non-banks or financial institutions, participation
as a shareholder in commercial companies for more than 10% of their capital, participation in a joint

venture or merging with other companies.

The approval of the Bank of Albania shall not be required for the following:

a) participation in a bank’s capital;
b) participation in the capital of a non-bank financial institution, either licensed or not by
the Bank of Albania;
ARTICLE4

The purpose of establishing these prudential ratios is to restrict bank from investing unlimitedly in the
capital of commercial companies, in order to prevent the bank’s uncontrolled exposure to inherent
risks.

ARTICLE 5
Banks are allowed to invest in the equity of commercial entities:

5.1 Without the approval of the Bank of Albania:

a) when the investment in equity is no greater than 10% of the capital of such companies;

b) when each of investments in equity does not exceed 15% of the bank’s regulatory
capital;

C) when the total investments in equity does not exceed 60% of the bank’s regulatory
capital

5.2 With the approval of the Bank of Albania:
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53

a)

b)

when the equity investment is greater that 10% but less than 50% of the capital of
the commercial company;

when the equity investment is greater than 15% but less than 25% of the bank’s
regulatory capital;

The equity investment exceeding the percentage described in paragraph 5.1.b shall be
deducted from the regulatory capital.

ARTICLE 6

The Bank of Albania approves investments in capital, provided in paragraph 5.2, when all the following
conditions are met:

commercial companies have shown a profit at least for the last two years, and their
capital is not lower than the initial minimal capital;

the bank’s capital adequacy ratio after the investment in a commercial company’s
capital is not lower than 12%.

when commercial companies are resident shareholders’ companies, listed at the
Shares Register Center.

ARTICLE 7

For purposes of compliance with the ratios provided in Article 5 of this regulation:

a)

b)

as regulatory shall serve the one being defined as described in the guideline “On the
regulatory capital” after the deductions provided in paragraph 5.3 are made;
each participation shall be evaluated based on its net accounting value.

ARTICLE 8

When banks do not meet the obligations provided in Articles 5 and 6, the Bank of Albania shall take
measures against them pursuant to Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of
Albania”, Chapter VIl “Infractions and Penalties”.

9.1

9.2

9.3

The app
shall be
charged

ARTICLE 9

roval for investment on equity, according to conditions prescribed in paragraph 5.2,
given by the administrators of the Bank of Albania. The Supervision Department is
to prepare the proposal for the rejection or approval of the request. For this purpose:

Each bank is obliged to send a request to the Supervision Department. The request will

include:
a)
b)

the company’s name, date of foundation and its activities;

supporting documentation:

the balance sheet and income statement for the last two years and the current year,
and a statement from the external auditor stating that the conditions provided in
paragraph 5.2.a are fulfilled;

the balance sheet, income statement, regulatory capital, risk weighted assets and
off-balance sheet items that certify the conditions provided in paragraph 5.2.b are
fulfilled;

any other additional information required by the Supervision Department.

By command of the director of the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania, a working
group consisting of the following shall be established:

a)
b)

the respective responsible examiner for the bank;
the examiner in charge during the last limited or full scope inspection;
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C) an analyst appointed by the director.

The working group is entitled to require any additional information no later than 3 days from the day of
its assignment.

9.4 The Bank of Albania shall respond within 10 days following the receipt of the complete
documentation, but no latter than 30 days from the receipt of the request.

9.5 For companies listed at the stock exchange, the response will be given within 5 days.
ARrTICLE 10

The regulation “On participation in the equity of commercial companies by banks and branches of

foreign banks”, approved by the Supervisory Council Decision no.107, dated 03.11.1999 shall be

repealed.

ARTICLE 11

This regulation shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin of the Bank
of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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12

1.3

2.1

2.2

GUIDELINE
ON
MANAGEMENT OF INTEREST RATE RISK

Approved by the Supervisory Council Decision of the Bank of Albania No. 61,
dated 05.07.2000

CHAPTER |1

GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 1

This instruction is issued pursuant to Article 3, paragraph 3 of the Law No. 8269, dated
23.12.1997, “On the Bank of Albania” and Articles 29, paragraph 1, letter “d” of the Law No.
8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

Subject to this Guideline are banks and branches of the foreign banks that exercise banking
activity in the Republic of Albania. Thereafter, these subjects will be referred to as “ the bank”.
The purpose of this Guideline is to provide recommendations regarding risk management,
which risk derives from bank’s position in securities, financial instruments trading portfolio,
and interest rate fluctuations, as well as to evaluate bank’s adequacy and effectiveness in the
management of interest rate risk.

ARTICLE 2

The risk coming from interest rate fluctuations shall include bank’s earnings along with the
economic value of its assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items.

Sound interest rate risk management involves the application of the following four basic
elements, which relate to the management of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet
instruments:

Appropriate board and senior management oversight;

Adequate risk management policies and procedures;

Appropriate risk measurement, monitoring and control functions; and,
Comprehensive internal control and independent audit.

oo

The specific manner in which a bank applies the above elements depends on the complexity and
nature of its activities and the degree of interest rate risk exposure.

CHAPTER 1l

BASIC ELEMENTS OF INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT

ARTICLE 3

Appropriate Board and Senior Management Oversight

3.1

3.2

In order to carry out its responsibilities, the board of directors in a bank should approve
strategies and policies with respect to the interest rate risk management, and should determine
the appropriate steps to be taken by the senior management to monitor and control this risk.
The senior management should evaluate whether the business structure of the bank and the
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3.3

34

interest rate risk exposure are managed effectively, and whether policies and procedures to
control and limit such risk are in place, and that there is adequate information to estimate and
control this risk.

The bank should define the personnel and the unit responsible for interest rate risk management
and should ensure appropriate separation of duties in key elements of the risk management
process in order to avoid potential conflicts of interest.

Banks should clearly identify duties, along with risk measurement, monitoring, and control
functions, which should be independent from position-taking functions in the bank. Reports
regarding risk exposure shall be submitted to senior management and board of directors.

ARTICLE 4

Adequate Risk Management Policies and Procedures

4.1

4.2

Banks shall clearly define interest rate risk management policies and procedures, their limits,
and ensure their consistency with the nature and activities of the bank. Interest rate risk
management should be complete and include each unit of the bank, as well as bank’s
overseas branches. It shall include other related risks as well. Interest rate risk management
policies and procedures shall be periodically reviewed, and modified when necessary.
Banks shall identify risks inherent in new products and services and ensure these are subject
to adequate procedures and controls prior to their introduction.

ARTICLE 5

Risk Measurement, Monitoring and Control

51

5.2

53

54

Banks should design interest rate risk measurement system, which capture all sources of
this risk and that assess the effect of interest rate changes in consistency with the scope of
their activities.

Banks shall establish operating limits and other practices that maintain interest rate risk
exposure within the levels determined in bank’s internal policies.

Banks should measure the sensitivity to loss under stressful market conditions, including
potential failure of bank’s major assumptions. The results of such measurement should be
considered when the policies and limits regarding interest rate risk have been reviewed or
updated.

Banks shall appropriate information systems to measure, monitor, control and report interest
rate risk exposure. These reports shall be periodically submitted to the board of directors and
senior management.

ARTICLE 6

Comprehensive Internal Control and Independent Audit

6.1

6.2

Banks should have an adequate system of internal controls over their interest rate risk
management process.

Afundamental component of the internal control systems involves regular independent reviews
and evaluations of the effectiveness of the system and, when necessary, ensures that
appropriate revisions and enhancements to the bank’s internal controls are made.
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7.1

7.2

CHAPTER 111

OTHER PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 7
The banks and foreign bank’s branches, in implementing this instruction, shall design a
complete regulatory framework for the interest rate risk management within 6 months after its
entrance into effect.

This instruction shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin of
the Bank of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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REGULATION
ON

“ADMINISTRATORS OF BANKS AND BRANCHES OF FOREIGN

1.1.

1.2.

1.3.

14

2.1.

2.2

2.3

2.4

BANKS”

Approved by the Supervisory Council with the decision No0.120, dated 30.12.2003

ARTICLE 1

GENERAL PROVISIONS

The legal basis of this regulation is Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On Banks in the Republic
of Albania”.

The terms used in this regulation are defined pursuant to Article 2, Law No.8365, dated
02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

For the purpose of this regulation, the term “bank” includes banks and branches of foreign
banks.

The purpose of this regulation is to define the requirements on professionalism and reputation
of persons conducting control dismissal and removal bank administration as well as restrictions
on their appointment, dismissal and removal.

The term administrator, as used herein includes:

1.3.1. Members of the Governing Council,

1.3.2 Members of the Audit Committee,

1.3.3  Executive Directors of the bank/ branch of foreign bank,

a. General Director of the bank/ branch of the foreign bank,
b. Deputy Director of the bank/ branch of the foreign bank,
C. Heads of departments.

For purposes of this regulation, administrators of branches of foreign banks, as defined in
Article 1, section 1.3.1 and 1.3.2, shall be referred by members of decision-making bodies
and auditing bodies of the head-office, who are not subject to this regulation.

ARTICLE 2

QUALIFICATION, REPUTATION AND EXPERIENCE

All candidates and administrators shall have an irreproachable reputation and shall meet the
moral and professional criteria established in this regulation.

All candidates and administrators shall have a university degree, preferably in economics or
jurisprudence.

Candidates for administrators having a university degree in a field other than economics or
jurisprudence, he/she should have at least five years of experience in the banking sector.
Candidates having an academic title/scientific degree in economics or jurisprudence must
satisfy the requirements of Sections 2.5, 2.6 and 2.7.

Administrators shall be selected based on professionalism and experience in:
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2.5.

2.6.

2.7.

3.1

3.2

the financial sector,

business of a size that approximates with the proposed bank (total assets)

academic field of economics or jurisprudence;

management of real estates;

auditing;

academic title/degree in the economic or juridical sciences.

Administrators defined in Article 1, points 1.3.1, 1.3.2 and 1.3.3, letters “a” and “b”, should
have at least three years of experience in exercising the activities and functions as provided
for in point 2.4 of this Article.

Administrators defined in Article 1, point 1.3.3, letter “c” should have at least two years of
experience in exercising the activities and functions as provided for in section 2.4 of this
Article.

Administrators defined in Article 1, section 1.3.2, apart from the requirements in section 2.4
of this Article, should have at least three years of experience in accountancy and/or auditing.

ARTICLE 3

REQUIREMENTS AND DOCUMENTATION

The submission of a candidate by a bank shall be made only after a candidate has been
approved in accordance with the following decision of:

a) shareholders’ assembly for members of the Governing Council and members of
Auditing Committee.

b) Governing Council for the administrators as defined in Article 1, point 1.3.3,

C) the decision-making body of the head office or its authorized person, for the

appointment of the administrators of its branch office.

The request, defining the position of the candidate, should be accompanied by the following
information:

a) a certified copy of the university degree, as a rule in economics or jurisprudence;

b) a signed CV, as per Application Form No.1 attached to this regulation;

C) detailed information on the candidate’s activities and business affiliations during the
last seven years, particularly those where the candidate had exercised significant
influence;

d) at least one reference regarding the candidate’s professional capacity (from supervisory
agencies, academics and/or previous employers);

e) personal declaration regarding the settlement of all taxation duties

f) personal declaration that the candidate, during his/her working activities has not

been involved in activities as provided for in Article 21, section 2, Law No. 8365,
dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”

g) personal declaration on the extent of material profiting interests or material relationships,
proposed or existing between the candidate-appointee and the bank.
h) 1) Albanian citizen candidates must provide penal records issued by the Ministry of

Justice of the Republic of Albania, as well as evidence from the Court and the
Prosecutor’s office, certifying that the candidate has no record of convictions, and is
neither subject to nor the subject of any legal proceedings.

2) Foreign citizen candidates must provide certificates issued by the relevant home
country authorities certifying that the candidate has no record of convictions, and is
neither subject to nor the subject of any legal proceedings.

i) Foreign citizen candidates should submit the information certified and approved by
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the Ministry of Foreign Affairs or by any other institutions as provided by the respective
legislation of the candidate’s home country. The information must be translated into
Albanian and certified.

)] Foreign candidates for administrator position must submit a copy of the request for
aresidence permit and labor permit to the respective Albanian organizations.

Once all this information is submitted and all the other requirements are satisfied, the Bank of Albania
will grant temporary approval (valid up to six months) for the administrator, who having taken this
approval is entitled to represent the bank. The approval for the appointment of the administrator shall
be issued only after submitting the official resident permit and labor permit from the respective

organizations.
ARTICLE 4
RESTRICTIONS
4.1 Existing administrators shall be relieved and candidates shall not be approved in the cases

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5,

4.6

4.7

4.8

51
5.2

53

54

55

5.6

provided for in Article 21, section 2, Law N0.8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic
of Albania”.

Approval shall not be granted to a person who has interrupted legal relations with a bank or
any other entity exercising banking activity due to infringement of laws or by-laws, abuse of
fiduciary duty and due to an inability to perform managing functions.

The Chairman of the Governing Council cannot be at the same time an administrator as
defined in Article 1, point 1.3.3.

Administrators as defined in Article 1, point 1.3.3, can serve at the same time on the Governing
Council, but they cannot constitute more than one third of its membership.

Administrators as defined in Article 1, point 1.3.3, cannot be simultaneously members of the
Audit Committee

Performing the function of administrator set forth in point 1.3.3 in more than one bank is not
permitted.

Administrators performing according to Article |, point 1.3.2 cannot be employee of Certified
Public Accountants firms.

Not more than two thirds (2/3) of administrators performing at Article 1, point 1.3.2 can be at
the same time members of the Governing Council.

ARTICLE 5

APPROVALS

Banks shall appoint administrators only upon receiving the approval of the Bank of Albania.
The Bank of Albania shall approve candidates within 30 days from the date of the receipt of
the complete set of documents as required herein.

The bank must inform in writing the Bank of Albania of any changes of approved administrator’s
position by submitting:

the appointment document pursuant to Article 3, point 3.2 of this regulation,

a CV filled in according to the Application Form No.1 attached to this regulation, in order to
assess the administrator’s experience.

The Director of Bank Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania may require confidentially
through the reasons for administrator’s leaving the bank.

The Director of the Bank Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania is authorized to
approve the administrator.

In the event of irregularities observed following the approval of an administrator, the Bank of
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6.1

6.2

7.1

7.2

8.1

9.1

Albania reserves the right to review the approval based on the recommendation of the Bank
Supervision Department and only with the approval of the Governor for a period no longer than
one calendar year from the date of the first approval.

ARTICLE 6

DENIALS

The Bank of Albania shall deny the approval in cases where the candidate does not satisfy the
requirements of this regulation.

The decision to deny a candidate shall be made by the Responsible Administrator at the

Bank of Albania. A copy of the decision shall be sent to the bank/branch of foreign bank
within 3 days from the date of the decision.

ARTICLE 7

REVOCATION

The Bank of Albania shall revoke its approval when:

a) Any one of the provisions in Article 5 of this regulation is violated, or;

b) The bank or the administrator submitted false information to obtain the approval of
the Bank of Albania.

C) Pursuant to Article 5, section 5.6 of this regulation, the Bank of Albania observes that

the appointment of the administrator has not been made in compliance with the
requirements of this regulation.

Revocation of the Bank of Albania’s approval shall be decided by the Responsible Administrator

of the Bank of Albania. A copy of the decision shall be submitted to the bank within 3 days
from the date of the decision.

ARTICLE 8

DISMISSALS AND REMOWALS

The Bank of Albania is empowered, pursuant to Article 44, point 2, letter “e”, Law N0.8365,
dated 02.07.1998 “On Banks in the Republic of Albania” and in compliance with the approved
regulatory framework, to order the dismissal and/or the removal of one or all administrators of
the bank/ branch of foreign bank, in case of infringements provided for in the law and/or the
legal framework adopted by the Bank of Albania. Such order shall be signed by the Responsible

Administrator of the Bank of Albania and be addressed to the decision-making body of the
bank.

ARTICLE 9

REGISTER OF ADMINISTRATORS

Every approval, revocation, dismissal and removal of the bank administrator pursuant to the
provisions of this regulation shall be recorded in a special register in the Supervision Department
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9.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

of the Bank of Albania.
Every denial or approval for a bank administrator candidate shall be recorded in a special list

in the Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania.

ARTICLE 10

FINAL PROVISIONS

Banks shall review the code of ethics for administrators no later than 60 days following the
effective date of this regulation.

Administrators approved by the Bank of Albania according to the regulation “On the requirements
to be fulfilled by the administrators of banks and branches of foreign banks” approved by the
Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, decision no.13, dated 17.02.1999 are not subject
to this regulation. The requirements of this regulation should be met for their reappointment.

The regulation “On the requirements to be fulfilled by the administrators of banks and branches
of foreign banks” approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, decision no.13,
dated 17.02.1999 and its amendments approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of
Albania, decision no. 17, dated 01.03.2000, shall be abrogated.

This regulation was approved by the decision no 120, date 30.12.2003 of the Supervisory

Council of the Bank of Albania and shall become effective 15 days after its publication in the
Official Gazette of the Republic of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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APPLICATION FORM 1
CURRICULUM VITAE

1. Personal information

Name:

Surname:

Date of Birth:

Place of Birth:

Citizenship:

Residence addresses (current):

Civil Status: ____ Married ___Single__ Divorced

2. Education
Starting from the secondary level

1. BMame of insttubon and address
From réar — 10 Fear T — 100

Diplormas or certificates obtainad
2. Mame of institution and 3ddress

From egr — 10 vasr TEME — TN

Diplomzs or certificates abisined

3. Foreign languages

Foreign languages Reading Speaking Writing

Mark evaluation from 5 -1 (5 = very well, 4 = well, 3 = fair etc)
4. Governing boards/professional associations membership

5. Training courses
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6. Work experience

Detailed description for each relevant post occupied, starting with the most recent employer.

Employmant penod (WA -bd WYY

Feascns for lesving

2. ermployad (]
_— I o self-employed D
vpe of employment £ unem ployed D
d. full-bme student o
Mamea zhd 3ddress of employer
Typeof DUSINESS L DLEDLIC O DIMYaTe)
Cooupation or position held
Besponsibilfies (detai led)
a. resignation »
b. curtailmant »
. C. rebrament (b}
Reasons for lsavng d. terminaticn of conTact (]
= gismissal (]
1. other | specity) D
Emaloyment penod (WA - BRI
d. employen o
Type of employment f' :?a:;gi';fu B
d. full-bme student O
Mame znd address of amployar
Type of business {public or privats!
Cocupstion or position held
Responsibilities {delailed)
4. esIgnaton ()
0. ouria Iment (B

o relrEment 1]

Name of the candidate
Signature
Date
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d. termingticn of oniact o
& dismissal o
1. othar {spedly ¥
Employmeant panod {WIBAY- MY
4. &Il el C
- 2. self-amployved C
wpe of employment
! ! . un=m ploy ed o
d. full-brme student ]
lams =nd socress of employer
Type of business |pulalic or privats
Cooupetion or postion held
Responsibilities {detailed)
2. resignaion D
D TS et o
s . L. el raement ]
Reascns for leaving 4. tarminaticn of contract D
a. dismissal (]
i other  [speafy) 0O



REGULATION
ON
THE AMOUNT AND FULFILLMENT OF MINIMUM INITIAL
CAPITAL ON THE ALLOWED ACTIVITIES OF BANKS AND
BRANCHES OF FOREIGN BANKS

Approved by the Bank of Albania Supervisory Council decision No.51, dated
22.04.1999

1. The legal basis of this regulation are Articles 8 and 26 of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998,
“On banks in the Republic of Albania”; as well as the regulation “On granting a license to
exercise banking activities in the Republic of Albania.”

2. Banks and branches of foreign banks licensed under the regulation “On granting a license to
exercise banking activities in the Republic of Albania” are subject to this regulation.

3. The purpose of this regulation is to define the fulfillment of required minimum initial capital of
banks and branches of foreign banks licensed before the publication of changes to minimum
initial capital by the Bank of Albania and to define the amount of capital for banks and branches
of foreign banks that request to exercise financial activities according to Articles 4 and 5 of the
Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

4, The Bank of Albania requires that the fulfillment of the minimum initial capital be completed
by banks and branches of foreign banks licensed before the publication of changes to minimum
initial capital by the Bank of Albania and for this purpose it will determine the time limits and
amounts through separate bylaws.

4.1. When the capital of a bank or a branch of a foreign bank is in Lek the required amount
to fulfill the minimum initial capital is equal to the difference between the amount of
the minimum initial capital defined in the latest publication of changes to the minimum
initial capital by the Bank Of Albania and the balance of Group 571 as described in
the “Bank Accounting Manual.”

4.2. When the capital of banks and branches of foreign banks is in U.S. dollars, the
amount required to fulfill the minimum initial capital is:

4.2.1. Initially, pursuant to the approval of the Bank of Albania, entities will transfer to the
paid in capital of Group 571 the amount of Group 574 “Difference of revaluation” as
described in the “Bank Accounting Manual”, which shows the difference in the U. S.
dollar exchange rate from the moment capital was paid to a given moment.

4.2.2. Therequired amount to meet the minimum initial capital shall be equal to the difference
between the amount of minimum initial capital defined in the latest publication of
changes to minimum initial capital by the Bank of Albania and the balance in Group
571, created according to Article 4.2.1 above.

5. Allowed activities pursuant to the amount of capital:

51 Banks which are licensed to perform financial activities as defined in Article 26, point
3 of Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”:

5.1.1. Continue to perform financial activities as defined in their licenses when their base
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51.2

5.1.3.

5.2.

521

5.2.2.

5.3.

54.

capital (as defined in regulation “On Regulatory Capital”) is not less than minimum
initial capital as defined in the publication of changes to minimum initial capital by
the Bank of Albania.

Are authorized by the Bank of Albania to perform financial activities under Article 26.4
of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania” when
their base capital is not less than twice the amount of minimum initial capital as
defined in the publication of changes to minimum initial capital by the Bank of Albania.

Are authorized by the Bank of Albania to perform financial activities under Article 26.5

of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania” when
their base capital is not less than three times the minimum initial capital as defined
in the publication of changes to minimum initial capital by the Bank of Albania.

Banks which are licensed to perform financial activities under Article 26.4 of the Law
No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”:

Continue to perform financial activities as defined in their licenses when their base
capital (as defined in regulation “On Regulatory Capital”) is not less than twice
minimum initial capital as defined in the publication of changes to minimum initial
capital by the Bank of Albania.

Are authorized by the Bank of Albania to perform financial activities under Article 26.5

of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania” when
their base capital is not less than three times the minimum initial capital as defined
in the publication of changes to minimum initial capital by the Bank of Albania

Banks which are licensed to perform financial activities under Article 26.5 of Law No.
8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”: may continue to
perform financial activities under Article 26.5 of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998
when their base capital is not less than three times minimum initial capital as defined
in the publication of changes to minimum initial capital by the Bank Of Albania.

In order to perform financial activities as defined in Article 26.4 and 26.5 of the Law
No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, entities subject
to this regulation should also present simultaneously to the Bank of Albania the
following:

i) Documents that certify the professional skills of bank’s employees who will
perform such financial activities;

ii) Information on the technical requirements needed for the management of
such financial activities;

iii) The evaluation of the impacts of such financial activities on the banks’

performance through financial projections for the next three years.

Pre-operational expenses and purchasing expenses, which in accounting are entered as
tangible fixed assets or intangible fixed assets, shall not be included in the paid minimum
initial capital.

The total amount of investment by banks or branches of foreign banks in buildings and other
tangible assets shall not exceed 25% of the regulatory capital. Any amount over this percentage
shall be deducted from the regulatory capital.

Banks or branches of foreign banks shall create their general reserves at 1 .25% up to 2% of
total assets and of risky elements not included on the balance sheet. This will be created by
deducting one fifth of the profit after paying taxes and before paying dividends.
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When the reserve fund falls below the required minimum as described above, banks or
branches of foreign banks are required to meet that minimum within two years.

Entities that do not meet the requirements established in this regulation after it is passed,
shall draft acceptable programs for their compliance with it where the latest time limit for
improvement shall be 30.09.1999. Such programs shall be presented to the Bank of Albania
within a month of the day this regulation enters into force.

Articles 44 and 45 of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of
Albania” shall apply to violations of this regulation.

This regulation enters into force immediately.

VICE CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Fatos IBRAHIMI
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12

REGULATION
ON
FOREIGN EXCHANGE ACTIVITIES

Approved by the Decision No. 64, dated 30.07.2003 and amended by the

Decision No. 101, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of

Albania.

CHAPTER |

GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 1

Legal foundation and the purpose of the regulation

This regulation is issued pursuant to Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On Bank of Albania”,and
Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

The purpose of this regulation is the establishment of the rules relating to the transactions on
the capital account and current account between residents and non-residents, inside and
outside the territory of the Republic of Albania, and vice-versa.

ARTICLE 2

Definitions

For the purpose of this regulation, the following terms shall mean:
Resident

a-

Any individual, if he/she is an Albanian citizen and has a permanent residence in the
territory of the Republic of Albania, according to the definition stated in Article 12 of
the Civil Code;

An Albanian diplomat and employee and their families nominated by the Albanian
Government working outside Albania in the Embassies, Consulates or International
Organizations that are not involved in the economic or commercial activities;

An individual, if he/she stays constantly or periodically in the Republic of Albania for
more than 183 days during a calendar year;

A legal and physical person, if it has its permanent headquarters in the Republic of
Albania.

Any foreign citizen that has a residence permit in the Republic of Albania issued
pursuant to the Law No. 8492, dated 27.05.1999 “On the foreigners”;

Individuals outside the Republic of Albania for business, studies, medical treatment

or other similar reasons, despite the duration, and that are registered in the Republic
of Albania.

Permanent headquarter
The location that is defined in the act of the foundation or establishment of the legal person in

compliance with respective law. It should also be considered as permanent headquarter the
branch, subsidiary or representative office of the legal person.

95



Non-residents
All persons (individuals, physical or legal persons) that are not included in the definition of
“resident” expressed in this regulation.

Instruments of payment in foreign currency shall mean each type of monetary instrument
in the form of banknotes, coins, checks, bills of exchange, promissory notes, letters of credit,
money orders or other payment instruments in foreign currency and paid in foreign currency.

Foreign currency shall mean financial assets in the form of foreign bank notes and coins, of
legal tender. They also include financial assets such as foreign currency accounts and deposits
in local and foreign financial institutions, which may be transferred through payment
instruments, for payments in foreign currency.

Convertible currency shall mean a currency that can be freely converted against another
currency in the international market.

Exchange rate shall mean the relative price of a currency expressed in units in another
currency, referred to a particular date.

Foreign exchange transaction shall mean to exchange, buy, or sell foreign currency in
cash through a personal account or that of third parties. The repayment of aloan in a currency
other than the one in which the loan has been granted or accepted, only unless stipulated in
the written agreement between the parties.

Foreign exchange market shall mean the market where the foreign exchange transactions
take place.

Gold and precious metals:
The standardized gold and precious metals.
The non-standardized gold and precious metals.

Standardizing of the gold and precious metals shall mean the unique form of gold
and precious metals accepted to be exchanged in the international gold market.

Precious metals shall mean platinum.

License to conduct foreign exchange activity shall mean the administrative act issued
by the Bank of Albania providing the right to the holder to conduct foreign exchange activities.

Contract shall mean a legal act through which, one or several parties may create, change or
cancel a juridical relation. The parties in a contract may freely design the content of the
contract, within the boundaries established by the legislation in force.

Monetary obligation shall mean the repayment of an amount of money in its nominal value,
unless otherwise defined by the law or the contract.

The licensed entities shall mean all the entities licensed by the Bank of Albania to conduct
the transactions defined in this regulation.

Foreign exchange market operators shall mean the Bank of Albania and entites licensed
by the Bank of Albania.

96



31

3.2

4.1

411

4.1.2

CHAPTER 1l

FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

ARTICLE 3
Types of foreign exchange transactions

Foreign exchange transactions are carried out through the transactions, which are included in:
a. Capital account, and in

b. Currentaccount

Resident and non-residents may freely exchange the foreign currency in local currency and
vice-versa as well as one foreign currency into another foreign currency through foreign exchange
market operators.

ARTICLE 4
Capital account transactions
Capital account transactions shall mean transactions performed between residents and non-

residents, which are recorded in the capital account of the balance of payments. Those
transactions are as follows:

a) directinvestments;

b) securities transactions;

C) credit transactions;

d) deposits transactions;

e) insurance and reinsurance transactions, when allowed by the Albanian legislation.

Directinvestment

Direct investments include:

a) establishment or expansion of a company that is fully owned by an investor,
establishment of a subsidiary or a branch, or purchase of an existing company that
transfers complete ownership of one investor to another;

b) participation in a new or existing company, when the investor owns or controls over
10% of the base capital of the company, or over 10% of voting rights;

C) aloan with maturity of 5 years or more, aiming at the establishment of the long term
economic relationship as described in letters “a” and “b” of this paragraph;

d) use of earnings from an existing investment in the same investment (earnings
reinvestment).

e) investment in the tangible assets for commercial or living conditions purposes.

Securities transactions

In order to meet this regulation requirements:

4.1.2.1 Securities shall be all the ownership financial instruments and interest rate financial
instruments.

4.1.2.2 Securities transactions shall mean all transactions for issuing, investing and listing of

securities, which represents the onset of trading securities of foreign entities in the

Republic of Albania, or securities of domestic entities outside the country. Such

securities transactions shall include the following:

issuing and listing securities of domestic entities outside the Republic of Albania;

investment by residents in securities outside the Republic of Albania;

issuing and listing of securities of foreign entities in the Republic of Albania;

investment by non-residents in securities of domestic entities in the Republic of

Albania.

2oze
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Credit transactions
Credit transactions imply the completion of a credit or borrowing agreement whose object is
money. Credit or borrowing agreements might be in the form of:

a) commercial loans that represent credits related to the international commerce and to
the offering of international services, where one of the parties is a resident;

b) household loans that represent loans involving persons that have legal hereditary
relationships, where one of the parties is non-resident;

C) financial loans, which represent loans despite those defined in the paragraph 4.1.1.c.

Financial loans include even loans for real estate purchasing (mortgage loans) and
financial leasing.

Deposits transactions

Deposit transactions shall mean transactions performed based on a contract, which involve
opening of current or deposit account from a resident bank to a non-resident one, or vice
versa.

Insurance transactions

Insurance transactions shall mean transactions performed based on an insurance contract

between a non-resident and a resident, or vice-versa, which may result in:

a) capital transfer from a non-resident (the insurer) to a resident (the beneficiary); and/or

b) capital transfer from a resident (the insurer) to a non-resident (the beneficiary), according
to the definition stipulated in the Albanian legislation.

For the purpose of this article, capital account transactions shall also mean the transactions
on transferring ownership of an investment on a legal basis.

ARTICLE 5

Current account transactions

Current account transactions shall mean all the transactions performed between residents
and non-residents, which are recorded in the current account of the balance of payments.

Payments and transfers for current account transactions include:

a) all settlements resulting from international trade, especially:
payments for purchases for reselling purposes, and generally any payment for trading
connected to re-trading;
any payments for the service provided in the field of: industrial, construction, mining,
transportation, insurance, storage, public shows, advertisement, consulting,
publishing and non handcrafted typography undertaking acts;
payments for any banking and exchange operation;

payments for all intermediary operations.
b) payments of loan principal and interest due;

C) unilateral capital transfers, which include the following:

cl Personal assets transfers shall mean assets transfer from/to the Republic of Albania
in the form of household loans, gifts, inheritances, repayments of obligations by
emigrants in his/her native land, transfer of an emigrant’s assets to a foreign country
following a court decision, incomes from gambling, and savings of persons employed
in the Republic of Albania who are not residents.

c.2 Physical assets transfer shall mean cash transportation of domestic or foreign
currencies, and securities, from and to the Republic of Albania (according to the
Instruction No.1 of this Regulation).

The licensed entities can carry out unilateral capital transfers for the account of residents and
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6.2.

6.3.

6.3.1.

6.3.2

6.4

non-residents, after the completion of the documentation that certifies the purpose of the
transaction defined by the entity itself.
d) Transfers defined in the Instruction 2, part of this regulation.

CHAPTER 111

CAPITAL TRANSFER

ARTICLE 6
Capital transfer criteria

Incoming capital transfers to the territory of the Republic of Albania may be carried out without
any restrictions by residents or non-residents.

The capital transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania for the account of the entities
themselves licensed by the Bank of Albania can be made with the decision taken by their
respective bodies.

The licensed entities can carry out the capital transfer from the territory of the Republic of
Albania for the account of their customers after the completion of the documentation defined
here below, as well as additional documentation that can be deemed reasonable by the
entities as follows :

for the physical and legal persons:

a) The request where should be explained the reasons for the capital transfer, its creation
source, amount of the capital that is required to be transferred outside Albania and
the address where this capital has to be transferred,

b) The document of the foreign entities that explains this transfer (if there will be such
document),

C) The decision taken by the decision-making body of the entity for carrying out the
capital transfer,

d) Court registration decision,

e) The certificate issued by the Tax Office certifying the settlement of the tax obligations
to tax authorities.

for individuals:

a) The request where should be explained the reasons for the capital transfer, amount

of the capital that is required to be transferred outside of Albania and the address
where this capital has to be transferred,
b) A declaration on the creation source of the capital that is required to be transferred.

For special cases provided in this paragraph, the capital transfer from the territory of the
Republic of Albania, by the licensed entities can be carried out after the completion of the
documentation defined for each case as follows:

a) when the capital transferred for investment purposes in Albania through a foreign
bank has not been used. Such a transfer is executed upon submission to the bank
the following:
the decision taken by the decision-making authority of the entity to halt the investment,
and the bank is certain the funds were not used as originally intended.

b) capital transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania, for an amount up to the
total of paid-in capital and earnings resulted from such capital investment, if this is
supported by the appropriate documentation (Law No. 7764, dated 02.11.1993, “On
Foreign Investments”). In this case, a certificate issued by the tax authorities showing
the amount of capital invested plus resulting earnings (after pay-off of all tax
obligations), and a decision from the appropriate authority of the entity on distribution
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7.2

7.3

7.4.

and use of such earnings, are required as additional supporting documentation;

C) interbank deposit transactions performed based on a contract, which involve
transactions in current or deposit accounts between a resident licensed bank and a
non-resident bank, or vice versa, between a resident bank and a non-resident financial
institution;

d) commercial loans with maturity up to one year, which are directly associated with
the international commerce and offering of services in international barter. The loan
agreement shall serve as supporting documentation;

e) foreign currency transfers coming from deposits of a non-resident, and related income.
In such cases, the bank statement certifying the amount transferred shall serve as
supporting documentation;

f) foreign currency transfer from the country by an Albanian emigrant when leaving the

Republic of Albania. In this case, the interested person shall submit to the bank one
of the following documents:

document certifying his/her foreign citizenship, or his/her residence permitissued by
respective authorities in the country where he/she resides;

other legal documents issued by respective authorities of the foreign country certifying
his/her residency in that country;

the document or the visa issued by representative authorities of the foreign country
certifying his/her permanent residence in that country.

g) The transfer of earnings deriving from a property or investment of an Albanian emigrant
who lives outside Albania. The interested person should submit to the bank one of
the documents described in the point “f”, as well as a personal declaration (or when
possible a document which certifies this) for the source of earnings that are required
to be transferred.

h) Capital transfer up to the amount of capital and profits resulting from sales, partial or
total liquidation of an investment. In this case, the sale document or liquidation
document issued by the court and the confirmation of paying-off tax liabilities shall
serve as additional supporting documentation.

ARTICLE 7
Outgoing transfers
The licensed entities carry out outgoing transfer transactions.
Each individual is entitled to freely transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania, the
equivalent in any other currency of the amount up to Lek 3.5 million, using the exchange rate
of the date of the transaction, within a time period of one calendar year. The transfer up to this

limit may be made in one time or in parts.
In order to carry out the transfer, the client shall submit:

a) an application request for funds transfer, specifying the purpose of such transfer;
and,
b) personal declaration that he/she complies according to the limit defined in paragraph

7.2 of this Regulation.

The documentation that should be completed regarding to commercial and non-commercial
transfers in foreign currency is defined in Instruction 1 and 2 of this Regulation.

For foreign payment transactions, international rules and agreements, interbank bilateral and
multilateral agreements, and banking custom, shall be applied in the Republic of Albania.
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CHAPTER 1V

INVESTMENTS AND NON-RESIDENTS" ACCOUNTS

ARTICLE 8
Securities investment
Non-residents may buy or sell securities in the Republic of Albania and exercise related rights, only

through a bank or an authorized financial institution acting as custody of securities, based on a contract
for securities’ custody services.

ARTICLE 9

Non-resident’s account
Non-residents may open accounts in local or foreign currency in a bank or branch of a foreign bank

licensed by the Bank of Albania, without any restrictions.

CHAPTER V

OBLIGATION FOR REPORTING

ARTICLE 10

The operators in the foreign exchange market, pursuant to Article 65 of Law No. 8269 dated 23.12.1997,
“On the Bank of Albania”, shall report to the Bank of Albania according to Instruction “On Reporting of
Foreign Exchange Transactions”, approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.

CHAPTER VI

PHYSICAL TRANSFER OF FOREIGN CURRENCIES, GOLD AND
PRECIOUS METALS

ArTICLE 11
Physical transfers of the foreign currencies at customs offices

111 Residents are entitled to freely transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania, an
amount of foreign currency in cash and traveler checks up to the equivalent amount of Lek 3.5
million. For the amounts over 1 million Lek, any resident is obliged to declare about the origin
of the money that he/she requires to transfer;

11.2 Non-residents and foreign citizens (residents) who visit Albania temporarily, are entitled to
transfer from the territory of Albania foreign currency in cash and traveler checks up to the
declared amount at the entry moment to Albania which should be justified with the presentation
of completed declaration and relevant additional documentation if there will be additional
documentation;
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Business people, such as Albanian physical and legal persons, are entitled to transfer from
the territory of the Republic of Albania at customs offices for any case they leave the country
amounts in cash or in traveler checks up to the equivalent amount of Lek 3.5 million in any
foreign currency. Along with the amount declaration, the business people should present to
the customs authorities the tax registration certificate.

ARTICLE 12

Physical transfer of gold and precious metals at customs offices

Residents and non-residents are entitled to transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania,
standardized gold and precious metals only through entities licensed by the Bank of Albania
in accordance with the definition in the license annex issued by the Bank of Albania. The
entities licensed by the Bank of Albania, which provides such a service, should determine the
documentation that should be completed.

Residents and non-residents are entitled to transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania,
non-standardized gold and precious metals at customs offices only after the completion of
the declaration related to:

Its source (origin), the transfer purpose, the quantity that needs to be transferred, returning or
not of the precious metals and the form in which this should be returned.

This documentation should not be presented in cases of jewelries of personal use.

Banks and branches of foreign banks are entitled to conduct gold and precious metals
transactions only after the Bank of Albania licenses them for such activity. The gold and
precious metals transactions from and to Albania are treated and performed in the same way
as for the foreign currencies.

CHAPTER VII

FINAL DISPOSITIONS

ARTICLE 13

Documentation submission and entities obligations

The required documentation in this regulation and the instructions that are its integral part
should be submitted to the licensed entity in original and it is certified by the entity itself
which should make the photocopy from the original and put a special (dated) bank stamp on
each photocopied sheet which gives the relevant validity to the document. In spite of the
above, for the customs clearance even the original should be stamped.

Residents and non-residents that carry out a foreign exchange transaction in the foreign
exchange market should be responsible for the authenticity of all submitted documentation.

The licensed entities are obliged to complete and keep all the documentation prescribed in
this regulation and instructions that are its integral part.

The Bank of Albania may decide about disciplinary and penalties sanctions in accordance
with Chapter VI of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”,
whenever the licensed entities do not comply with this regulation and the instructions that are
its integral part.
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14.2

14.3

ARTICLE 14
Integral part of this regulation are the following:
Instruction No.1 “On transfers of commercial transactions in foreign currency”.

Instruction No.2 “On transfers of non-commercial transactions in foreign currency”.

This regulation was approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania with Decision
No. 64, dated 30.07.2003, and enters into force 15 days following its publication in the Official
Gazette of the Republic of Albania.

The regulation “On Foreign Exchange Activities” and its instructions approved by the Supervisory
Council of the Bank of Albania with Decision No. 12, dated 21.02.2001, are abrogated.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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INSTRUCTION NO. 1
ON

TRANSFERS RELATED TO COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS
IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

1. Commercial transactions transfers for goods.

Commercial transactions transfers for goods, from the territory of the Republic of Albania by the same
entity during a working day, by physical and legal persons shall be carried out against submission of
the following documents:

1.1 When the payment is made in advance or prior to the arrival of goods in the Republic of
Albania:

a) the request for execution of the transaction, where the nature and the purpose of
transaction should be described and signed by the person who has presented the
request. In the above request, the entity should declare that the submitted
documentation is not used in the earlier period to justify the execution of other transfers;

b)? pro-forma invoice and/or the contract where the payment term is defined,

C) goods customs clearance;

c.1® in case of partial payment of the total amount, in compliance with the contract terms,
the deadline for the submission of the goods customs clearance should up to three
months after the payment is made. Subsequent transfers shall not be executed if
the customs clearance document of the previous funds transfer has not been
submitted. There are exceptions when the terms of delivery of goods, or the rendering
of services, are otherwise stated in the contract, but no more than 12 months.

c.2 in case of partial transfers, when it is operated with the customs storehouse, according
to the Customs Code, the subsequent payment will be executed only after submitting
customs clearance document to the bank for the cleared part of the goods, which
was under the customs storehouse regime.

The deadline for presenting this document is 12 months, starting from the import date. However, a
postponement of 12 months is allowed unless authorities that have such competences according to
the Customs Code accept this. After this period, no subsequent payment will be executed until the
custom clearance document is presented;

c.3 in cases of immediate payment of the contract amount, the maximum term for the
submission of the custom clearance document is 3 months after execution of payment.
There are exceptions when the terms of delivery of goods, or the rendering of services,
are otherwise stated in the contract, but no more than 12 months.

1.2 When payment is made after the goods are delivered in the Republic of Albania.
a) the request as described in point 1.1., letter “a”;
b) the customs clearance document.
13 For transfers in the market of goods that come under a transitory regime in the Republic of

Albania, the provisions of the Law No. 8449, dated 27.01.1999 “On the Customs Code of the
Republic of Albania” shall be applied.

14 In cases when the purchase and sale of the goods is carried out between two different
countries outside Albania and the goods are not delivered in Albania, but only the payment of

2 Amended by the Decision No. 101, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
3 Amended by the Decision No. 101, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
4 Amended by the Decision No. 101, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.

5 Amended by the Decision No. 101, dated 10.12.2003 of the Sﬁ&ﬂvisory Council of the Bank of Albania.



the goods is performed through Albania, the transfer can be executed based on the
documentation defined in point 1.1 of this Instruction. The requirement of point 1.1, letter “c”
is completed with the customs clearance document of one of these countries.

15 When the payment is performed as a pre-payment or before the goods arrive in the Republic
of Albania for amounts up to Lek 3.5 million or its equivalent in foreign currency accounted
with the rate of the day when the payment is performed:

a) The request for the operation performance, describing the nature and aim of the
performance, signed by the demander. The entity declares, in the same request,
that the presented documentation is not used previously to justify the performance

of other transfers.
b) Goods customs clearance pursuant to the cases described in point 1.1 letter “c”.
2. Commercial transactions transfers for services.
2.1 For commercial transactions transfers for any service case, in compliance with the specifications

defined in Article 5.2 of the regulation “On Foreign Exchange Activities”, the licensed entities
shall require from their customers the submission of the following documentation, specified
for each customer:

a) the request according to point 1.1, letter “a”,

b) the respective invoice of the entity or a document that certifies the purpose for which
the transfer is required;® and/or the respective contract and/or the respective
agreement.

5 Amended by the Decision No. 101, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
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INSTRUCTION NO. 2

ON

TRANSFERS RELATED TO NON-COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS

IN FOREIGN CURRENCY

The transfers of non-commercial transactions in foreign currency include the following:
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studies and audits performed by foreign companies;

courses, conferences and contests abroad;

studies and training sessions abroad;

medical and health services abroad;

technical expertise, commissions for construction planning and control,
implementation of projects and other plans;

electronic data processing;

technical and administrative planning;

rents on movies and television programs, and payments of copyrights;

current expenses of branches and representative offices of companies and banks,
Albanian or foreign diplomatic missions, commercial missions, peace-keeping troops,
cultural exchange programs and promotion of tourism. Such expenses may include
rent, operating expenses, etc.

patents and copyrights, salaries and regular wages, non-residents expenses of an
inconsistent nature;

financial lease for operation of equipment and machinery;

short-term financial lease (up to 1 year);

loan repayments;

pensions;

membership fees;

aid given to religious organizations;

transactions with international organizations;

various rents in favor of emigrants and non-residents;

family living expenses in compliance with Article 5, point “b” and “c”.

Non-commercial transfers transactions shall also include all other transfers similar to the ones
defined in point 1 of this Instruction.

In order to carry out transfers defined in this Instruction, the licensed entities shall require their
customers to submit the following documents:

b)

the request according to the point 1.1, letter “a” of Instruction No.1;

the certificate (if possible) issued by a competent authority which certifies the purpose
of the transaction in compliance with this instruction;

the certificate issued by the tax authorities for the settlement of the tax obligations
from the physical and legal persons.
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GUIDELINE
ON
THE LIQUIDITY OF THE BANK

Approved by the Supervisory Council with Decision No0.04,
dated 19.01.2000 and amended with Decision No.08, dated 12.02.2003.

ARTICLE 1

This guideline is issued pursuant to Article 3, point 3 of the Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997,
“On the Bank of Albania” and to Article 27, point 2, and Article 31, point 3 of the Law No.
8365, dated 02.07.1998, “ On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

Subiject to this guideline are banks and branches of foreign banks, which exercise banking
activities in the Republic of Albania. Hereinafter, these subjects will be referred to as “banks”.

For the purposes of this regulation:
Liability degree shall mean the bank’s ability or inability to withdraw from a contract.
A group of related depositors shall mean two or more depositors (individuals, physical
or legal persons) toward whom the bank has a liability arising from the collection of
their deposits, and which are interrelated in the following manners:

a) one depositor exercises control over the rest of the group, either directly or through
other persons; or,

b) their interrelations are such that financial difficulties for one depositor may cause
insolvency for the rest of the group; or,

C) they act in collaboration.

Banks should at any time be able to pay off their obligations. Bank liquidity management
involves planning for future inflows and outflows of their financial assets.

Banks shall maintain the liquidity within those levels, structure and ratios which allow them to
meet their obligations and commitments in a timely fashion, with reasonable costs and at a
minimum risk, while:

a) Ensuring interests of depositors, other creditors and their shareholders.
b) Carrying out normal bank transactions without any obstacles.
C) Avoiding any premature disposal of earning assets (such as securities, etc.)

Planning for liquidity shall be based on the accomplishment of two fundamental conditions:

a) Availability of an adequate information system; and,
b) A prompt posting of all the transactions in the general ledger.
ARTICLE 2

Through its information system, the bank shall classify its assets, liabilities and off-balance
sheet items, according to:

a) the maturity date of fixed term assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items;

b) the expected development of fixed term liabilities in relation with the possible volume
of deposits replaced from the creditor by the maturity date;

C) the depositor’s behavior in the past with respect to both demand and time deposits
under specific conditions;

d) the liquidity degree of assets with respect to:

i theirimmediate availability to cover fund outflows;
ii. their ability to be converted into cash from the Bank of Albania;
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iil. their tradability in the financial markets, whose size shall determine the
possibility to sell the required amount of assets for a price which corresponds
to their market value, or for a price higher or equal to their booking value;

iv. the potential of asset value decrease concurrent with the liability value
decrease;

the amount of deposits by a individual depositor or a group of joint depositors (see

paragraph 2 below);

the type and the degree of liability for off-balance sheet items given or received by

the bank;

the currencies in which assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items are denominated,

with special focus on Lek, convertible and non-convertible currencies.

ARTICLE 3

In order to ensure the necessary liquidity, the bank should concentrate its activity particularly on:

a)
.

i.
i

obtaining funds from stable sources within agreed terms,

diversification of funding sources according to maturity, type of bank instrument and
bank’s clientele,

implementing organizational measures aimed at an effective liquidity management
(assigning an employee of the bank with the liquidity management, introducing an
effective audit and internal control on the bank’s liquidity management, integrating
specific issues associated with the existence of bank’s branches abroad, subsidiaries,
etc.),

the degree of bank’s integration into the money market, short-term bonds issued and
traded in the market,

formulation of its commercial policy alongside with financial planning for funding
needs in order to avoid any potential deficiency in resources necessary for its
developmental plans, and to reduce any structural asset and liability shortcomings
resulting from differences between the maturity dates agreed and the actual ones,
maintaining a sufficient volume of highly liquid assets with respect to trades effected;
for the purpose of this regulation, highly liquid assets shall mean cash values, current
accounts with other banks, short-term deposits with other banks with maturity up to
7 days, treasury bills, short-term bonds of central banks and other similar instruments,
and excess reserves with the Bank of Albania,

drafting a contingency plan for unusual events which may threaten bank’s liquidity,
which is comprised of its compiling method and its terms of use including designation
of a responsible employee, identification and value (volume) of assets, which,
according to the plan, are held to promote and secure bank’s liquidity; the bank
should regularly update the contingency plan with respect to changing internal (asset
and liability structure of the bank) and external (situation in the interbank market)
conditions.

ARTICLE 4

The bank shall notify the Bank of Albania on:

the employee responsible for:

proposals for recommendations and implementation of the bank’s liquidity policy;
Daily monitoring of liquidity and preparing proposals for the bank’s management;
Reviewing the liquidity management, focusing on the identification of unjustified
high cash reserves and other highly-liquid assets held, which increase the costs for
the bank;

the body responsible within the bank for approval of liquidity policy proposals;

the body responsible within the bank for supervising and controlling the implementation
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3.

of the approved liquidity policy.

If the bank has one or more branches abroad or controls some other banks, it should adopt,
in a consolidated manner, its liquidity policy according to the established situation.

The liquidity management system is subject to regular controls from the bank’s internal audit
and the Bank of Albania.

ARTICLE B

Banks shall determine the total minimum amount Banks shall determine the total minimum
amount of liquidity sources or their specific categories in compliance with article 31, point 1
of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

Bank calculates certain liquidity ratios, which are: highly-liquid assets to total assets, the ratio
of highly-liquid assets to short-term liabilities, the ratio of net cumulative balance sheet position
(GAP) for a period up to 3 months, to total assets, as well as other ratios established by it.
The bank shall establish the degree and methodology of their calculations.

Liquid-assets minimally include the integrity of the following elements:

Monetary assets, other accounts in the central banks, T-bills and other re-financing bills accepted
by the central banks, relationship with the other banks, securities operations (net).

Short —term assets are minimally the integrity of the following elements:

Interbank operations (class 1), demand deposits (class 2), 10 per cent of current accounts of
credit outstanding (class 2).

ARTICLE 6

The bank shall report every month to the Bank of Albania on liquidity. In case the bank has an
unfavorable liquidity position, Bank of Albania is entitled to require reports more frequently.

The reports shall be compiled according to the enclosed sample reporting form.
ARTICLE 7

The report must be signed by two persons authorized to act on behalf of the bank and
responsible for the management of the bank as a whole.

The bank shall ensure the control for completeness and accuracy of data presented throughout
the report

Bank’s internal control shall require that, under specific circumstances, review the following:

a) whether the report compiling system is designed in such away as to truly reflect the
actual liquidity of the bank,
b) whether liquidity reports as of December 31 are correct and to verify such reports.
ARTICLE 8

Banks shall submit to the Bank of Albania the information described in paragraph 1 of Article
4, within 30 days from the date this regulation comes into effect.

Banks shall formulate the internal regulation that stipulates, according to this regulation, the
principles for composing the contingency plan for unusual events threatening bank’s liquidity.

Banks shall submit the internal regulation to the Bank of Albania, in accordance with the

* Changed by the decision No. 08, dated 12.02.2003 of the Supervisory Council.
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above paragraph 2, within two months from the date this regulation comes into effect. The
bank shall also submit to the Bank of Albania any amendments to the above internal regulation,
immediately after they are approved.

ARTICLE 9

The “Regulation on Liquidity Ratio”, approved by the Decision of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of
Albania No. 71, dated 02.06.1999, is abrogated.

ARTICLE 10

This guideline shall enter into force 15 days following its publication on the Official Bulletin of the Bank
of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
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GUIDELINE
ON
THE INTERNAL AUDIT IN BANKS AND
FOREIGN BANK BRANCHES

Approved by Supervisory Council with Decision No.107, dated 03.11.1999

CHAPTER |

GENERAL PROVISIONS

This instruction is issued pursuant to Article 12, letter “a” of the Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997,
“On the Bank of Albania” and Articles 17, 18, 19, 20 of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998,
“On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

The purpose of this instruction is the implementation of an effective internal auditing system
as an important factor for the management and administration of the banks.

Subject to this instruction are banks and branches of the foreign banks that conduct banking
business in the Republic of Albania. Thereafter, these subjects will be referred to as “the
bank”.

Definition:

“Internal audit system consists of a set of procedures, rules and structures which exist within
abank. They are designed to implement bank strategies and programs, to provide for efficiency
in banking operations, prevent losses (both administrative and operational), maintain a high
degree of accuracy in financial and management information, and ensure compliance with
laws, rules and regulations”.

CHAPTER I

PERFORMANCE OF THE INTERNAL AuUDIT

The basic principle for the functioning of the internal auditing system in a bank is its use
independently from administrative and management structures of the bank. To ensure this,
the following issues are to be considered:

5.1. The Governing Board shall approve the strategy and the policies for managing the
risks to which a bank is exposed and shall ensure that appropriate measures are
taken by the senior management in order to monitor and control the bank’s exposure
to these risks.

5.2. The administrators of the bank shall be responsible for the implementation of strategies
and policies approved by the Governing Board, through the process of identification,
measurement, monitoring and control of risks that a bank incurs.

5.3. The Governing Board and the senior management shall be responsible for the
establishment of high ethical standards in banking operations. All the bank employees
should be aware of their role in the internal auditing process.

54. An effective internal audit system requires an evaluation of internal and external factors
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5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

58.

5.9.

5.10.

5.11.

5.12.

that impede achievement of the bank’s goals and objectives. This includes all those
areas related to banking risk. Internal audit activity can be modified according to the
evolution of present risks and threats, as well as to the new ones emerging.

Internal audit activity, as a part of the daily operations of the bank, shall be transparent.
It should include auditing over each of the divisions or departments of the bank;
physical control over bank’s assets and information, evaluation of compliance with
laws, rules and regulations, verification and reconciliation of the financial information,
as well as periodic review of effectiveness of previous controls.

An effective internal auditing system requires an appropriate distribution of duties to
employees in order to avoid potential conflicts of interests and responsibilities.

An effective internal auditing system requires availability of adequate and complete

information in the bank regarding bank’s operations, market conditions and problems
affecting the process of decision-making. The information should be reliable, timely,
acceptable and consistent.

An effective internal auditing system requires effective modes of communication to
ensure that all the staff is fully aware of the policies and procedures, which will
affect their duties and responsibilities.

An effective internal auditing system requires the presence of an adequate information
system, automated or not, in order to assist the management of bank activities. This
system shall regularly be checked for accuracy.

An effective internal auditing system requires a consistent monitoring, in accordance
with the overall monitoring of the bank’s exposure to risks.

The banks shall have an effective internal audit system, which shall be performed by
competent and qualified staff. The internal auditing should report directly to the
Governing Board, the Audit Committee or the senior management of the bank.

Deficiencies revealed by the internal auditing shall be reported to bank managers

within the established timeframes. The same shall be applied regarding corrective
actions, when deficiencies result from the internal audit.

CHAPTER Il

TvyPES OF INTERNAL AUDIT

Depending on the ways or means the internal audits are performed, they are divided as

follows:

6.1.

6.2.

administrative audit;
risk management audit;
internal audit;

audit committee control

Administrative audits are exercised over the management of daily activities performed
by the bank, based on bank’s internal regulations where duties, functions, limits of
competence, etc., are determined. All the managers of the bank shall exercise these
audits.

Risk management audits include establishment of effective policies and limits, in
order to reduce the risk of losses in banking activities. All bank’s managers or the
management and control entities shall exercise these controls. The purpose of these
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controlsis the identification, measurement, management and monitoring of the bank’s
exposure to risks. In banking supervision, the following 9 types of risks are to be
considered: credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, market risk, exchange rate
risk, operational risk, the risk of noncompliance with regulations, strategic risk, and
the risk of reputation. The first seven are considered as direct risks. These are the
risks inherent in most part of the banking transactions. The last two are indirect risks.
These are present in almost every decision taken by bank managers.

Credit Risk represents the probability of failure by the debtors to meet their contractual liabilities
toward the bank. This risk accompanies the loan portfolio, investment portfolio, derivative contracts,
and the relations between bank and third parties.

Liquidity Risk represents the probability of failure by the bank to meet its contractual liabilities at
maturity, unless incurring unacceptable loss or expenses. Liquidity risk is present when bank managers
are unable to identify market changes, which may affect bank’s ability to sell off its assets within a
limited timeframe. This risk becomes present in case of inability to manage any unanticipated shortages,
or even changes, in the bank’s sources of funds.

Interest Rate Risk is caused by interest rate fluctuations. These fluctuations should be considered
from two standpoints. First, the accounting standpoint, which represents the effect of interest rate
fluctuations over the accrued interest income. Second, the effect of interest rate fluctuations over the
capital, which represents the sensitivity of bank’s market value, or the position of its own capital, to
interest rates fluctuations.

Market (Price) Risk relates to changes in the market value of the portfolio of financial instruments.

Exchange Rate Risk represents the risk arising from exchange rates fluctuations. This risk affects
the bank’s activities in foreign currencies, and particularly the accrued interests in foreign currencies
such as for loans, deposits, etc.

Operational Risk represents the probability that adversities may occur during the performance of
bank activities. This risk is inherent in all products and services that the bank offers. It depends from
the level of internal controls, information systems, work process and personality of employees.

Risk of Non-compliance with Regulations comes from non-compliance with laws, rules, practices,
or ethical standards. This risk is accentuated by vagueness in laws and regulations. It has the form of
penalties, fines or other penalizing measures.

Strategic Risk arises when inappropriate decisions are taken or when right decisions are
inappropriately applied. This risk is a function of matching bank’s objectives, methods and sources
employed to meet these objectives, with the managers’ ability to implement them.

Risk of Reputation relates to the impact that the adverse public opinion may have over the bank.
This risk affects bank’s ability to build new relations with customers and to develop the existing ones.

6.3. Internal audit unit, as part of the internal control system, shall provide for an effective
auditing over the application of policies, regulations, and procedures approved by
the Management Board, as well as ensure accuracy of information and effectiveness
of preventive actions taken against risks that the bank may face.

The purpose of this control is:
6.3.1. To ensure consistent compliance with limits established in laws, regulations and
internal policies of the bank in managing the risks that the bank faces during its

activity.
6.3.2. To verify the presence of fixed assets and related procedures in order to minimize
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6.3.3.

6.3.4.

6.3.5.

6.3.6.
6.3.7.

6.3.8.

6.3.9.

6.3.10.

6.3.11.

6.4.

potential loss, fraud or misuse.

To ensure compliance with bank’s legal obligations and decisions of the Board of
Directors, in cases of capital reduction and distribution of dividends.

To ensure compliance with standards for reports on capital adequacy, liquidity, large
risks and foreign exchange positions.

To control effectiveness of work performed by bank units in charge of protecting
from, and monitoring of, market risks.

To verify bank’s financial position with regard to the Profit and Loss account.

To ensure application of banking accounting manual procedures, compliance with
international accounting standards, accuracy and completeness of accounting records,
as well as availability and reliability of accounting information.

To control application of policies approved by the Board of Directors or the
management.

To verify that performance of banking operations, organization and internal policies
are in compliance with provisions of laws and regulations presently in force, as well
as with decisions and instructions issued by the leading bodies.

To ensure immediate correction of any violations to the law, providing written information
to the Governing Board and to the Bank of Albania on the violation and the respective
corrective action.

To control whether transactions performed by the bank affect adversely the regulatory
limits established by the Bank of Albania, such as the capital adequacy, liquidity,
large risks, assessment of loans, and computation of reserve funds, and whether
they are in opposition with the Albanian fiscal laws.

The Audit Committee shall perform controls based on provisions of Law No. 8365,
dated 02.07.1998 “On banks of the Republic of Albania”.

CHAPTER IV

OTHER ProvisiONs

The banks and foreign bank’s branches, in implementing this instruction, shall design a
complete regulatory framework for the internal control within 6 months from its coming into

force.

This instruction shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin of
the Bank of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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12

1.3

1.4.

15

REGULATION
ON

THE AUTHORIZED CHARTERED AUDITORS OF BANKS

Approved with decision No.06, dated 29.01.2003 and amended with decision

No0.102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.

ARTICLE 1

GENERAL PROVISIONS

In this regulation there are defined:

L The criteria and procedures on the approval of authorized chartered auditors being
appointed from banks;
L The scope of activity; form and content of both audit and auditing’ reports of banks of

the authorized chartered auditors.

The legal foundation of this regulation is composed of: Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On
the Bank of Albania”, Article 43, Letter c; Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On the banks in
the Republic of Albania”, Chapter IV, “ Accounts, auditing, inspection and reporting
requirements” and Law No. 7638, dated 19.11.1992 “On trade companies”.

Subject to this regulation shall be the banks and branches of foreign banks, licensed by the
Bank of Albania to conduct banking activity in the Republic of Albania, which thereafter will
be called “bank”.

For the purpose of this regulation, “the auditing performed by the authorized chartered auditor”

includes:

a- the auditing of basic financial statements, that thereafter will be called “financial
statements”, which are prepared by the bank in accordance with “International
Accounting Standards (IASs), except otherwise defined in the Law “On
accounting” and in the “Bank Accounting Manual”. The basic financial statements
are prepared to be published for general use;

b- the assessment of financial statements of particular character prepared by the bank
in accordance with the Bank of Albania by-laws;

c- the assessment of sufficiency, quality and implementation of the bank by-laws and
procedures.

According to written procedures of the bank, Audit Committee chooses and proposes
authorized-chartered auditor to the bank shareholders’ assembly.

Audit Committee assesses the reports of authorized-chartered auditor, prepared in accordance
with requirements of this regulation.

ARTICLE 2

* Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
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2.1

2.2

2.3

24

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

THE REQUIRED DOCUMENTATION

No later than July of every year, the bank informs the Bank of Albania on the authorized
chartered auditor being selected by the bank itself, to perform the auditing of annual financial
statements of the current financial year, and presents the request for approval to the Bank of
Albania.

Bank of Albania approves the authorized-chartered auditor when the proposed candidate is
an “Association of authorized-chartered auditor” being registered in the list of the Institute of
Authorized Chartered Experts (IACE), and when the requirements of this regulation are met.

For the approval of the authorized-chartered auditor, the bank presents to the Bank of Albania,

the following documentation:

i the decision of the bank shareholders’ assembly or of the organ which has been
delegated this right, for the nomination of the authorized-chartered auditor;

i auditing program;

i a commitment letter presented by the association of chartered auditors;

o the document that certifies the association of authorized-chartered auditors is
registered in the IACE’s list;

i the document from licencing authority that certifies that the association of chartered

auditors has an experience not less than 5 years on the audit expertise or that the
international auditing company, whom Albanian association of chartered auditors is
owned (subsidiary) and is contracted by it, has an experience not less than 5 years
on the audit expertise?.

The document shall be in Albanian, in original or certified photocopies. When the documentation
is in foreign language either the original or certified photocopy must be accompanied by the
certified translation into Albanian.

ARTICLE 3

THE APPROWAL OR REJECTION OF THE
AUTHORIZED-CHARTERED AUDITOR

The Bank of Albania, within one month from the date of the submission of the full documentation,
being required pursuant to article 2 of this regulation approves or rejects the appointment of
the authorized-chartered auditor of the bank. In case of rejection, the respective reasons will
be extended in written form.

In case the presented documentation is incomplete, the Bank of Albania informs the bank
within 10 days. The bank must complete the shortages within 15 working days.

The Director of the Supervision Department gives the approval of the appointment of the
authorized-chartered auditor. The Administrator responsible for Supervision Department of
the Bank of Albania gives the rejection of the appointment of the authorized-chartered auditor.

Refusal on the appointment of the authorized-chartered auditor happens, as well, when Bank
of Albania estimates that the authorized-chartered auditor has not operated in accordance
with or has not fulfilled sufficiently the requirements of article 4, article 5 point 5.1, article 6

2 Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
3 Paragraphs 3.3; 3.4 and 3.5 are amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of

Albania.
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35

4.1

points 6.1 to 6.4 and article 7 of this regulation.

The authorized chartered auditor and/or the bank, in case of refusal, has the right to appeal to
the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. The decision of the Supervisory Council of the
Bank of Albania is definitive.

ARTICLE 4

THE AUDITING OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The authorized-chartered auditor, appointed by the Bank of Albania, audits whether the financial
statements of the bank are prepared in compliance with the “International Accounting
Standards”, except otherwise defined in the Law “On accounting” and on the “Bank Accounting
Manual”.

These statements include:

424

43.

4.4,

515

5.2.

53.

54.

Profit and loss account (income and expenditure statement).
Balance — sheet

Capital changes report

Cash - flow statement

Notes to the financial statements
The auditing of financial statements, pursuant to point 4.1 of this article, is performed in
compliance with the international audit standards.

Based on the performed examination, pursuant to the point 4.2 of this article, the authorized-
chartered auditor presents an opinion, pointing out whether the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects of the assets, liabilities, capital, cash-flow, etc.

During the planning and the performance of financial statements auditing, the authorized
chartered auditor independently decides on the way of considering each document and the
business transactions, in order to give an accurate opinion on financial statements of the
performed audit.

ARTICLE 5

THE OPINION OF THE AUTHORIZED CHARTERED AUDITOR

Based on the audit performed on the financial statements of the financial year, the authorized
chartered auditor compiles the respective report on this audit, being exercised pursuant to
the International Audit Standards and presents this report to the bank’s management and
audit committee.

The bank’s management presents to the bank’s shareholders assembly the financial statements
being certified by the authorized-chartered auditor alongside with his opinion. The bank’s
management signs the financial statements being certified by the authorized-chartered auditor.

After the respective decision is taken by the shareholders’ assembly, pursuant to the definition
of point 5.2, the bank publishes in its official bulletin the balance-sheet, the annual financial
statements and the report of the authorized-chartered auditor.

A copy of the official bulletin of the bank, being published pursuant to point 5.3 of this article,

4 Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania
5 Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
8 Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
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6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.5

6.5.

6.6.

7.1.

7.27

shall be delivered also to the Bank of Albania not later than 6 months from the end of reporting
period.

ARTICLE 6

THE ASSESSMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF PARTICULAR CHARACTER

The authorized-chartered auditor reviews and assesses the financial statements of the bank,
which show the bank financial position at the end of financial year and/or of the intermediate
periods during the current year. These financial statements are compiled by the bank in
accordance with the by-laws of the Bank of Albania, including the overall statements of
bank’s reporting system.

The assessment of financial statements, pursuant to point 6.1 of this article, includes:

a) the verification of the accuracy of statements being compiled pursuant to the by-
laws of the Bank of Albania, that settle their way of compiling.
b) The verification of matching of the corresponding key positions on financial statements

with those on financial reports, pursuant to article 4 of this regulation.

In cases when the authorized-chartered auditor is unable to present an assessment based on
the results achieved from the inspection of financial statements, he makes comments on
each statement for which he might not give a positive assessment, and presents the
irregularities noted in the said financial statement.

The authorized-chartered auditor delivers his written assessment to the bank’s management
and audit committee for the assessment of financial statements being defined in this article.

The financial statements, being compiled in accordance with the by-laws of the Bank of
Albania alongside with the report/assessment of the authorized-chartered auditor pursuant to
the point 6.4 of this article, are presented by the bank’s management to the Bank of Albania
not later than 6 months after the end of reporting period.

Any financial statement of the bank will be preliminary signed by the managers of the bank.

ARTICLE 7

OTHER PROCEDURES OF AUDITING

The authorized-chartered auditor performs also the assessment of sufficiency and quality of
both by-laws and procedures of the bank and theirimplementation as well. This includes the
assessment of the authorized-chartered auditor for:

a) the organization and efficiency of the internal audit system of the bank;

b) the quality and implementation of the internal regulations of the bank for the
administration of assets and liabilities;

C) the organization of information technology system and its coordination with the targets

of both business and with the preservation of integrity of the data.
The authorized-chartered auditor requires and estimates the notifications of the Bank of Albania
on special issues of the bank’s activity.

7 Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
8 Amended by the decision No. 102, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
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7.3.

8.1.

828

8.3.

8.4.

8.5.

8.6.

The authorized-chartered auditor compiles a report where he expresses his own opinion and
assessment on the achieved results for the organization and efficiency of the internal audit of
the bank and on the quality of the bank regulations and their implementation as well. He
delivers this report to the bank’s management, audit committee and a copy of it to the Bank
of Albania as well, not later than 6 months after the end of the reporting period.

ARTICLE 8

FINAL PROVISIONS

The authorized-chartered auditor of the bank, approved by the Bank of Albania, performs the
auditing of the bank for a period not longer than three years following his appointment, in
compliance with the provisions of this regulation.

Pursuant to the request of the Bank of Albania, the bank’s management presents, for information,
to the Bank of Albania “The management letter” that, the authorized-chartered auditor compiles
for the top management of the bank. Issuance of “The management letter” is part of the
engagement letter.

A copy of the reports of the authorized-chartered auditor, prepared according to
requirements of the articles 5, 6 and 7 of this regulation and the assessments
of the audit committee as well are delivered by managers of the bank to the
Bank of Albania, not later than 6 months after the end of the reporting period.

Representatives of the Bank of Albania (Supervision Department), the authorized-chartered
auditor and the representatives of the bank, have regular periodic meetings.

L Before or after the end of the full inspection performed by the supervisors of the
bank;
L Under the circumstances when important decisions on the bank are taken.

The instruction “On the authorized chartered auditors of bank and foreign branches”, approved
by the decision No. 39, dated 16.05.2001 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania is
repealed.
This regulation was approved by the decision No. 06, dated 29.01.2003 of the Supervision
Council of the Bank of Albania and shall enter into force 15 days following its publication on
the Official Gazette of the Republic of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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GUIDELINE
ON
CERTIFICATE OF DEPOSITS

Approved by the Supervisory Council Decision of the Bank of Albania No.79,
dated 03.10.2001

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. DEFINITION

Certificates of deposits (CD) represent a special form of time deposits. They can be issued either
as nominal CDs or bearer CDs.

2. ISSUERS

CDs are issued by banks and branches of foreign banks licensed by the Bank of Albania to conduct
banking activity, and hereinafter will be referred to as “banks”.

3. MINIMUM AMOUNT

CDs are issued in Lek, US dollar and Euro.

The minimum amount for a CD issued in Lek is 50,000 Lek.

The minimum amount for a CD issued in USD is 1,000 USD.

The minimum amount for a CD issued in Euro is 1,000 EUR.

Banks can issue CDs over the minimum amount, but these must be in multiples of 10,000 for CDs
issued in Lek and multiples of 500 for CDs issued in USD and EUR.

4. TERM TO MATURITY

Term to maturity of a CD ranges from one month up to sixty months.

All CDs with a term to maturity of 1 to 12 months are considered short-term.
All CDs with a term to maturity of 12 to 36 months are considered mid-term.
All CDs with a term to maturity of 36 to 60 months are considered long-term.

5. INTEREST RATE

The interest rate can be:

o fixed (unchangeable) throughout the maturity term;

o adjustable according to some acknowledged ratings in the international interbank market;
o mixed, which is a combination of the adjustable and fixed rates.

6. INTEREST

The interest can be calculated at time of maturity and paid out at the end of the maturity term or it can
be calculated in advance and paid out when the CD is issued.

7. RESERVE REQUIREMENTS
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The Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania decides the reserve requirements for a CD.

8. CIRCULATION REGIME
8.1. On the CD of bearer

i All claims on the interest and settlement of principal at the end of the maturity shall rest upon
the CD bearer.

i Issuing banks formulate the internal procedures in order to establish the forms, features,

denomination, type, size, the size of multiples, settlement of CDs and in particular, the internal
procedures on the circulation regime and client information on the CD of the bearer.

9. RESTRICTIONS

Under no circumstances will the issuing bank liquidate the CD prior to its maturity date. The issuing

bank assists its client or the owner of the CD in liquidating the CD before maturity by:

i finding a new client who is ready and willing to purchase the CD at hand;

i finding a bank with which it has a mutual understanding about the early liquidation of a CD,
issued respectively by the banks.

In every case CDs are entered into books the issuing bank, which should settle the principal and
interest duly.

CHAPTER 2

ACCOUNTING IN RELATION TO CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT

1. CHART OF ACCOUNTS

CDs are classified in Class “Operations with clients”, section 27 “Obligations to clients on current
accounts and deposits”, and group 274 “Certificates of Deposits” in the chart of accounts.

The Structure of group 274 is presented as follows:

2741. Nominal Certificate of Deposits.

27411. Households.

27412. Private commercial and industrial units.
27413. Public commercial and industrial units.
27414. Bank employees.

27415. Other clients.

27419. Accrued interest.

2742. Bearer’s Certificate of Deposit.

27421. Principal.

27429. Accrued interest.

2. ACCOUNT RECORDING ASSESSMENT

All nominal CDs are recorded in the account 2741, whereas the CDs of the bearer are registered in the

account2742.
CDs calculated at time of maturity are assessed with the nominal value of the principal and are
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registered in the respective sub-accounts (27411, 27412, 27413, 27414, 27415, 27421).

The calculated interest is assessed as “prorata temporis” and registered in the respective accounts
(27419, 27429).

CDs calculated in advance are assessed with the price (the spread between the nominal value the
pre-paid interest) and are recorded in the respective accounts (27411, 27412, 27413, 27414, 27415,
27421).

The accrued interest is assessed “prorata temporis” and recorded in the respective sub-accounts
(27419, 27429).

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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DECISION
NO. 26, DATED 29.03.2000
ON
EXEMPTION OF SOME ENTITIES FROM THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE PROVISIONS OF LAN NR. 8365,
DATED 02.07.1998
“ON BANKS IN THE REPUBLIC OF ALBANIA?,
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 1, POINT 2 OF THIS LAW

The Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, following a proposal by the Supervision Department of
the Bank of Albania, and pursuant to Article 1, point 2 of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On
banks in the Republic of Albania”,

DECIDED:

1. To exempt from the requirements of the provisions defined in the Law “On banks in the
Republic of Albania”, those entities that perform lending activities, whose financial
sourcesoriginate from international organizations or governments of foreign countries in the
form of grants to develop small and medium businesses in the Republic of Albania, which
do not perform deposit collection activities.

2. These entities are obliged to report to the Bank of Albania according to the approved reporting
system.

3. The Supervision Department is in charge to implement this Decision.

4. The Department of Research and Publications is in charge to publish this Decision.

5. This Decision shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin of
the Bank of Albania.

SECRETARY CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Ylli MEMISHA Shkeélgim CANI
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REGULATION
ON MONEY LAUNDERING PREVENTION

Approved by the Supervisory Council Decision No. 10, dated 25.02.2004

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Article 1

This regulation is issued in conformity with Article No. 43 (c) of Law No. 8296, dated 23.12.1997 “On
the Bank of Albania”, Article 24 of Law No. 8365, dated 2.7.1998 “On Banking Law in the Republic of
Albania”, and Law No. 8610, dated 17.5.2000 “On Money Laundering Prevention”, amended by Law
No. 9084, dated 19.06.2003 “On some additions and changes in the Law No. 8610, dated 17.05.2000
‘On Money Laundering Prevention™(hereafter, Law “On Money Laundering Prevention”).

Article 2
Subiject to this regulation shall be all the entities licensed by the Bank of Albania based on the Law “On

Banking Law in the Republic of Albania”, hereafter being referred to as “the banks”.
For the purpose of this regulation the terms shall have the following meanings:

. “Responsible Authority” is the General Directorate for Preventing Money Laundering in the
Ministry of Finance;
. “Customers” include all the physical and juridical persons, and individuals that have performed

at least one transaction with the bank.

Article 3

The object of this regulation is to prevent the banks from being used for the purpose of money
laundering and financing of terrorism, and also to support the prevention of criminal activities in the
economic and financial field.

Money laundering and financing of terrorism can inflict damage upon the reputation of the bank in
particular and of the banking system in general. To avoid such consequences, it is essential that the
banks apply on a continuous basis the highest standards of prevention and detection.

IDENTIFICATION PROCEDURES

Article 4

4.1 To support the prevention of money laundering and the financing of terrorism, it is essential
that the banks know their customers. This concept of “Know Your Customer” includes a
thorough and formal procedure for the identification and understanding by the bank of the
normal business to be conducted by the customer.

4.2 Banks are required to carry out the identification procedures in accordance with Article 4 of

Law “On Money Laundering Prevention”. Full and accurate identification of the customer shall
be the responsibility and obligation of the bank. The bank may require additional information
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43.

4.4,

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

410

411

to identify the customer, if necessary. The bank shall identify the customer:

a. when he opens an account;
b. when he performs a transaction with the bank over the limit defined by the law;
C. when he performs a transaction with the bank below the limit defined by the law but

the bank finds the transaction suspicious.

When a person (individual) is not customer of the bank, but goes to it for the first time, and
wants to open a bank account, the bank makes the identification of that person through the
submitted documentation, which should be legally recognized and in case of any suspicion,
verifies it previously, being confronted with another document, for example: another banking
document, bankbook, driving license, etc., or with any public register, regardless the transaction
amount.

When an individual is not customer of the bank, but goes to it for the first time, and applies to
perform a single transaction (occasional) through it, the bank makes the identification of the
individual as provided in Paragraph 4.3, if the transaction amount exceeds LEK 2 million, or
when the individual’s transaction is one of a series of transactions which in aggregate exceed
LEK 2 million.

The Bank is required to apply the procedures on recording, identifying, verifying and reporting
of customer’s transactions pursuant to its internal regulations that are compiled in compliance
with this regulation and with the instructions issued by the Ministry of Finance, the Responsible
Authority, for the implementation of the Law “On Money Laundering Prevention”, being approved
by the bank’s Executive Board.

The internal procedures of the bank, being approved by the respective decision—-making
authorities, define the required documents for identification of the customer and for recording
of the data on his financial transactions, when opening an account and when performing
transactions with the bank.

The bank makes the identification of the customer on the basis of the legally recognized
official documents. The documents are submitted in original to the bank. The bank photocopies
them and keeps in the customer’s file their photocopies being sealed by it.

The bank is not allowed to open anonymous accounts, being either numbered or of fictitious
names of the customers.

The opening of an electronic banking account (e-banking account) is performed only in the
physical presence of the customer, to fully identify the latter. All the operations of the customer
through this account are subject to the requirements of point 4.3 of this regulation.

In case of customer’s representation with a legal representative (legal authorization), banks
require data on the identification of the legal representative as they do for any common case,
as well as its authorization to act on behalf and on the account of the customer. Banks keep
a photocopy of the authorization. In this case, banks are not allowed to open an account
without the physical presence of the person ordering its opening, while the other operations
are performed by the legal representative.

For customers who have already an account or other ongoing relationships with the bank, the
bank is required pursuant to its internal policy to update the validity of identification data of the
customer periodically, and immediately in case they deem that conditions of its customers
have changed.

For the identification of the customer as a juridical person, who goes to the bank for the first

time, banks require, at a minimum, information based on the following documents to identify
the customer:

126



412

413

414

51

52

6.1

a. the court registration act and chart of the juridical person;

b. the list of the shareholders with significant interests;

C. the list of the executive directors;

d. the list of the persons who act on the account of the juridical person, if they are
different;

e. the permission to conduct business activity from the respective authorities.

At the moment of the opening account, the bank makes the identification of the executive
directors of the juridical person, according to the provisions of Point “a”, Article 4 of the Law
“On Money Laundering Prevention”.

In case the person does not meet the bank’s requirements on identification, the bank rejects
the opening of customer’s account and shall not enter into a business relationship with him
until the identification requirements have been fully met. The bank shall notify the Responsible
Authority pursuant to the case.

If the bank either observes or proves the fictive identity even after a transaction is done, it
immediately interrupts any transaction with the customer and notifies the Responsible Authority.

Banks do not execute financial transactions if the customer refuses to declare the source of
the transaction amount for the values established by law and/or the identity of beneficiary.

REGISTRATION PROCEDURES

Article 5

The bank shall record data and details about every customer who performs financial transactions
on his own behalf or on behalf of third parties, at an amount exceeding Lek 2 million, or its
equivalent in foreign currency.

The bank shall record data and report to the Responsible Authority on every financial transaction
even below the value mentioned above, if the bank has reason to believe or suspects that a
transaction may involve money laundering or the financing of terrorism. The information collected
and retained about the transaction should contain sufficient details to allow the authority to
establish the full circumstances of the transaction. The bank through the customer’s
identification should retain the information regarding such suspicious transaction.

Data recording is made pursuant to the requirements established by the Responsible Authority.
The bank has the right to ask for clarifications and make verifications about every transaction

in order to find out the source of the money used for the transaction and the beneficiary of the
transaction. The bank must keep a record of the known facts.

DEADLINE FOR KEEPING DOCUMENTATION

Article 6
The bank shall keep and preserve the documentation presented for the customer’s identification

since the opening of the account and including all subsequent transactions, for a period not
less than five years from the day the customer interrupts the relationship with the bank (account
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6.2

6.3

7.1.

7.2.

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

closure).

The bank shall keep the records of data and the documentation about each transaction,
including the customer’s data, independently of the fact the transaction is performed either
on his own behalf or on behalf of third parties, for all transactions at an amount exceeding Lek
2 million, or its equivalent in foreign currency, together with all the supporting documentation,
for a period not less than five years from the date of the transaction.

The bank shall keep the records of data and the documentation about each transaction,
including the customer’s data, independently of the fact the transaction is performed either
on his own behalf or on behalf of third parties, for the amounts below Lek 2 million, or the
equivalent in foreign currency, together with all the supporting documentation, for a period not
less than five years from the date of the transaction, when there are suspicious elements on
which the bank has reported to the Responsible Authority.

REPORTING TO RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY

Article 7

Banks are required to compile their internal procedures for reporting the suspicious transactions
to the Responsible Authority.

When a bank is requested, either by a customer with an account relationship or an occasional
customer, to carry out a transaction and the bank has reason to believe or suspects that the
transaction may involve money laundering or the financing of terrorism, it shall immediately
report the matter to the Responsible Authority, pursuant to the procedures established
throughout the internal guidelines of the bank and seek guidance as to whether proceed with
the transaction or not.

The bank shall refuse to proceed with the transaction, if the Responsible Authority so instructs.

In any case when the bank has reason to believe or suspects that a transaction may involve
money laundering or the financing of terrorism, it should retain all records of the case and
report it in writing as soon as possible, but not later than 72 hours, to the Responsible
Authority, in accordance with the procedures set out by this Authority. A copy of the suspicious
transaction report should be sent to the Bank of Albania (Supervision Department), for
information.

Banks should immediately inform the Responsible Authority in every case when they have
information or suspicions that a transaction has as its source, derives from, or is used, or is
intended to be used to foster support, facilitate, protect, incite, or hide terrorist acts or the
financing of terrorism or the perpetration of criminal activities in the economic and financial
field.

Banks do not perform any financial transactions when there are reasons or facts to believe
that they are related with money laundering. Banks in these cases shall immediately inform
the Responsible Authority and about every case, not later than 72 hours.

Banks are required to develop internal procedures for dealing with suspicious transactions.
The responsible officials in the head offices, branch offices, and agencies shall examine the
known case announced from an employee who has identified a suspicious transaction and,
if they find it substantiated, they notify the Responsible Authority in the Ministry of Finance as
soon as possible, but not later than 72 hours after the suspicious transaction has been identified,
in accordance with the relevant procedures laid down by the Responsible Authority.
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7.7 The bank shall also retain any additional information to be reported to the Responsible Authority;,
which is provided only by the authorized administrators of the bank.

7.8 Banks shall report to the Responsible Authority about all cases of one or several financial
transactions in cash and/or transfer of funds for the amounts greater than Lek 20 million, or
their equivalent in foreign currency, in compliance with the “reporting form” compiled by the
Responsible Authority.

7.9 Banks, when receiving electronic transfers, should provide information on the sender of the
money (name, address and the account number). In case this information is not complete,
they shall inform the Responsible Authority.

7.10 Banks shall inform the Responsible Authority on all suspicious money laundering cases and
on the transactions over the amounts specified in Paragraph 2 of Article 5 of the Law “On
Money Laundering Prevention” and its amendments on the banking activities presented in the
Annex 2 of this regulation.

7.11  The bank should have adequate policies and procedures pertinent to any specific risk associated
with the business transactions and relations that are carried out in the absence of the customer
or his representative.

RELEVANT BANKING STRUCTURES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Article 8

8.1 Banks are required to set up the necessary structure and infrastructure for the prevention of
their use as a way of money laundering, deriving from illegal activities, in accordance with
Article 7 of Law “On Money Laundering Prevention”.

8.2 Banks are required to establish an internal procedure on identifying and signaling the suspicious
transactions, being formalized in its internal regulations and approved by the Board of Directors.
This written procedure must be distributed to all relevant staff.

8.3 The bank branches operating in the Republic of Albania shall record all the financial transactions
of each customer for the amounts greater than Lek 2 million, or its equivalent in foreign
currency. Meanwhile the Head Office keeps all the reports presented by the branches of the
bank as well as the summarized data about its whole network throughout Albania.

8.4 Banks shall compile their internal policies and procedures on the prevention of money laundering,
as well as an annual training program for their employees on this issue. Copies of these
documents, as well as their subsequent changes, are submitted to the Bank of Albania,
immediately after their approval.

8.5 Banks must periodically inform their employees about any change of the legal procedures on
the punishment of the criminal act of money laundering, as well as on their obligations to
apply these changes.

Article 9
9.1 The bank shall assign a person or persons responsible for ensuring that the bank’s obligations
for combating money laundering and the financing of terrorism are fully met. These responsible

persons should be empowered of both sufficient authority and required experience to effectively
carry out this duty. The responsible persons should maintain regular contacts with the
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Responsible Authority and the Bank of Albania.

9.2 Banks shall inform the Responsible Authority and the Bank of Albania on the name of the
contact person, responsible for reporting, being committed to the implementation of the
bank’s obligation to combat money laundering and the financing of terrorism.

Article 10

The bank shall establish and maintain a database on its customers, providing information about their

economic and financial characteristics, to help its employees to assess and identify transactions that

are potentially linked with illegal activities.
Article 11

11.1  The bank shall be attentive to cases when certain branches demand cash supply, or cases of
cash transactions exceeding by a big difference the usual demands on the basis of the
characteristics of the area and local customers.

112  The banks shall draw up policies aimed at increasing the volume of transactions through
account operations and the introduction of new banking products, such as payment
instruments, which increase the interest of the public to become bank customers and perform
their operations through banks. The target is cash reduction.

Article 12
The bank’s employees are obliged to keep the confidentiality of the reporting process related with the

money laundering and the financing of terrorism, and are prohibited to inform the customer on the
verification procedures of the suspicious case and on the report intended to the Responsible Authority.

SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENTS

Article 13

13.1  The Bank of Albania, in exercising its role of banking system supervision, shall monitor the
implementation of Law “On Money Laundering Prevention” and of this regulation as well.

13.2  The Bank of Albania shall report to the Responsible Authority on the cases that it considers
suspicious during the banking supervision process.

13.3  The Bank of Albania shall assess the adequacy of the bank’s programs and that of the internal
control system for money laundering prevention.
Article 14
141 For all the violations identified from the Bank of Albania, which are subject to sanctions and
disciplinary measures by the Responsible Authority, the Bank of Albania reports to the latter
and submits the full documentation of violation ascertainment. It might inform the Responsible

Authority at the moment of the violation ascertainment and then act together.

14.2 For all the violations identified from the Bank of Albania, in case they are not subject to
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punishment or disciplinary measures by the Responsible Authority, the Bank of Albania applies
punishments or disciplinary measures in compliance with Article 44, of Law No. 8365, dated
02.07.1998 “On Banking Law in the Republic of Albania”.

14.3  The Bank of Albania selects and appoints the receiver of the bank and revokes its license in
case there are reliable facts that the bank’s administrators are involved in illegal transactions,
such as money laundering and/or the financing of terrorism, have committed grave fraudulent
acts or have personally benefited and caused considerable damages either to the bank or to
third parties.

Article 15

The Guideline “On Money Laundering Prevention” issued with decision of the Supervisory Council No.
102, dated 29.12.2001, is abrogated and superseded by this Regulation.

Article 16
This Regulation, including the Annexes 1 and 2 hereto attached, is approved by the decision of the

Supervisory Council No. 10, dated 25.02.2004, and shall enter into force 15 days following their publication
in the Official Gazette of the Republic of Albania.

Shkélgim Cani
CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
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ANNEX 1

SUSPICIOUS TRANSACTIONS

The banks shall make a full analysis of all available information and assess the operations to check
whether there is a need for signaling to the Responsible Authority an account or transaction as being
suspicious. The assessment is made on the basis of the analysis of data, which to a professionally
prudential entity should give rise to a doubt about the illegal origin of the money, wealth, or material
assets, which are object of the operation, or of their use to support, incite, or hide terrorist acts or the
financing of terrorism.

The operations, which display objective anomalies, might ultimately prove to be justified and
unsuspicious if assessed in the light of the data possessed by the bank.

The following list comprises a number of operations with which the banks should deal, as they might
result suspicious operations. However, it is not a final list and should be used only for guidance.

1. Anomaly indicators in operations carried out in all banks

11

12

13

14

15
1.6
17

18

Operations, which in connection with the entity executing them, consist in an unusual
amount or are economically unjustifiable.

Operations of the same nature, repeatedly carried out at the same branch or agency
in a such a way that lead to suspicions about illegal targets.

Operations carried out continuously on behalf of the third parties that never appear
personally at the bank, when such operations do not derive from evident operational
or organizational request of the customer, and, especially when justifications and
pretexts which cannot be checked (for instance, illness, business commitments,
etc.) are brought forward for consideration.

Operations, whose data are clearly inaccurate or incomplete, or such that lead to
suspicions about deliberate hiding of essential information, particularly pertaining to
the entities interested in the operation.

Operations with bank related persons.

Complex, unusual and huge amount transactions.

Transactions with foreign banks in the countries of banking or financial paradise, with
countries that allow the opening of anonymous accounts or whose legislation does
not either consider or classify the penal act from which the money or wealth have
generated as a penal act for money laundering.

Transactions with companies known as “Offshore”, with persons being implicated in
the announced lists as financiers of terrorism, with companies and persons involved
in financial scandals or other grave crimes.

2. Anomaly indicators in cash operations

2.1

2.2

2.3

24

25

Demands, which are frequently made, and for big amounts of checks against cash
payments.

Withdrawals or payments of huge amounts in cash that the customer’s activity is
unable to motivate (particularly when the paid amounts are transferred after a short
lapse of time or with data and destinations that are not associated with the customer’s
normal activity).

The frequent use of huge amounts in cash to effect payment orders (on behalf of
third parties), without acceptable reasons associated with the customer’s normal
activity, particularly when the transaction is performed abroad.

Frequent payments in cash made in such way that the amount of specific operations
does not attract attention, while the total amount results to be considerable (for
instance, separate payments into several accounts).

Operations of cash payments and withdrawals, which are different from the
instruments and means of payment that are usually used in the economic activity
conducted by the customer.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

29.

2.10.

211

Frequent operations of cash foreign exchange, in other currencies for considerable
amounts, particularly if they are not performed through the current account.
Exchanges of a considerable amount of banknotes or coins with banknotes or coins
of a different denomination.

Frequent purchases of huge amounts of coins and banknotes with commemorative
values for numismatic purposes.

Buying and selling of the winning tickets of bets, lotteries, casinos tickets, sport
lotteries, etc.

Buying and selling of properties (houses, cars, equipments, etc.) registered over the
real market value.

The banks should also pay particular attention to the transactions and/or remittances
of physical money and to equivalent instruments among financial institutions, or to
transactions among financial groups, and the transactions related to tax authorities.

Indicators of anomaly in securities operations

31

3.2

3.3

The purchase and/or deposit of huge amounts of securities, when this does not
comply with the financial condition of the customer.

Cash collection or depositing — even with credible guarantees — of considerable
amounts of domestic and foreign securities, particularly if their spread is limited,
when the operation does not appear normal in view of the customer’s characteristics,
or when no acceptable justifications are given on the origin.

The negotiation of securities for cash collection or the purchase of other securities
(shares, bonds, public securities, etc.) and the operation is not performed through
the current account used by the customer.

Anomaly indicators in foreign transactions

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

The transfers, including the electronic ones, of huge amounts to or from other countries
through cash payment order, especially when not being channeled through an account
or when the characteristics of the operation, including the foreign country of the
origin or destination of the amounts, are not justified by the economic business
conducted by the customer, or other circumstances.

Operations with local offices or branches of the financial institutions located in the
vicinity of geographic areas known as areas of drug trafficking or as “offshore centers”,
and which are not justified by the economic business conducted by the customer.

The use of other trade financing systems to transfer amounts among countries and
the relevant transaction is not justified by the usual economic business conducted
by the customer.

Frequent payments of traveler’s checks, securities, or other financial instruments in
foreign currency, without reasonable justification.

Several transfers to a specific destination, various transfers to a common beneficiary,
regardless of the amount.

Anomaly indicators in operations and other services

51

5.2

5.3

The repeated use of security containers or storage services, or frequent deposits and
withdrawals of sealed packages, that are not justified by the usual business
conducted by the customer.

Authorizing the third parties to operate with the security containers in cases when
this third party does not belong to the immediate family of the holder, or is not related
with them on basis of cooperation or other kind of relationship, which would have
justified this authorization.

Giving the guarantees by the third parties, who are not bank customers, to which
insufficient data are provided about the relationship with the beneficiary customer, or
reasons that justify the release of such a guarantee.
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54

5.5

Buying or selling huge amounts of currencies, precious metals, or other assets without
evident justification and/or in accordance with the customer’s financial condition.
The request, which a customer presents to the bank, to provide financing to another
legal person, to whom the customer offers a real guarantee (for instance, real estate
or securities) in case the relations between the given customer and the other legal
persona are not justifiable.

Anomaly indicators in account history

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

Accounts, which are not used for normal personal operations or related economic
activities but to withdraw or pay considerable amounts, which on the basis of available
elements are not justified or connected with the account holder and/or his activity.
Accounts, which have been passive for a long time or have been little active and,
which, without reasonable justification, are reactivated with operations in huge
amounts, or which have short time ago received, all of a sudden, huge amounts of
crediting, especially if they come from abroad.

Accounts, which present a very high active surplus that does not comply with the
usual transactions of the customer, especially if it is transferred to an account abroad.
Accounts, which include a big number of payments for amounts obtained without
reasonable justification.

Accounts, which include transactions that are not justified by the customer’s activity
(for instance, frequent payments of checks — particularly when they contain repetitive
elements — by a legal person, who is not engaged in financing activity).
Economically abnormal structuring of the relationship, which the customer has with
the bank, for instance, many unjustified accounts opened with the same bank, frequent
transfers of amounts through different accounts, or balancing, within a short period
of time, cash payments with withdrawals in the same account or deposit, voluntary
acceptance of unfavorable terms and conditions, which do not concur with those on
the market.

The customer might open several accounts and effect frequent transfers of funds
through them.

Anomaly indicators in customer’s behavior

7.1.

7.2

7.3

7.4

7.5

7.6

7.7

Customers, who seek to restructure the transaction when the presented configuration
since the beginning implies types of identification and recording, or completeness
of investigations or verifications from the mediator’s personnel, or the adoption of the
restrictive clauses on the freedom of titles circulation (for example, the reduction of
the transaction value to lower than Lek 2 million, or its equivalent in foreign currencies,
to avoid identification).

Customers, who refuse, or who without justification hesitate to provide information
about the transactions, declare their activities, submit the accounting documentation
or other documents, report on the relations with the other banks, and present
information, which under other circumstances, would make the customer suitable to
obtain the credit or other bank services.

Customers in economic difficulties, who, suddenly, seek to partially or fully pay their
obligations through sudden payments of big amounts, without evident justification
and without identifying the origin of the funds.

Customers, who avoid direct contacts with the bank’s personnel, by issuing power
of attorney to third parties, frequently and unjustifiably.

Customers, who without any justification, have numerous accounts and carry out
transactions of huge amounts in cash through each of them or are found to have,
without acceptable reasons, accounts opened with many financial institutions in the
same area.

Customers, who, without reasonable justification, go to a bank office, which is far
away from the area in which they live or conduct their business activity.
Customers, who insist to keep accounts, which appear to be administrated by third
parties, (for instance, accounts which disclose transactions that are not related to
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10.

7.8

7.9

7.10
711
7.12

the activity of the account holder or at an amount, which does not correspond to the
volume of his business, or accounts nominated in favor of administrators, subordinates,
or customers, used by companies or entities to perform payments or withdrawals in
cash, or through other financial instruments).

Customers or their representatives, who submit identity documents of suspicious
origin.

Customers, who are publicly known to have a criminal record.

Customers, who give the address of a third person as their own address.
Customers, who carry out transactions with unusual partners.

Failure of the non-residents to justify their transactions with bank accounts by submitting
the relevant documentation.

Anomalies in operations of physical persons with government securities

8.1
8.2

8.3

8.4

Frequent purchases of considerable amounts of government securities.

Transfers of higher value than usually, more frequent or not typical of government
securities obtained through the Bank of Albania and made by one or more physical
persons.

Purchase and immediate offer for sale before maturity of government securities,
obtained through the Bank of Albania, in big amounts and under circumstances
which do not appear to be usual compared to the normal way this activity takes
place.

Abnormal trading of government securities in big amounts and repetitively on behalf
and with the expenditure of a third party, by submitting a power of attorney, or on
behalf of the persons under 18.

Money laundering through involvement of bank’s employees

9.1

9.2

A big, unmotivated change in the living conditions of a bank employee: a sudden
change to a luxury lifestyle.

A change in performing the duties, such as the immediate increase of the size of
cash transactions.

Transactions of foreign exchange bureaus

101

10.2

In the international practice, the foreign exchange bureaus are being increasingly
used for money laundering, as it is difficult to identify on basis of the transactions
these bureaus perform the source and the origin of the exchanged money.

The existence of the informal market facilitates irregular transactions.
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ANNEX 2

List of transactions
a) Transactions of capital account:
i) direct investments
ii securities operations
iif) credit transactions
iv) interbank deposits transactions
V) security transactions abroad and out of the jurisdiction of the Republic of Albania,

when these operations are allowed from the Albanian legislation.

O

Capital transfer from abroad into the territory of the Republic of Albania.
Capital transfer from the territory of the Republic of Albania abroad.
Current transactions.

One side capital transfers:

i) personal assets transfers

ii) physical assets transfers

o 0
—_

D

f) Non-residents securities investments.
9) Residents accounts abroad.
h) Non-residents accounts.

i) Transactions of payments abroad.
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GUIDELINE
ON
CONSERVATORSHIP AND RECEIVERSHIP

Approved by Supervisory Council Decision of the Bank of Albania No. 45, dated
12.06.2002
GENERAL PrROVISIONS

This guideline is issued pursuant to the Law no.8269 dated 23.12.1997, article 12, paragraph
a, and the Law no. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, article 1 and Chapter VIII.

The purpose of this guideline is to establish rules, procedures and obligations for the parties
when a bank is on temporary administration, conservatorship or receivership.

The following terms shall have the following meanings:

° “Bank” — juridical person licensed by the Bank of Albania to engage in banking
business.

o “Conservatorship” — taking possession and control of the bank because of evidenced
circumstances defined in Article 48 of the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

o “Conservator”- a person appointed by Bank of Albania to take possession and

control of the bank because of evidenced circumstances defined in Article 48 of the
Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

o “Receivership” — forced liquidation decided by Bank of Albania pursuant to respective
provisions of the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”
° “Receiver’- the person appointed by Bank of Albania to take possession and control

of the bank and to carry out the process of liquidation decided by Bank of Albania
pursuant to respective provisions of the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”

CONSERVATORSHIP

The Governor of the Bank of Albania takes the decision to put the bank under conservatorship
when:
The ratio of bank’s regulatory capital to its risk - weighted assets and off - balance
sheetitemsis less than 50 percent of the required minimum ratio of capital adequacy
and no improvements occur after the expiration of the term determined by Bank of
Albania.

The aim of the conservationship is to return the bank in normal conditions and the capital

adequacy ratio not to be inferior to the required minimum determined by Bank of Albania.

The conservator appointed by the Governor have all the powers of the administrators, executive

directors and officers of the bank, pursuant to the authority given by Bank of Albania.

The conservator is subject to rules and regulations issued by Bank of Albania.

The conservator, within 30 days from his appointment, takes possession of all the assets,

properties and archive documents of the bank. Responsible people, managers and suspended

officers of the bank and the conservator sign the report of delivery.

After the appointment, the conservator promptly takes all the necessary actions for the safety

of bank assets, which at least should be the follows:

- Change the rules of entering the building of the bank and the areas where the valuables,
documentation, information, furniture, etc, are stored via changing locking devices
and limiting the number of the persons that have access in those areas;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

- Change passwords or create new ones for the computers of the bank allowing the
access only for a limited number of trusted people;

- Issue new access cards for authorized officers on some areas of the bank and control
the movements of other officers on those areas;

- Suspend the competence of the individuals that can act on the behalf of the bank
and authorize a limited number of officers for this purpose; notify third parties of
these changes;

- Inform correspondent banks, registers, securities agents and persons that manage
assets on the behalf of the bank under conservatorship that all the authorizations
given by the bank until his appointment are suspended and the new authorizations
will be given to a limited number of persons, whose identity will be made known;

- Stop the payments of dividends or other forms of capital distribution for the shareholders
and the payments for the administrators, except the payments for their services at
the bank.

The conservator has the following tasks:

a) organize the work and return the bank to normal conditions. For this purpose he:

- makes the reclassification of asset quality,

- concentrate the bank’s activity in low risk transactions (treasury bills purchase or
other securities with 0 risk), placements on banks with excellent or very good evaluation
from international rating agencies and other activities similar to these,

- evidence non-performing assets, among those evidences non-performing loans and
takes actions for their legal reimbursement;

b) design a plan for bank’s recapitalization after separating non-performing assets and
present the plan to the supervisory authority;

C) negotiate together with the shareholders the possibility of merging with another bank
or sell the recapitalized bank;

d) If the application of a) and c) items is not possible, the conservator proposes to the

Bank of Albania to commence receivership procedures.

During the period of conservatorship, all the transactions that do not have the authorization of
the conservator shall be void and of no effect.

The conservatorship shall cease at the expiration of 12-month term from the date specified
in the decision ordering the conservatorship, and when the Governor of Bank of Albania
decides so:

- upon the recommendation of the supervisory group that the bank can operate normally;
- upon the decision of Supervisory Council to liquidate the bank revoking its license.

RECEIVERSHIP

Supervisory Council decides to put under receivership and to revoke the license of the bank

when one or more of the following circumstances exists:

L The court has decided for the liquidation of the bank after a lawsuit of bank creditors
was presented, pursuant to Article 51 (c) of “On banks in the Republic of Albania”
(forced liquidation).

L The Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania decides so based on “On banks in the
Republic of Albania”, Articles 44, paragraph 2/g and Article 51, paragraph 1 (forced
liquidation).

The appointed receiver follows these steps:

a) Make the evaluation of the bank by a certified public accountant, approved also by
Bank of Albania;
b) Design the program for the implementation of the receivership process.

The receiver, within 30 days from his appointment, takes possession of all assets, properties
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16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

and archive documents of the bank and sends a copy to the Bank of Albania. Responsible

people, administrators and suspended officers of the bank and the receiver sign the report of

delivery.

After the appointment, the receiver promptly takes all the necessary actions for the safety of

bank assets, which at least should be as follows:

- Change the rules of entering the building of the bank and the areas where the valuables,
documentation, information, furniture, etc, are stored via changing locking devices
and limiting the number of the persons that have access in those areas;

- Change passwords or creates new ones for the computers of the bank allowing the
access only for a limited number of trusted people;

- Issue new access cards for authorized officers on some of the bank areas and control
the movements of other officers on those areas;

- Suspend the competence of the individuals that can act on the behalf of the bank
and authorize a limited number of officers for this purpose; notify third parties of
these changes;

- Inform correspondent banks, registers, securities agents and the persons that manage
the assets on the behalf of the bank under receivership that all the authorizations
given by the bank until his appointment are suspended and the new authorizations
will be given to a limited number of persons, whose identity will be made known;

- Stop the payments of dividends or other forms of capital distribution for the
shareholders, payments for the administrators, except the payments for their services
at the bank.

- Put in the bank the notification “On receivership”.

The receiver on the process of receivership has the following tasks:

- Provide the sale of bank assets with the best price possible through auction or tender
procedures;

- Provide that resident and non-resident creditors which are similarly situated are treated
in the same manner;

- Prevent the untimely payment of creditors;

- Provide transparent procedures while collecting and distributing information;

- Acknowledge the rights of the creditors and to respect the priorities;

- Design procedures for insolvency abroad and to acknowledge the procedures of that
country;

- Provide quick and efficient liquidation of the bank, covering the maximum of claims.

The receiver is vested with full power of administration, management and control of the bank.

The Governor of Bank of Albania, pursuant to the provisions of article 55, paragraph 1 of

“On banks in the Republic of Albania” approves or refuses the request of the receiver for:

19.1. the sale of any asset of the bank having a value that exceeds 1 percent of total
assets;

19.2.  the creation of a security interest in any asset of the bank in favor of a creditor who
extends new credit to the institution in an amount that exceeds 50 million lek;

19.3. the compromise of any claim if its amount exceeds 50 million lek;

19.4.  therelease of any claim if its amount exceeds 5 million lek, according to the criterions
determined by the Governor of Bank of Albania;

19.5. the payment of any claim in which case all depositors and creditors who are similarly
situated shall be treated in the same manner.

The receiver, after 1 month from the date of the decision of receivership presents a program
of steps for the process of receivership and reports at least every month in Bank of Albania,
Supervision Department, about the implementation of the program or presents reasoned
propositions for changes.

The receiver shall report each month in Bank of Albania, Supervision Department, the asset
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22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

and liability statement and the income and expenditure statement, within 10 days from the
end of the month. Such reports shall include information concerning the actions taken by the
receiver, the aggregate amount of claims against the bank, the aggregate amount of assets
of the bank that have been sold, and projections of future selling of assets.

TEMPORARY ADMINISTRATION

Pursuant to article 44, paragraph 2/f of “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, the Governor of
Bank of Albania can choose one of the managers of Bank of Albania to temporary take
possession and control of the bank according to the modalities of conservatorship on this
guideline. Temporary administration, according to this article, cannot have a longer term than
12 months. When the temporary administration terminates, new managers will take over the
bank.

SUPERVISORY GROUP

In cases when are evidenced one or more circumstances defined in article 48 and/or 51,
paragraph 1 of “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, with the order of the Governor will be
composed a supervisory group which will act according to Annex 1 attached to this guideline.

The task of the supervisory group is the supervision of the process of conservatorship of the
bank and/or the procedures of receivership of the bank. The supervisory group consists of at
least 5 employers of Bank of Albania, supervisors, lawyers, and officers from other departments
of Bank of Albania. This group is not permanent. It will be composed case - by - case and the
head of this group will be the Vice-Director of Supervisory Department.

The supervisory group, in cooperation with Public Relations Department of Bank of Albania,

prepares an announcement for the media about the decision of Supervisory Council of Bank

of Albania to revoke the license of the bank and to commence the receivership procedures.

This announcement aims to:

- Assure the depositors that their deposits will be properly administrated;

- Safeguard the credibility of all banking system;

- Assure the public that the receivership process will be continuously supervised by
Bank of Albania.

The supervisory group will work until the process is over (conservatorship or receivership).

The supervisory group, based on the information collected, prepares a material concerning
the situation of the bank and presents it to the Supervisory Council of Bank of Albania with
respective recommendations. The supervisory group informs every month the managers of
Bank of Albania about the progress of the bank under administration or the progress of
receivership process. On special cases, when deemed necessary, the supervisory group
reports on shorter term to the managers of Bank of Albania.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Governor of Bank of Albania chooses and appoints the conservator and the receiver. The
candidate should meet the following criterions:

a) Have a good reputation;

b) Have experience for a period not inferior to 5 years in one of the following sectors:
banking, credit, financial, real estate and insurance financial institutions;

C) Have a university diploma, preferably on economics or law;

d) Declare that he is not subject of any of exceptions defined in Article 62, paragraph 2
of “On banks in the Republic of Albania”

e) Declare that he does not have a conflict of interests with the bank as Article 62,
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29.

30.

3L

32.

33.

34.

paragraphs 4 and 5 provide.

Documentation required for the approval of a conservator or receiver:

a) a notarized copy of the university diploma;

b) asigned CV that includes general information, permanent and temporary addresses,
education, qualifications, professional experience and a detailed description of
positions held by the proposed conservator, foreign languages and their proficiency;

C) permission document of permanent residence for foreigners;

d) two letters of recommendations from administrators of banks or other entities where
the candidate was employed, which include assessment of the professional expertise,
correctness and determination in complying with laws;

e) clearance certificate from the Justice Department of the Republic of Albania and
good conduct certificates from the court and prosecution office, or a certificate that
no legal case is opened according to Law 7905 dated 21.03.1995 “On Code of Penal
Procedures of the Republic of Albania” and Law 7895, dated 27.01.1995 “On the
Penal Code of the Republic of Albania”; for foreigners the clearance certificate should
be issued from the country of origin;

f) statements of payment of personal taxes and business taxes for the business where
he/she has an influencing participation for three-year period (if applicable);
g) personal statement that certifies that during his/her employment activities, he/she

had not committed any activity that violates cases provided in “On banks in the
Republic of Albania” NJo. 8365, dated 2.7.1998, Article 21, paragraph 2 and Article
6 paragraph 1/a, b and c.

The conservator or the receiver can be revoked or substituted by the Bank of Albania, with
Governor’s decision.

Bank of Albania, with Governor’s decision may appoint as a temporary conservator one of its
employees, with same competences and duties as those provided in law and guideline, as
long as it choose and appoint a conservator.

Temporary administrator, conservator or receiver payment shall be in charge of the bank that
is under temporary administration, conservatorship and receivership. Their payments will be
equal with that of the general manager, based on the payment structure of the banks which
is under temporary administration, conservationship and receivership.

RECEIVERSHIP ACCOUNTING

In order to insure protection of interests of third persons, depositors and creditors and of
shareholders, the receiver is obliged to organize documentation and registration of the actions
of receivership and to prepare the balance sheet, the loss/profit account, financial statements,
etc. These documents will be under the control of a certified public accountant.

The accounting obligations noted in different phases of receivership are:

The opening of receivership

Inventory. With his appointment, receiver is obliged to make an inventory of bank assets and
liabilities values. In this case he takes possession of bank’s books and documents. Inventory
process is an ordinary one starting from balance sheet of the bank. After finishing the inventory
and registration that result from it, the receiver prepares the balance sheet of receivership that
will help as a starting point for the receivership operations.

Report of receivership. Receiver is obliged to convene the assembly of shareholders within 6
months from his nomination. He presents to the assembly a report about the situation of the
balance sheet values of bank; about the progress of the operations of receivership and a
detailed plan about the process of receivership. Itis not required the approval of the receivership
balance by the Assembly of Shareholders.
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35.

Operations of receivership and annual accounts.

Within three months from the end of the fiscal period, receiver must prepare the annual
accounts based on the inventory that he did for different elements of balance sheet. He
prepares, as well, a written report with explanations about the operations of receivership.
Annual accounts are deposits in the ordinary form and within the deadlines defined in
“Accounting Law” No. 7661, dated 19.01.1993. Annual accounts are audited and certified
from the certified public accountant.

Closing of receivership.
When the operations of receivership have finished, the receiver prepares a final account that
is audited from a certified public accountant, as well a written report.

The accounting registrations of receivership are mostly connected with the operations that
follow:

- collections from bank’s debtors;

- the sale of assets;

- payment of bank’s creditors;

- receivership expenses;

- determination of receivership result;

-preparation of final receivership account

All the receivership operations are documented based on general rules. The bank in accordance with
“Bank Accounting Manual” makes their registration. Characteristic of this process consists in the
opening of some special accounts that will help to define the result of receivership, according to
Annex 2.

31.

LasT ProvisiONS

This guideline shall enter into force 15 days following the publication in Official Bulletin of the
Bank of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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ANNEX 1

ACTIONS TAKEN FOR CONSERVATORSHIP AND RECEIVERSHIP

A meeting is organized by the Deputy Governor responsible for Supervision Department, with
the Director of Supervision Department, Head of the Inspection Section, inspector and analyst
who are responsible for the bank, the examiner in-charge of the last inspection group and
with representatives of Legal Section, to discuss about situation in the bank.

Based on the conclusions of the meeting, a memorandum is prepared where is summarized
the bank’s situation and reasons why conservatorship or receivership is needed.

Lawyers must give their opinion if the situation of the bank is one of the cases defined by “On
banks in the Republic of Albania”.

The supervisory group prepares the definitive material of the financial situation of the second-
tier bank and presents it to the Supervisory Council to take a decision of conservatorship or
receivership.

Supervisory Group proposes to the Governor of the Bank of Albania at least three candidates
as conservator or receiver and his/her salary.

In case of bank receivership, after the Supervisory Council takes the respective decision, Bank
of Albania (Legal Section) prepares a request for the Court to erase the bank from the Trade
Associations Register.

After taking the decision by the Supervisory Council on revoking the license , Head of Inspections

informs shareholders of the bank and goes in bank and takes the document of license.

ANNEX 2

Loss/Profit accounts of the receivership are analyzed as follow:

664

6641
6642
6643
6644
6645
6646
764

7640
7641
7642
7643
7644
7645

Registrations

Expenses and losses by receivership.

Losses from unsaleable assets.

Book value of sold fixed assets (classb).

Book value of other sold assets (class 1,2,3).
Losses from differences in accounts with third parties (class 4).
Asset disposal.

Other receivership expenses and losses.

Income and profit by receivership.

Income from the sale of assets.

Income from fixed assets sold (class 5).

Income from other assets sold (class 1,2,3).

Profit from differences in accounts with third parties.
Otherincome and profit.

Reversal of anticipated amounts.

6641 “Losses from unsaleable assets”. These are assets that have an expense nature like start up
expenses, development and research expenses, prepaid expenses, expenses to be amortized over
years. In the case of receivership, the balances of these accounts that are not amortized must be
recorded immediately in loss/profit account;

6641 Losses from unsold assets
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5313 Start up expenses

5311 Research and development expenses
4193 Expenses to be amortized over years

Assets of the bank could be sold element per element, in groups or together. Values at prices will be
registered:

111 Cash

13 (current accounts in banks, credit’s institutions and other financial institutions, resident or

non-resident)

to

7641 Income from fixed assets sold

7642 Income from other assets sold

In case of impossibility or other difficulties to separate the income of fixed assets from those of other
assets, they could be recorded together in account 7640. “Income from assets sold”.

The writing-off of book values of sold assets will be registered:
6642 Book value of fixed assets sold
to
Respective accounts of class 5

In registration of writing-offs from the accounts of book values will take into consideration the depreciation
amounts of fixed assets that are recorded on account 537.

Receivership expenses of the bank will be recorded in debit of account 6646 “Other expenses and
losses from receivership” and in credit of respective account depending on the nature of expense.

Asset disposals are connected with those elements of assets that don't have any use value or even
with the efforts done are unsaleable. The book value of these elements will be register in debit of
account 6645 “Asset disposal” and in credit of respective accounts of the 5% class. To write-off the
book value of these elements from the account see the explanations given above for the sold assets.
Reversal of anticipated amounts for depreciation, risks and expenses have to do with their inclusion in
result. These amounts are recorded in debit of respective accounts of class 5 and in credit of account
7645. “Reversal of anticipated amounts”.

Collections from debtors and creditor pay-off are based in ordinary rule. Any difference from the
account with the third parties will be posted in debit of account 6644 “Losses from differences in
accounts with the thirds” and in credit of account 7643 “Profit from differences of accounts with the
thirds”.

The final account of receivership has a balance sheet form. In assets side of the balance sheet are
stated the amounts in cash and bank accounts and on the liabilities side are stated the capital, bank’s
reserves and the loss/profit from receivership.

Receivership result will be determined as a difference between the total amounts recorded on the
credit of the accounts 7641-7645 and the total amount recorded on the debit of the accounts 6641-
6646.

If the bank can not pay off all the liabilities to creditors with the income from the sale of the assets, then
there is a negative receivership situation.Under this circumstances, thera are no values on the assets
side of the balance-sheet. Normally, the receivership result (loss) is equal to the capital amount plus
the reserves so the total own funds is zero.

All the accounting assessments connected with the final result of receivership will base on the guideline
No.9, Chapter IV, dated 6.05.1994 of Ministry of Finance “On Enterprise Receivership ”.
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DECISION
NO. 58 DATED 24.07.2002
ON
APPROVING AN ADDITIONAL ACTIVITIES IN BANKING
ACTIVITIES

The Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, following a proposal by the Banking Supervision
Department of the Bank of Albania, and pursuant to Article 43, paragraph “e” of the Law No. 8269,
dated 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of Albania”, as well as pursuant to Article 26, paragraph 3, letter “gj”
of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

DECIDED:
1. The banks licensed from Bank of Albania have the right to conduct banking activity linked with
precious metals.
2. The Department of Banking Supervision is in charge to implement and notify commercial
banks on this Decision.
3. The Department of Research and Monetary Policy is in charge to publish this Decision.
4. This Decision shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin of
the Bank of Albania.
SECRETARY CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
Ylli MEMISHA Shkélgim CANI
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INSTRUCTION
ON
REPORTING OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Article 10 of the Regulation “On Foreign Exchange Activities” approved by Supervisory
Council of the Bank of Albania with decision No. 64, dated 30.07.2003, banks, branches of foreign
banks, and foreign exchange bureaus shall report on their foreign exchange activity to the Monetary
Operation Department in the Bank of Albania, as follows:

1. Daily Reporting
Daily reporting shall be done every day before 3.00 p.m.

It shall include all transactions performed within the last 24 hours.

Banks shall include all transactions performed in the head office and in their branches in Tirana in this
reporting.

Reporting shall be sent to the following address:

Bank of Albania

Monetary Operations Department
Sheshi “Skenderbej” No.1

Tirana

2.This Instruction was approved by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania with its decision No.
69, dated 30.07.2003 and shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Bank of Albania
Official Bulletin.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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DAILY REPORTING OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

FORM NO. 1
BANK/FOREIGN EXCHANGE BUREAU............ccccevee.e.
DATE.......ccovvvininnnnn,
Foreign Exchange against Lek
Hr Curranoy Forgign Mvaraga =oraign Avgraga Resulls after
CUFFQATY eechange rate currency eale] cochanga trancactions
(1] (2 purehasa (4] (5] rala (7] [3-5]
(3} {8

1. |EUR
2. |UsD
3. |Precious metale

Etc

Gross Position in Lek - (balances of column 7 for any foreign currency * respective exchange rates)

Compulsory clarifications: Transactions with: Foreign currency purchase Foreign currency sale

Banks (in Lek) (in Lek)
Foreign Exchange Bureaus
Other
TOTAL
Signature.........coocoveveinennn
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FORM NO. 2

DAILY REPORTING OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
BANK/FOREIGN EXCHANGE BUREAU..............cccvvne

Date.........coovvvenn.
Foreign Currency Exchange against foreign currency
Mo Currsncy Farasign currsncy Foreign curmency Famign currency niet
purt hass sals balancs
(1) (2 (3 () 13-4}
1 EUR
2 E=im]
3 Fracious matalc
ot
TOTAL: LISD ar
EUR {chooea)

Compulsory clarifications: Transactions with: Foreign currency purchase Foreign currency sale
(USD or EUR)

Banks (USD or EUR)
Foreign Exchange Bureaus
Other

TOTAL

Signature...........c..coeiiennn
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11.
121

1.32

14.

REGULATION
ON
LICENSING OF SAVING
& LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND THEIR UNIONS

Approved by the decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 11, dated 27.02.2002,

and amended by the decision No. 09, dated 12.02.2003.

GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 1

Subject to this regulation are Savings & Loans Associations and their Unions.

This regulation establishes the terms, procedures and conditions on the approval or refusal
of granting, suspending or revoking license, to carry out the operations determined in the Law
No. 8782, dated 03.05.2001 “On Savings & Loans Associations”, Chapter 2 “Operations”,
Articles 9,10,11 and 20.

The legal basis of this regulation are Law No. 8269, dated 23,12,1997 “On the Bank of Albania”,
Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, Article 12, Law No.
8782, dated 03.05.2001 “On Savings & Loans Associations”, Articles 20, 45, 46, 47.
Savings & Loans associations and their unions will be referred to as “associations” in compliance
of this regulation. Terms used have the same meaning as those established in Law No. 8782,
dated 03.05.2001 “On Savings & Loans Associations”, Article 3 and in Law No. 8365, dated
02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, Article 2.

LICENSING

ARTICLE 2

Application for obtaining a license

The application from an association to obtain a license is presented to the Bank of Albania. The Head
of the Board of Directors fills in the respective application according to form No. 1, table No.1/1 which
is accompanied by the due following documentation:

2.1.

2.2.
2.3.
24.
2.5.
2.6.
2.7.

2.8.

A declaration of commitment to respect, throughout the operational activity, the Albanian
legislation and bylaws issued by the Bank of Albania throughout the period of activity. This
declaration is signed by the Head of the Board of Directors, as in form No. 1, table 1/2.
Decision of Registration issued by the Court of Tirana District.

The full documentation presented to the court, for registration purpose.

Information on the members of the Board of Directors as well as of the Supervisory Committee,
form No.1, table 1/6.

An official certificate for the Head of the Board of Directors and the Head of the Supervisory
Committee, which certifies that they have not been convicted of any crime by the courts.
The names of members who are legal persons.

An outlook on the performance of members’ number, their respective contributions, deposits,
credits for the two next years, a balance sheet, income and expenditure statement, according
to form No. 1, tables (1/3), (1/4), (1/5).

Documentation is to be in the Albanian language, in 2 copies, in the original or by certified

1 Amended by the decision No. 09, dated 12.02.2003 of the Supervisory Council.
2 Amended by the decision No. 09, dated 12.02.2003 of the Supervisory Council.
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photocopy.
ARTICLE 3

The Approval or Refusal of the operational license request

3.1. The Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania certifies that the documentation is completed
and presented in compliance with the requests of this regulation.
3.2. If the submitted documentation is not complete and does not fulfill the requirements of this

regulation, the Supervision Department issues a notice to the association in which details the
material omitted, the inconsistency with the law or the extra information needed.

3.3. The omissions noted and the objections made in relation to the documentation presented,
according to the requirements of the regulation, are addressed within 1 month of the day on
which notice is received. If they are not addressed, all documentation is returned to the
applicant.

34. The date of acceptance of the request for a license is considered to be the date when the
applicant has fulfilled the requirements of the regulation. The applicant is notified in writing of
this date from the Supervision Department.

3.5. The Bank of Albania approves or refuses the request for a license within 30 days of the day on
which the applicant is notified in writing by the Supervision Department. The decision is taken
by the administrators of the Bank of Albania. Supervision Department notifies the applicant in
writing on the decision within 10 days of the decision being made. In the case of refusal,
information for the reason of refusal is given.

3.6. The Bank of Albania may verify on-site the documentation presented.
3.7. The Bank of Albania reserves the right to make extra requests.
3.8. The Association, once it has received the license, respects at all times the acts of the Bank of

Albania for supervision and reporting on its activity.
ARTICLE 4

Publication and Registration

4.1. The issuance of a license to the entities subject to this regulation is published in the Official
Bulletin of the Bank of Albania and in one newspaper with high circulation.

4.2. The Supervision Department of the Bank of Albania maintains a register for public view where
it enters all licenses granted. The pages of this register are numbered and sealed.

4.3. This register maintains the name of the association, the address of its head office, the addresses
of the members of the Management Board and the Supervision Committee.

4.4, A copy of this register is held for public view in the local representative offices of the Bank of
Albania.

ARTICLE S

Suspension, revocation of License

The administrators of the Bank of Albania decide to suspend or revoke the license when they observe
that :

5.1. The license has been obtained on the basis of false information, regardless of whether the
information has been given by the applicant or for the applicant (by another party), with regard
to the fulfillment of requirements of Art.2 and also Art. 3, point 3.7.

5.2. The association has not started its activity or has interrupted its activity for more than 6
months.

5.3. The General Assembly of the association decides to dissolve or liquidate the association.

54. The association carries out the activity in opposition to the Albanian legislation.

5.5. The association does not consistently observe the regulations of the Bank of Albania.

5.6. The financial situation of the association is worsening, according to the indicators used.
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The decision on the suspension or revocation of the license is communicated immediately to the
association alongside with the reasons for the decision.

The decision for suspension or revocation of the license is published in the Official Bulletin of the Bank
of Albania and in one newspaper with high circulation. The decision comes into effect when the Bank
of Albania determines it and for a time period (in the event of suspension) established by the Bank of
Albania.

The association, once has received official notice of the Bank of Albania decision to revoke its license,
is immediately forbidden to create the activities provided in Articles 9,10,11 of the Law No. 8782,
dated 03.05.2001 “On Saving & Loan Associations” during the period of suspension or revocation of its
license.

ARTICLE 6

Final Dispositions

6.1. Saving and Loan Associations being created and members of a licensed union, are represented
by the Union in the process of presenting and completing the necessary documentation for
the issuance of a license from the Bank of Albania. In this case the documentation consists of

a) the list of savings and loan associations, members of the union;

b) arequest for an operational license, signed by the Head of the Board of Directors of
the association and the Head of the Boardof Directors of Union Management , form
No. 2, table (2/1);

C) a declaration of commitment signed by the chairman of the Board of Directors of the
savings and loans association, form No. 2, table (2/2);

d) the information on the registration of the savings and loan association in the Court of
Tirana (date of decision, number of the respective decision registration);

e) form No. 2, table (2/3) for every member of the union, signed by the Head of the

Board of Directors of the savings and loans association and the Head of the Board of
Directors of the Union;

f) information for members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Committee,
form No.2, table 2/4.

6.2. The Union is obliged to inform the Bank of Albania if one of more members leaves the union.

ARTICLE 7
Contemporary Dispositions

7.1. All associations that have been established and have been active before the approval of the
regulation for licensing are obliged to make requests and to complete the documentation no
later than 90 days after this regulation enters into force.

7.2. Until the decision is taken by the Bank of Albania for the approval or the refusal of the request
for a license the savings and loan association continues its activity. If, 6 months after the date
of the request for the license, the decision for approval or refusal is not taken, the Supervision
Department explains in writing to the administrators of the Bank of Albania the reason for the
delay. On the basis of this explanation the administrators decide on whether to allow the
association to continue its activity, and also decide a time period for the implementation of
this decision.

7.3. The association is liquidated in the event of the refusal of the request for the granting of a
license, in the event of the termination of the time period established in point 7.1 and in the
event the association has lost its right to continue, according to point 7.2.

74. For Article 2 of the regulation, the documentation presented, in compliance with form 1,
tables (1/2) (1/3) (1/4) (1/5) (1/6), contains the most recent information.
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7.5.1. All unions that have been established and have been active before the approval of
the regulation on license issuance, after fulfilling the requirements of point 7.2:

7.5.2. represent the savings and loan associations that are members of the union in the
process of completing the request for obtaining a license from the Bank of Albania,
according to point 6.1. The union commits to inform the Bank of Albania when one
or more members leave the union;

7.5.3. the savings and loan associations, which are members of a licensed union, entrust
in the union the right to give all information for the completion of requests for granting
of alicense.

TRANSFORMING?

ARTICLE 8
Merging of the licensed savings & loan associations

8.1. In case of the licensed savings and loan associations merging is performed through establishing
anew savings and loan association, then the new established association renews the request
to obtain a license by submitting the following documents:

8.1.1. Incasethe new merged association is nota member of the union, the respective documentation
is completed in compliance with Article 2 of the regulation by amending:
L the decisions of the respective assemblies;

L tables (3/1) of form No. 3.

8.1.2. In case the new merged established association becomes a member of the union, the
documentation is completed in compliance with Article 6 of the regulation by adding:

L the decision of the respective individual assemblies for the membership of the new
association;

L the decision of the respective Board of Directors of the Union on the membership of
the new association;

L tables (3/1), (3/2) of the form No.3 signed even from the Head of the Board of Directors
of the Union.

8.1.3. In case the request on obtaining a license is approved, then in the respective license it is
enclosed the due date the new savings and loan association starts its activity. This date is
also the date when the individual licenses of the merged loan and savings associations are
revoked.

8.2. In case the merging of the savings & loan associations has not taken place through establishing
a new savings and loan association, but on the basis of an existing licensed savings & loan
association, the documentation of the respective association licensing based on which has
taken place the merging is filled in with:

L the decisions of the individual assemblies of the associations for their merge;

i tables of form 3;

L penalty certificates for the Head of the Board of Directors as well as for the Head of
the Supervisory Committee.

Bank of Albania, after the completion of the documentation, notifies in writing the respective savings
& loan association, establishing the date of activity starting for the new merged association. This date
is the one of the individual licenses revocation for the merged savings & loan associations, excluding
the one based on which the merging has taken place.

3 Amended by the decision No.09, dated 12.02.2003 of the Supervisory Council.
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ARTICLE 9

9.1. This regulation shall enter into force on the fifteenth day from its publication in the Official
Bulletin of the Bank of Albania.
CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
Shkélgim CANI
FORM 1

Table 11
Paauiest for Licenss

Full name of association

horened name of association
Address anc telephone Mo, of the head
oifice of the association

Date o7 estzolishment
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Ragistration mambsar in Sour
sifian3gement Bosrd

head

members

[ad [ —

e g

i

(2]

bjSuperisory Comm iiee
Fead

members

c Humber of members

10, | Amount of the paden capita
1. | Date of recuest for icense
EBeguest made by

Hazd of the Board of Directors of tha
Association

Mama, surnane

Signatura

1.1 | Registration date of the license request
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TABLE 1/ 2

DECLARATION OF COMMITMENT
FOR
THE BANK OF ALBANIA
ON ITS AUTHORITY TO GRANT A LICENSE TO ASSOCIATIONS

Name of Association

Address

With this declaration of commitment we request the Bank of Albania to provide us with a license to
engage in activity as a savings and loan association (union) in the Republic of Albania, in accordance
with Law No. 8782, dated 03.05.2001 “On Savings and Loan Associations”. We present all the required
documentation and information for this request.

We make a commitment to observe the Albanian legislation and regulations issued by the Bank of
Albania in all our activities.

Declared by

Head of the Board of Directors

Name, surname

Signature

RS. The request followed by the documents and forms in compliance with this regulation are submitted
to the following address:

Supervision Department
Bank of Albania

Sheshi “Skenderbej”, No.1
Tirana, Albania
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Table 1/2
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Table Ho. 14

Forecast Imcome  and  Expendibure Amount in Lek
Statemeant
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| mormE:

Interest on loans

Interast On Ceposits
Interast on securties

I C L

Qther |noome

Total mcome

Expenses

Expenses from lozns

Expenses fromn deposiis

Expenszes for lozn provisions, net

[ e Y P

Othar axpenses

Total Expenses

Total Surplus/Deficit | A- B)

Cionations raceivad

SumsTenRcT atter Donations
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Expectaton on:

Total number of members

Table Mo. 1/5
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FORM 2

Table 21
Reguest fu License

| ]
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Head of the Board of Directors of the
Association

Mame. Sumame

Signature
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Signature

FEQIIE:'E: on date of the licenss request
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TABLE 2/2

DECLARATION OF COMMITMENT
FOR
THE BANK OF ALBANIA
ON ITS AUTHORITY TO GRANT A LICENSE TO ASSOCIATIONS

Name of Association

Address —

With this declaration of commitment we request the Bank of Albania to provide us with a license to
engage in activity as a savings and loans association (union) in the Republic of Albania, in accordance
with Law No. 8782, dated 03.05.2001 “On Savings and Loans Associations”. We present all the
information and documentation required for this request.

We make a commitment to observe the Albanian legislation and regulations issued by the Bank of
Albania in all our activities.

Declared by

Head of the Board of Directors Head of the Board of Directors
of the SLA of the Union

Name, surname Name, surname

Signature Signature

PS. The request followed by the documents and forms in compliance with this regulation are submitted
to the following address:

SUPERVISION DEPARTMENT
Bank of Albania

Sheshi “Skenderbej”, No.1
Tirana, Albania
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Table No. %3
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Hezo of the Bpard of Directaors of the Union
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Sighaturs

160




Table no. 28
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FORM NO. 34

C-ESN -+ CUIT At +0Rpns s

Table Mo, 341
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| hame, surname |

=]

p2lgnature]

Head of the Board of Directors of the SLA

4 Amended by the decision No. 09, dated 12.02.2003 of the Supervisory Council.
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REGULATION ON SUPERVISION OF
SAVINGS AND CREDIT ASSOCIATIONS AND
THEIR UNIONS

The legal bases of this regulation are law no. 8269, date 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of Albania”, law
no. 8365, date 02.07.1998 “On the banks in the Republic of Albania”, article 1, section 3 and law no.
8782, date 03.05.2001 “On savings and credit associations”, articles 46, 47, 48 and 50.

The terms used in this regulation have the same meaning as those defined in article 3 of the law
no.8782, date 03.05.2001 “On savings and credit associations and their unions”.

Subjects
Article 1

1.1. The subjects of this regulation are savings and credit associations and their unions, licensed
by the Bank of Albania. For simplicity, these subjects will be referred to as “associations”
throughout this regulation.

1.2. The Bank of Albania is the supervisory authority of the subjects of this regulation.

Accounting
Article 2
2.1. Accounting is carried out in accordance with the law “On accounting”, according to international
accounting standards as well as legal acts to the implementation of the law.
2.2. Associations stipulate in their internal rules the accounting policies and procedures written
and approved by the board of directors.
2.3. Associations, as an exception to section 2.1., may account for interest on loans made when

it is actually received.
Loans and interest rates for loans
Article 3

Interest rates on loans are set a rate, high enough to insure that income from interest, covers at
least, all financial expenses of the association.

Classification of loans

Article 4
4.1. Credit and guarantee policies are stipulated by internal rules and are written in the form of a
manual approved by the board of directors.
4.2. Classification of loans is made on the basis of the number of days for which the repayment is

overdue:

4.2.1. When the loan repayments are overdue (principal or interest), from 31 to 90 days, the (principal
and interest) amount of loans, granted to this member of the association, is classified as
“below standard”;

4.2.2. whenthe loan repayments are overdue (principal or interest), from 91 to 365 days, the (principal
and interest) amount of loans, granted to this member of the association, is classified as
“doubtful”;

4.2.3.  When the loan repayments are overdue (principal or interest), for over 365 days, the (principal
and interest) amount of loans, granted to this member of the association, is classified as
“lost”.

4.3. The amount of loans classified as “below standard”, “doubtful”, “lost” and restructured, shall
be considered as bad loans.
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4.4,
4.5,
4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

5.1.
5.2.

52.1.
5.2.2.
5.2.3.
5.2.4.

53.
54.
55.

5.6.

All loans, other than bad loans, shall be considered as “standard” loans.

The calculation of credit interest is interrupted when the loan is classified as “doubtful”.
Loans are written off the balance sheet of the association when they have been classified as
“lost” loans for more than 365 days and/or when they meet the following requirements:

the borrower is dead;

the borrower is under trial by the association for the return of the loan;

the loan amount is considered too small for the association.

Loans may be restructured; when a restructured loan is with 30 days overdue, it is classified
as “lost”.

The union of savings and credit associations may grant loans to savings and credit associations
according to an agreement (line of credit), which permits the savings and credit associations
to be granted loans within certain limits and during certain periods of time. For this line of
credit:

the agreement between the union and savings and credit associations is renewed at least
once ayear,

the union calculates a reserve fund (provision) of 2 percent of the amount of loan being under
process,

when the savings and credit association is in violation of article 6 of this regulation, the union
calculates a provision, not less than 30 percent of the loan granted to the savings and credit
association.

Calculation of provisions
Article 5

Provisions are calculated at least once every three months.

Provisions on the principal are calculated as follows:

from 2 percent to 5 percent on “standard” loans;

not less than 30 percent on “below standard” loans;

not less than 75 percent on “doubtful” loans;

100 percent on lost loans.

Calculated interests on bad loans are provisioned 100 percent.

Restructured loans are provisioned similarly to bad loans.

The rate of provision for “below standard” loans, is not higher than the rate of provision for
“doubtful” loans”. The rate of provision for “doubtful” loans is not higher than the rate of
provision for “lost” loans. The provision is calculated on the part of loan not guaranteed with
deposit blocking.

As an exception to section 2.1, associations may have higher factual provisions than the
provisions required according to the classification of loans.

Soundness of loan portfolio
Article 6

The ratio of “standard” loans to total loan portfolio must not be less than 90 percent.

7.1.

7.2.
7.3.

Capital adequacy
Article 7

The ratio of capital to gross excess loan portfolio must not be less than 5 percent during the
first two years of the loan granting activity after the licence and not less than 8 percent after
the first two years.

The ratio of capital to (net) fixed assets must not be less than 100 percent;

The ratio of capital to total amount of bad loans excess not guaranteed by deposit blocking,
is at all times not less than 100 percent.

164



8.1.

8.2.
8.3.
9.1.
9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

10.1.

10.2.

11.1.

11.2.

11.3.

11.4.

11.5.

Liquidity
Article 8

The association must maintain at all times in cash, current account or 1 month time deposit
account, an amount not less than 10 percent of the total deposits which have a maturity of 6
months or less;

The association may grant a loan with over 3 year maturity and an amount not more than:
100 percent of the capital, after the fixed assets have been subtracted; or

10 percent of the total deposits; or

100 percent of the liabilities with maturity over 3 years.

The association cannot grant a loan with a maturity over 5 years.

Spreading of risk
Article 9

For each loan granted during the first two years of the lending activity, the the part of loan not
guaranteed of deposit blocking, must not be more than 100 percent of the association capital.
For each granted loan during the third year of the lending activity, the part of loan, not guaranteed
of deposit blocking, must not be more than 50 percent of the association capital.

For each granted loan after the third year of the lending activity, the part of loan, not guaranteed
of deposit blocking, must not be more than:

20 percent of the association capital; or

the maximal allowed amount during the third year of the lending activity.

The amount of each granted loan must not be more than 15 percent of total assets at the time
it was granted.

Currency operations
Article 10

The associations may also grant a loan in the following currencies: “Euro, usd, sfr, gbp”, but
with a maturity term not more than 3 years.

Only the union is allowed to maintain a currency open position, according to the following
rates:

a maximal ratio not more than 30 percent of the total net open position for all currencies to
union capital,

amaximal ratio not more than 20 percent of the net open position for each currency to union
capital.

Reporting
Article 11

The associations report the supervision norms to the Bank of Albania every six months. The
data are reported not later than 50 days after the end of six months and the end of the year.
The reporting of the associations to the Bank of Albania is made in accordance with the
reporting system “On savings and credit associations and their unions” approved by the Bank
of Albania Supervisory Council.

Unions of savings and credit associations report the financial situation and the supervision
norms on individual basis and on collective basis for all network of savings and credit
associations members in the union.

Unions are obliged to send to the Bank of Albania, on quarterly basis, full reports on supervision
norms of all savings and credit associations, which do not conform to any of the supervision
norms.

In case a savings and credit association is not a member of the union and it violates any of the
supervision norms, it must report all the supervision norms to the Bank of Albania, on quarterly
basis.

165



12.1.

12.2.

12.3.

13.1.

13.2.

13.3.

13.4.

13.5.

13.6.

11.6. The Bank of Albania may, at any time, require more frequent reports.

Supervision
Article 12

The Bank of Albania supervises and analyses the activity of the associations through the
reported data analysis by the associations, and through on-site inspections.

The associations are at all times, obliged to observe all the requirements of the regulation and
the additional requirements set by the Bank of Albania.

In case of non-observance of the requirements in 12.2., the associations are obliged to make
the necessary adjustments within 3 months, from the day this regulation is effective. The
Board of Directors of the savings and credit association must introduce a detailed plan of the
actions the association shall take, in order to observe the requirements of this regulation.
Otherwise, the Bank of Albania has the right to take measures in accordance with article 51,
law 8782, date 03.05.01 “On savings and credit associations”.

Final provision
Article 13

The associations stipulate in their internal regulations, in the form of a manual, the written
policies on granting a loan, approved by the Board of Directors.

The associations stipulate in their internal policies, the policies on deposit acceptance, their
maturity, method of remuneration, as well as loan guarantee policies through deposit blocking.
Unions of savings and credit associations set written internal rules for the supervision of
savings and credit associations, members of the union, in the form of a manual, approved by
the union Board of Directors.

The associations should submit to the Bank of Albania the updates made in their statutes,
within a month after the decision on these updates by the General Assembly. The association
shall notify the Bank of Albania on the updates in the members of the Board of Directors and
the Supervisory Council.

The regulation “On supervision of the savings and credit associations and their unions”, approved
upon the decision no. 67, date 28.08.2002 of the Bank of Albania Supervisory Council, will no
longer be effective.

This regulation is effective 15 days after its publication in the Official Gazette of the Republic
of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Ardian FULLANI
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FORM 1. CLASSIFICATION OF LOANS AND CALCULATION OF

PROVISIONS
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4.2 | Accrued intersst

b Srozen deposits 2z
guarantee for loans

B Public funds and grants

ther limbilines

* Amended on the Supervisory Council decision No. 83, dated 13.11.2002. “On approval of some amendments in the regulation

“On supervision of savings and loan associations and their unions™.
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Total Lizbilities
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Sessrees created from
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-
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—i | —a
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Total Liabilties and
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FORM NO. 5/2!

Balenees Sheet

Assals

Amount in Lek Amount in
foreign cumency

Todal

L-BI5 I
2 Current account in bank or
IRion
2.1 | Current accountin bank
2.2 | Acrnaed interest
23 | Current sccount im unicn
24 | Aoried intersst
3 - Time degositis in bank
of union
Time depo=ts in bank
Acrued intersat

Tire dapasits in union
Lcrusd interas
certificates of

Aorued

Deposis

MiLErest

Lad Bl £3 0| Gl | Lol
M3 I Cea| ol | —=

Frozen  account iR
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1 nveE=iments

anan
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-Dang [net

Jp-1 vear Loans
Jp-2 vears Loans
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¥ Ears
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0y & CH|an|om o an

[
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L]
-

Pid i Frovisions  fior

us -

DaN3

Fined Aasets (nat

Total Ascels

Liahalities and Capital

_0ans from banks, union of
gther timancigl insttutions
1.1 | Loans from banks
2 | Acorued intersst
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Leoocrued intersst

Eovarnment borrowing
Govarnment borroving
Loorued intersst
T me= EE:DEI'.'! oT

- without interas:

Lt I3 B3 [
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me=mbers

4 Tirma Deposis of membars
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4 Time =posits of
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Loorued intersst
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guarantees for loans

* Amended on the Supervisory Council decision No. 83, dated 13.11.2002.
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i Public funds and grants
7 Jther liabilites
Total Liakbilities
E 231 incapiia
L Conabons
10 Seserves oested  from
surplus
11 Setalned sa mings ! los585
12 3umlus or Defidt durimg

The vear

Totzl Capital

Total Liabibes
and Caprtal
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FORM NO. 6
INCOME STATEMENT

Amount in Leke
ncome
Aterest on loEns
2 sterest on deposits
3 nterest on secunties
4 i her incoma
& Tota!l |noome
Expenses
Sapensas from loans
by SHOBNSES TFOm membDers’ depos is
i Supenses or logn provisions
4 AdrinIsTTative exnenses
5 Cther Expanzes
E TOTAL EXPENSES

Total Surplus/Deficit [4-B

Domations recsned

SURPLUS/DEFICIT AFTER DOMNATIONS

172



FORM NO. 7
INCOME STATEMENT

Form Mo, 7
Income and Expenditure Account Armount in Leke

M

I=

Financial Income

Interest on loans

Interest on capos s

Interest on letters of valua
CTnEr Tinancal Inoome

Financial Expenses

Expenses from loans
Ezxpanses from deposts

o[k — | pE | de fa]ba [

Cifiar Financial Expensas

]

Gross Financial Besult (C= AR

Expen=es

Provisions for lcans {net)

Lom=es from wrikien off loans

Gross Operationg) Result [E = G -]

Admmistration expenses

Staft expensss
Ciher administretion expensss

Met Dperational Resull (G = E—F)

Mon opemtional Result:

Man cperatanal income
Jon gperabonzl expensas

Total Surplus or Dalicit (G-H)
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REPORTING SYSTEM OF THE SAVINGS AND CREDIT
ASSOCIATIONS

Approved by the decision No.75, dated 05.09.2001

REPORTING FORMS

FORM MO
MNUMEER OF SAVINGE AND Loan ASESCIATIONS

ANNLUAL INFORMATION

Mumbar aof SLA at the baginning of tha wear

Foundation of naw SLA during tha wear{+]:

Qlosure of SLA dunng the year(-)

Mumbar of SLA at the and of thae vear

O L ATERLY INFORBLATION

Mumber of SLA at the beginning of the guarter:

Foundatian of new SLA during tha quariar(+)

Cosure of SLA during the quarter(-):

Mumber of SLA at the end of the quarter
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FORM NO_2
TOTAL MIUMAEER OF THE MEMEERS OF ZAVIMGS AND LOAN
ASSOCIATIONS

AMNMUAL INFORMATION

Mumber of members at the beginning of 1he year

Mew memaership during the vean +]

Famovals of mambers during the veari-) -

Mumibar of members at the and of the vear:

QUAATEALY IMFORBATION

Mumberof members at the beginning of the quarter:

New membership during the quarter{+)

Ramovals of mambars during the quartar-] :

Mumberof members at the a2nd of the quarter

FORM MO 3
TOTAL CARPITAL OF SAVINGS AMD LOAN ASSOCIATIONS

AMNNLUAL INFORMATION

Total capital st the baginning of tha year

ncreace of capital dudng tha year(+ -

Reduction of capital during the year(-] :

Tctal capital at the and of the yaar

CIUARTERLY INFORMATION

Total capiial at the baginning of the quartar:

Lugmentation of capital during the guarter[+)

Feduction of capital during ihe quarter(-} :

Total capital at the end of the guarter
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FORM NO_4
DEPOSITS COLLECTED BY SAVINGS ANMD CREDIT ASSOCIATIONS

ANNLUAL INFORMATION

Daposits situation at the baginning of the wear:

Lugmentation of depeosits during the vear(+) -

Feduction of depesits during the year(-) -

Ci=mosits situation at the end of the year

- for Individual.

- for non-ind rddieal

CIUARTERLY INFORMATION

Daposits situation at the beginning of the guartar:

Augmentation of deposits dunng the quarter({+)

Eeduction of depesits during the quarter(-) -

Daposits situation at the end of the guartar:
- for Individuz|

- for non-indiddsz|

FORM MO 5
CRECATS GRAMTED BY SAVIMNGS AND LOAM ABSOCIATIOMNS

AMMUAL INFORMATION

Crwdi ts situation at the beginning of 1he year

Crodite grantad during the vaar[+] -

Hepayment of credite during the year(-) :

Credits situation at the 2nd of fhe year
- for individusl

- for non-ind rvides|

CQUARTEALY INFOFBAATION

Credits situation at the beginning of the quartar:

Credits granted during the quarter(+] :

Rapaymeant of cradits during the guartar-] -

Credits situation at the and of tha quarter:
- for individuz|

- for non-individual:
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RECEFTS AND MTEREETS

Aeceipte from

rieraste during the firat guarter:

Aeceipts from

niEeresls d'.l"“'lg the second fquarier

Rocaipte from

nigraste during tha third gquariar:

Recelpte from

nieraete during the fourth guarter:

Aeceipts from

nizrests during the vear

FORM MO 6
CATEGORIES OF THE CREDITS GRAMNTED BY SAVIMNGES AMD LOAN
ASSOCIATIOMS

Categories
{in Lek)

Situation
at the baginning

AMMAL INFOFMATION

Giranted

Repaid

Situation
a1 the and

Mumbar

Amount

“Number

Amount

Fumbar

Amount

Mumbar

Srmaourt

Up to 5,000
g.001 -
10,000

10,001 -
20,000
50.001 -
100,000

100001 —
200,000
200001 —
SO0LO00

500,001 —
1,000,000

I':l'..'n.'
1,000,000

DUAATEALY INFORMATION

Categones (in
Lak]

Situat ion
at the beginning

Granted

Repaid

Sltuation
2t the end

Up 1o 5000

Mumber|Aamount Mumber Amount

Mumberldmount

Mumber [Amount

5001 — 10,000

10,001 — 50,000
S0.0071 — 100000

100001 —

s sialsl
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FORM NO. 7

PAST DUE CREDITS OF SAVIMNGS ARD LOAM ASSOCIATIOMS

Pact dua paricd Up to = - 121 - 180
(indayzl: o 1 20

1E1 -
365

Crear
3E5

Sltuation &t the beginning
of the period:

Augmentation during
the pericd

Reduction during the period:

Situation at the end
of the period

FOAM NO B

Credit extend=d during the quarter as ger bransh=a of the =conomy

Murbsar of tha econon branchas

In thousande of

Lk

Agriculiura, hunting and silviculturg
Fichirg

Dol —-

Exiracting Indusiry

Proceesing Induatry
Prod uction. dstrbution of elactric power. gas and water

Consiructon

Trade. Repainrg of vehicles and home aplinnces

Holels s rd restaursnis

rarnszor and slecommunication

Firancial activil e

- WO OO0 = | O R

Bas | actata

I3

Haalth and social sctiJtics

—_] ===

[ 2]

Collactiva, cocial and pareonal sarvicas
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REGULATION
ON
SUPERVISION NORMS OF NON BANK FINANCIAL
ENTITIES

Approved upon the decision No. 60, dated 05.07.2000, and amended upon the

decision No. 31, dated 27.04.2005 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.

11.

1.2.

1.3.

14.

Laoce

ARTICLE 1

GENERAL PROVISIONS

This regulation is issued pursuant to the Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of
Albania”, Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, Law No.
8080, dated 01.03.1996 “On commercial companies” and Regulation “On granting a license
to non-bank entities for conducting financial activity in the Republic of Albania” approved
upon the Decision No.26, dated 18.03.1999 of the Bank of Albania Supervisory Council.
Subject to this regulation shall be all non-bank entities that conduct financial activities, licensed
by the Bank of Albania according to Regulation “On granting a license to non-bank entities for
conducting financial activity in the Republic of Albania”, approved upon the Decision No.26,
dated 18.03.1999 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. Hereinafter, these subjects
shall be referred to as “non-bank entities”.

The purpose of this regulation is to establish supervision norms for all “non-bank entities” that
conduct the activities provided in paragraph 1.4 of the Regulation “On granting a license to
non-bank entities for conducting financial activity in the Republic of Albania”.

For purpose of this regulation:

“Capital” shall mean the algebraic summation of the following components:

paid in capital and any other capital donation;

all reserves created from the profit distribution;

retained earnings (l0ss);

profit/loss of current year;

revaluation differences (either debtor or creditor) of the paid capital or donations in foreign

currencies.

“Problem loans” shall mean the gross amount (principal + interest) of the total amount of

substandard, doubtful and lost loans.

“Beneficiary” shall mean one or more related legal persons involved in such relationships that

the financial difficulties for one or more of them might cause insolvency for the rest of the group.

Supervision norms for non bank entities

ARTICLE 2

ALLOWED ACTIVITIES

All the financial activities provided in article 1.4 of the Regulation “On granting a license to non-

bank entities for conducting financial activity in the Republic of Albania”, approved upon the Decision
No. 26, dated 18.03.1999 of the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania, are allowed activities for
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“non-bank entities”.

3.1

3.2.

4.1.
4.2.
43.
4.4,

5.1.

5.2.

53.

5.4.

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

ARTICLE 3

LOANS, THEIR CLASSIFICATION AND PROVISIONING

“Non-bank entities” shall develop a special credit manual, approved by their management
authorities.

Generally, loan and other assets classification shall be made in compliance with the rules
provided in Regulation “On loan classification and the foundation of provisions to cover loan
losses”, approved upon the Decision No. 50, dated 18.03.1999 of the Supervisory Council of
the Bank of Albania and all the amendments made to this regulation.

ARTICLE 4

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The ratio of capital to total assets shall not be below 10%.

The ratio capital to net fixed tangible and intangible assets shall be no lower than 100%.
The ratio capital to total problem loans shall be no lower than 100%.

The ratio capital paid in kind to capital shall not exceed 50%.

ARTICLE 5

ASSETS QUALITY

The ratio of problem loans (principal + interest) to total loans (principal + interest) shall not
exceed 8%.

The ratio of actual loan repayment (principal + interest) to loan repayment schedule (principal
+ interest) based on loan agreement shall not be below 90%.

After 12 months from receiving a license from the Bank of Albania, the ratio of net fixed
tangible and intangible assets to total assets shall not exceed 10%.

The ratio of interest earning assets to interest bearing liabilities shall not be lower than 100%.

ARTICLE 6

RISK SPREADING NORMS

The maximal amount of the loan granted to a beneficiary during the first year of the activity of
a “non-bank entity” shall not exceed 100% of the capital of the “non-bank entity”.

After 12 months from receiving a license, any loans granted to a beneficiary shall not exceed
10% of the total loans granted by the “non-bank entity”.

Any investments in securities, except for the T-bills investments of the Albanian government
and countries of zone A, shall not exceed 5% of the capital of the “non-bank entity”. (The
definition of zones is provided in Regulation “On capital adequacy”.)

Total investment in securities, except for the T-bills investments of the Albanian government
and countries of zone A, shall not exceed 40% of the capital of the “non-bank entity”. (The
definition of zones is provided in Regulation “On capital adequacy”.)
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7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

8.1.
8.2.

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

ARTICLE 7

LIQUIDITY

The ratio of assets with one-month remaining maturity to liabilities with one-month remaining
maturity shall not be lower than 100%.
The ratio of assets with three-month remaining maturity to liabilities with three-month remaining
maturity shall not be lower than 100%.
80% of loans maturing after two years shall be funded from sources maturing after two years.

ARTICLE 8

REPORTING

“Non-bank entities” shall report to the Bank of Albania on quarterly basis.
The report of non-bank entities to the Bank of Albania is made according to the non-bank
entities reporting system as defined by the Bank of Albania.

The reporting due date is not later than 40 days after the end of the three-month period.

ARTICLE 9

MISCELLANEQUS

After 3 months from receiving the license from the Bank of Albania, “non-bank entities” are
required to comply with the requirements of this regulation.

In case of non-compliance with the requirements of this regulation, the Bank of Albania extends
the deadline up to three months.

When a “non-bank entity” does not comply with the requirements of this regulation even after
the three-month period, the Bank of Albania imposes provisions of Chapter VIl “On violations
and sanctions” of Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.
This regulation enters into force 15 days after its publication in the Official Bulletin of the Bank
of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Ardian FULLANI

*Amended upon the Supervisory Council decision no. 31, dated 27.04.2005.

181



REGULATION
ON
COOPERATIVE BANKS

Approved by the decision No.25, dated 29/03/2000 of the Supervisory Council of
the Bank of Albania

CHAPTER |1

FOUNDATION AND ACTIVITIES

ARTICLE 1

General Provisions

1.1. The purpose of this regulation is to establish the conditions for the foundation, the exercising
of banking activities, licensing and supervision of cooperative banks by the Bank of Albania,
as well as the characteristics of these banks.

1.2. The legal basis for this regulation is composed by the Law No. 8269 dated 23.12.1997, “On
the Bank of Albania”, and Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998, “On banks in the Republic of
Albania”.

1.3.  Forthe purpose of this regulation, the following terms shall mean:

- “Cooperative bank” is the legal person, which is created as a voluntary union of its
members with the purpose of using their financial resources mainly in the interest of
the company itself and that operates within the administrative area where it resides.

- “Initial membership fee” is the fee paid by each member of the cooperative bank
at the moment of joining the bank, as established by the bank’s internal regulations.

- “Surplus”, according to Point 6 of Article 64 of the Law “On banks in the Republic of
Albania”, represents the cooperative bank’s net profit. This is the difference between
the bank’s income and its expenses, after deduction of taxes.

- “The initial surplus account balance” defined in Point 4 of Article 64 of the Law
“On banks in the Republic of Albania”, is the level of subscribed capital that the
cooperative bank shall achieve within the next 5 years after commencement of banking
activities.

- The amount of 1/3 of the minimum capital, which is required from time to time by the
Bank of Albania to licence new banks, represents the 1/3 of the minimum amount of
the initial paid-in capital. Such is required as a cash contribution for the bank, as
defined in the regulation “On granting a license to conduct banking activities in the
Republic of Albania”

- “The trading area of the bank” is the extent of a 25-km radius from the head
office, within which the cooperative bank may exercise banking activities.

- “Annual turnover” is the amount of money that the members of the cooperative
bank generate from sales of products, goods and services within one financial year.

- “Members of the cooperative bank” are entities defined in Article 64, Point 2.b
of the law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

- “Initial minimum capital” represents the minimum amount of paid-in capital,
required to get a license from the Bank of Albania to act as a cooperative bank in the
Republic of Albania.

Other terms that are not explained above will have the same meaning as the terms described in
Article 2 of the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.
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2.1.

2.2.

3.1

3.2.

3.3.

34.

3.5.

3.6.

3.7.

3.8.

3.9.

4.1.
4.2.

ARTICLE 2

Membership
Members of the cooperative bank shall assume the obligations as established in the bank’s
internal regulations. At least two members of the Board of Directors, including the chairman,
should possess professional skills that meet the requirements concerning the managers of
banks that operate in the Republic of Albania, as determined by the regulations of the Bank of
Albania.
The annual turnover realized by the members of the cooperative bank, craftsmen and small
traders, should be up to 1000 times the last month average salary in the administrative area
of the region where the bank operates.

ARTICLE 3

Specifics of cooperative banks

The cooperative bank should bear its distinctive name accompanied by the term “cooperative
bank” and the denomination of the area where the bank resides.
The cooperative bank is created and operates based on the principles of voluntarism and
reciprocity that is a unique feature for this bank. This characteristic is reflected in the reciprocal
relations between the bank and its members in one side, and the clientele and the bank’s
trade area on the other.
The opportunity to use banking products and services is the advantage that represents the
major benefit for the members of the cooperative bank.
The bank should abide by the principle of localization, which means its banking activities
should be carried out within its trading area.
The bank is entitled to open branches and agencies only within its trading area upon the
preliminary approval by the Bank of Albania.
The cooperative bank’s internal regulations serve as a regulating tool over its activities, credit
operations and collection of deposits, in compliance with the supervisory rules established
by the Bank of Albania. These internal regulations establish the instruments that govern the
relations between the members, including determination of the liability limitation that the
members may assume regarding the cooperative bank.
Membership to cooperative banks, in addition to specific requirements established in each
individual bank’s by-laws, may have the following general characteristics:

Priority is given to members on services offered by the cooperative banks

Each member has equal rights, based on the principle “one person, one vote”

The nominative quality of membership which is carried out through the decision by

the bank’s general assembly.
The cooperative bank should have its “Credit Committee”. The Board of Directors shall establish
the composition and operating rules for such committee.
The bank’s statute establishes the requirements to be followed by the Board of Directors
when approving the requests for membership and resignation.

ARTICLE 4

Activities exercised by the cooperative banks
The cooperative bank’s primary objective is to grant loans mainly in favor of its members.
In addition to Point 4.1 above, the bank may exercise the following banking activities:
a) Maintaining bank accounts and handling settlement of short-term transactions;
b Receiving and offering services for deposits for which it may or may not pay interests;
Extension of credits to third parties;
Participation in the interbank market;
Offering of guarantees;
Safekeeping of precious metals and providing safe-deposit-box services;
) Issuing, acceptance and administration of payment means;
Intermediation of monetary transactions (including foreign currencies).

)
)
)
)
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4.3. Loans that the cooperative bank grants might be of short-term, medium-term and long-term,
and the amount of loans for each individual borrower should not exceed the limit of 500 times
the last month average salary in the administrative area of the region where the cooperative
bank resides.

4.4, The bank may purchase or sell securities on behalf of the members.

ARTICLE 5

Internal regulatory acts of the cooperative banks

The internal regulatory acts of the cooperative bank shall contain:

The name and the headoffice address of the cooperative bank; the purpose for the creation of the
bank; the duration of the bank’s activity; the amount of membership fees paid by each member and
the means of payment; the composition, the ownership and the structure of the bank’s capital; the
names, surnames and addresses of the members of the bank; the criteria for membership, the
members’ rights and obligations and their predisposition to undertake liabilities that may emerge; the
procedures for becoming a member and resignation from the cooperative bank; the procedures for
electing the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee along with their rights and obligations; the
procedures for the distribution of earnings and the covering of losses, as determined in the resolution
of the meeting of Board of Directors; and, the ways forimplementing the supervisory regulations set
by the Bank of Albania.

ARTICLE 6

Supervision of cooperative banks

6.1. Supervision of cooperative banks is carried out through controlling the implementation of
regulations issued by the Bank of Albania regarding banks and branches of foreign banks
operating in the Republic of Albania.

6.2. The cooperative banks shall report to the Bank of Albania according to an approved reporting
system.

6.3. The cooperative banks shall keep their accounting records according to the Banking Accounting
Manual approved by Decision No. 820, dated 30.12.1998 of the Council of Ministers.

6.4. The cooperative banks, when exercising their activities, should make sure the average maturity

of the credits does not exceed the average maturity of the respective funding sources.
6.5. The cooperative bank should submit to the Bank of Albania any changes concerning its
internal regulations.

CHAPTER 1l

ARTICLE 7

Licensing

7.1. The Bank of Albania is the sole authority that may grant the license, as an administrative act,
for authorizing the cooperative banks to exercise banking activities, pursuant to the Law N0.8365
dated 02.07.1997 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

7.2. The minimum initial paid-in capital that is required for a cooperative bank, should be no less
than 100 million LEK. When the subscribed capital of the proposed bank exceeds the initial
minimum required capital amount, members should pay first only the minimum initial capital
required by the Bank of Albania . The remainder may be paid according to definitions set in
the cooperative bank’s statute, within the legal term of 5 years.

7.3. In order to prove the payment of the initial required capital and its source, the proposed
cooperative bank should submit to the Bank of Albania the documentation confirming the
payment of such capital, coming from membership fees, in an escrow account in the Bank of

184



Albania. Payment should be done in a bank account and not in cash.

ARTICLE 8

Documentation

Documentation required by the BoA includes the following:

8.1.

811

8.1.2.

8.2.

8.3.

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

For members of the proposed cooperative bank, documentation to be submitted to the Bank

of Albania shall include:

If members are judicial persons:

- The list of allmembers of cooperative bank, their residence or the actual headoffice,
and the distance between their work or domicile and the headoffice of the proposed
cooperative bank;

Their statute, the act of foundation and the act of registration in the court;
Information on the economic, commercial or industrial activity during the last financial
year for each member. The above documentation should be certified by a certified
public accountant;

For each member of the cooperative bank, a certification of tax clearance from tax
authorities for activities of the last year.

If members are physical persons or individuals:

- The list of members, their address and nationality;

The list of the businesses where they have significant participations;

Certificate of registration to tax authorities for physical persons;

Certification from the respective authorities for not having any litigation in process;
Penal certification

For the managers
For the manager and a member of the Board of Directors of the cooperative bank, documents
are to be submitted to the Bank of Albania according to definitions made in the regulation “On
the Requirements to be Fulfilled by the Managers of Banks and Branches of Foreign Banks”;
The business-plan submitted to the Bank of Albania should include the following:
The strategy, objectives and position in the market of the proposed cooperative bank;
The location of the proposed bank describing the area limit that may include one or
several regions;
The banking and financial activities that the bank supposes to carry out and its
objectives for a 1-year period;
Organizational chart of the proposed cooperative bank. This should be structured in
such away as to notimpede cooperative bank’s supervision by the BoA, as defined
in the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

ARTICLE 9

Verification of documentation and granting of the license
The Bank of Albania will review the documentation submitted for completeness according to
requirements established in this regulation. According to this regulation, the date of reception
of the request for license is considered the date when the applicant has completed all the
requirements. Starting this date, which is notified to the applicant, a period of three months
is granted to BOA to accept or reject the preliminary approval for license and the Bank of
Albania should notify the applicant in a written form within 10 days after the decision is made.
The granting of the license to exercise banking activities is published in the Official Bulletin of
the Bank of Albania.
The chartered cooperative bank is registered in the Register of Banks, which is kept in the
Bank of Albania for purposes of public reference.
The Bank of Albania may revoke the license to the cooperative bank in presence of the
circumstances provided in the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.
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ARTICLE 10

Commissions

1.1 The Bank of Albania, pursuant to Article 11, Point 4 of the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998

“On banks in the Republic of Albania”, applies the below commissions for procedures of
cooperative bank licensing:

- When submitting the complete documentation, the applicant should pay the Bank of
Albania a commission of 15.000 LEK;

- When the license is granted, the applicant should pay the Bank of Albania a
commission of 10.000 LEK.

The above fees are not reimbursable, regardless whether the request for license is approved or not.
ArTICLE 11

Solicitation for expanding or curtailing the bank’'s network

11.1.  The cooperative bank may open branches and agencies outside its trading area only upon the
approval by the Bank of Albania. In order to accomplish this, the bank should submit to Bank
of Albania a written request along with the following:

a) The location and the area of the activity for the proposed branch or agency;
b) A copy of the internal regulation for the branch or agency;

C) A brief description about the competence of the senior manager;

d) The operational plan for the branch or the agency for one year.

ARTICLE 12
Liquidation

The liquidation procedures established in Article 64, Point 7 of the Law No. 8365 dated 02.07.1998 “On
banks in the Republic of Albania”, are applied in case of liquidation of cooperative banks.

ARTICLE 13

Entrance into force

This regulation shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Bulletin of the Bank
of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL
Shkélgim CANI
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REGULATION
ON
BANK RELATIONS WITH
PERSONS RELATED TO BANK

Approved by the Decision no. 100, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervisiory Council

of the Bank of Albania

LEGAL BASIS AND PURPOSE

ARTICLE 1

Legal basis of this regulation is: Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On the Bank of Albania”
and Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”.

The purpose of this regulation is to adjust the relationships between the bank and the foreign
bank branch with the related persons.

Subject to this regulation are banks and foreign bank branches licensed by the Bank of Albania,
which for simplicity will be called “bank”.

DEFINTIONS

ARTICLE 2

“Related persons,” means two or more persons and/or physical or juridical persons resident
or non-resident in the Republic of Albania, who for the purpose of this regulation:

Fulfil the meaning of terms of the Article 2, letter f and (k) in the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.98
“On banks in Republic of Albania”, when the person:

i have interest in bank’s capital or have interest in the capital of an other company, that
is a joint-stock company,

i influences in the decision-making of the bank or of the other joint - stock company;,

i possess either directly or indirectly in the bank capital the percentage that gives to

him 25 per cent or more of the votes in the highest decision making body of the bank
or the other legal person,

i has the majority of the votes in the bank or the other legal person, according to the
concluded agreement between shareholders,
i Define de facto through the voting right the decision made in the meetings of the

highest decision-making body of the bank or other legal person, including the
appointment of the administrators of the banks.
Are administrators of the bank pursuant to the definitions established in the Regulation “On
the administrators of the bank and foreign bank branches” and their family members.
In compliance with article 35 of the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, the term
“family members” implies:

i husband (wife) and children,
i fore-born, post-natal, brothers, sisters, uncles, aunts, nephews, nieces, children of
brothers or sisters.

According to the written assessment of supervision examiners, are also those persons whose
financial difficulties originate the financial difficulties of the other.

In respect of the regulatory framework of supervision, related persons may be considered as
one counterparty. The weighted coefficient for the related persons shall be considered the
highest weighted coefficient, when at least two of the components of the related persons
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have each different weighted coefficient.

Transaction with related persons means all the allowed operations of the bank performed

with the related persons, as stipulated in Point 2.1 of this article.

Transaction with related persons would be treated by the bank in the same terms and

conditions as transactions with other clients.

Claims to related persons are part of the bank’s operations with the related persons in the

balance accounts (principal and interest) and/or off-balance accounts taken together.

Net claims are the difference between the claims to related persons and :

i) Provisions for non performing assets and doubtful commitments,

ii) Guarantees and/or collaterals received, when the guarantees and the collaterals are
in compliance with the Regulation on “Significant risk”.

Net exposures are net claims weighted according to the Regulation on “Capital adequacy”

and Point 2.1.4 of this article.

SUPERVISORY REQUIREMENTS

ARTICLE 3

Bank of Albania pursuant to article 37 of the Law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”
establishes the restrictions on the bank’s operations with the related persons.

For the related persons of the bank who own, directly or indirectly, not less than 5 percent of
the bank capital, and/or persons as defined in 2.1.2. and/or 2.1.3. in the article 2 of this

regulation:
i) claims on risk must be not higher than 20 percent of regulatory capital;
ii) claims in risk must be not higher than 30 percent of the regulatory capital, when the
related person is a bank;
iii) total claims in risk must be not higher than 300 per cent of the regulatory capital.
CONTROL
ARTICLE 4

Decision-making bodies of the bank approve internal rules on:

i) the management risk of operations with related persons,

i) the policies and procedures for extending credits which must emphasize that the
conditions for credits to the related persons are equal with those for all clients.

Entities that are subjects to this regulation must ensure a monitoring system and ongoing

information on the operations with the related persons. Bank of Albania has the right to

supervise continuously the monitoring and information system on the operations with the

related persons.

REPORTING

ARTICLE 5

Entities that are subject of this regulation report to the Bank of Albania on the operations
with the related persons in compliance with the reporting forms attached to this regulation.
Reporting forms are filled in monthly by the entities. Reporting to the Bank of Albania,Supervision
Department, On-Site Inspection, must be done no later than 10 days after the close of the
quarter. Examiners of the Supervision Department, when they deem reasonable, have the
right to define more frequent terms for reporting.
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FINAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 6

This regulation is approved by the decision No. 100, dated 10.12.2003 of the Supervision Council of the
Bank of Albania and shall enter into force 15 days following its publication in the Official Gazette of the
Republic of Albania.

CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

Shkélgim CANI
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FORM NO. 1

BANK'S RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE RELATED PERSONS

Mame of tha bank .

Feporting period . ...

Feoorming date ...

Freparad v [Firer name, last name, cignamurs]

-7

W nager [Firet nama, la81 nama, E@naturs)

Com po=gion Cla = Chligetones CH-balance e
shEat balance
CREretions =2nEst —
i 2 Izubmitedd aperations
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LN
g. Indrvidual :
b FPhysical p=r=on
t. Lagal parson
T, Ope=ratons with fe rebisd  pemon | 000 A
iz+b+a!
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k. Physical parson
¢. Legal perzon
2. Op=rations wih the relfed  person | C00T000 |
ia+b+a!
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b FPhysical p=r=on

c. Lepgal parzon

. Op=rmdons wih M= rekisd peoon
7 +b+c!

Totel opemtions with the related persons
+2+_+nrl
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FORM NO. 2
SUPERVISION REQUIRMENTS OF THE BANK'S OPERATIONS WITH THE
RELATED PERSONS

Marne of the bank
Feorting perod
Fegorting date .

Fregared by [First nams, last narme, sigrature)

Manager [Firet name. last name. sigraiure)

REGULATORY CAPITAL AMOUNTS

[ 20%0) OF THE REGJLATORY CAR TAL ¢
{ 30%:) OF THE RECULATORY CAP TAL:

300%) OF THE RECLLATORY CAPTAL

Coemration= withthe Claim= | Aessree The Hetclaims | Weightng  Claim= in n=k
relstad parsons fumd s racei e
guarenies =1} Y
11! 2l andior {21+ {3} G=475

coleters

1. Coermions with the
rafgfad  oercon e

Fag T

2. Operafions with Hhe
rajgtag pErsom  (Raem
Moo T

n. Qperagans with the
rafgfad  oercon e

LT

Totsl opsrations with
the reloted persons

I'.|

=

1 In this column are entered the sum of the data of column 1 data and those of column 3 (off-balance sheet items), issued from
form No. 1.
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REGULATION

ON CONSOLIDATED SUPERVISION

(Approved upon the decision no. 68, date 28.07.2005 of the Bank of Albania
Supervisory Council).

Article 1
Legal basis

The legal basis to this regulation is law no.8365, date 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of
Albania”.

Article 2
Entities

Subject to this regulation, are all entities licensed by the Bank of Albania, hereafter referred to as
“company”, having under ownership subsidiaries and/or significant interestin other licensed companies
by the Bank of Albania or not, within and/or out of the territory of the Bank of Albania.

Article 3
Purpose of the consolidated supervision

Consolidated supervision assesses the position to risk/risks not only of the activities of the company,
but the activity of its subsidiaries and significant interests, as well.

Article 4
Definitions

To the accomplishment of the requirements in this regulation, the following terms shall be interpreted
as follows:

1. Consolidating company and/or parent company shall be the subject having subsidiaries
under ownership and shares in other companies.

2. Consolidated companies shall be the subsidiaries and significant interests of the
consolidating company.

3. Consolidated group consists of the consolidating company and the consolidated companies.

4. Subsidiary has the same meaning as in article 2, section 1, paragraph g, law no. 8365, date

02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, according to which this term means “any
juridical person in which another person or affiliate juridical persons holds more than fifty
percent of the capital or voting shares, permitting this subject or affiliate juridical persons
exercise control over it”.

5. Significant interest has the same meaning as in article 2, section 1, paragraph &, law no.
8365, date 02.07.1998 “On banks in the Republic of Albania”, according to which this term
means “a direct or indirect holding of an interest of a juridical person that represents ten
percent or more of the equity or of the voting rights, or that makes it possible to exercise a
significant influence over the management and policies of the juridical person”.

Article 5
Structure of the consolidated supervision

Consolidated supervision consists of:

1. Consolidated accounting.
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2. Quantity supervision.
3. Quiality supervision.
Article 6
Consolidated accounting
1. The purpose of consolidated account is the survey of the financial statements of the
consolidated group.
2. Organization of the consolidated accounting is in accordance with the International Accounting

Standards (IAS 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 39) and Banking Accounting Manual.

Article 7
Quantity supervision

Quantity supervision is the observance of the regulative framework of the consolidated supervision,
which is comprised of:

1. Regulatory capital is in accordance with the instruction “On regulatory capital”, the form of
which, for consolidated supervision purposes, is replaced with the appended form.

Capital adequacy pursuant to the regulation “On capital adequacy”.

Spreading of risk pursuant to the regulation “On significant risks”.

Bank related persons in accordance with the regulation “On bank related persons”.
Coverage of the market risks in accordance with the “On market risks”.

aprwn

Article 8
Quality Supervision

Quality supervision focuses on the quality analysis on consolidated basis, mainly regarding:

Organization of internal audit and direction of risk/risks.

Leading structure and organizational structure.

Assessment of the operational, strategic, reputation and legal risk.

Assessment of systematic risk in perspective.

Strategy of internal activities through consolidating company or consolidated companies.
Information adequacy.

Conduction assessment pursuant to internal policies and their application in practice.

NogMwdhE

Article 9
Cooperation in context of consolidated supervision

1. Augmentation of consolidated supervision quality is achieved by reaching reciprocal cooperation
agreements between the Bank of Albania and supervisory and regulatory authorities of the
constituent entities of the consolidated group, within and out of the country.

2. The Bank of Albania is entitled to request and send reports, data and information, to the
supervisory authorities of other countries, if they are necessary for the consolidated supervision
on the basis of the agreement of cooperation and understanding, signed by the respective
parties.

3. The Bank of Albania is entitled to perform on-site inspections and/or receive information in the
context of cooperation on the consolidated supervision, to check the authenticity of the reports
and data on the consolidated supervision.

Article 10
Report
1. The consolidated financial statements are prepared by the consolidating companies and
verified by the external auditors. These statements are reported to the Bank of Albania within
the legal time limits, at the end of each financial year.
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Companies prepare publishable annual reports on consolidated basis (consolidated group).
3. In the publishable annual reports, companies publish the list of subsidiaries and significant
interests, incorporated into the consolidated statements. Moreover, in the annual reports, it is
incorporated the list of non-consolidated significant interests, along with the respective notes.

4, Pursuant to article 7 of this regulation, reports are prepared according to the specifications in
the respective regulatory acts.
5. The Bank of Albania is entitled to ask for additional information on the consolidating and/or

consolidated companies.

Article 11
Final provision

This regulation is approved upon the decision no.68, date 28.07.2005 of the Bank of Albania

Supervisory Council and shall be effective 15 days after being published in the Official Gazette of the
Republic of Albania.

Chairman of Supervisory Council

Ardian Fullani
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*According to Banking Account Manual, it should be replaced with “assets”.
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REGULATION

“ON SUPERVISION OF ELECTRONIC BANKING
TRANSACTIONS”

Article 1
Legal basis

This Regulation is issued pursuant to the Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997 “On Bank of Albania”
and the Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On Banking Law in the Republic of Albania”.

Article 2
Purpose

The purpose of this Regulation is to establish:

a) organizational conditions, conditions on the personnel as well as technical conditions for
conducting electronic banking transactions (e-banking);
b) requirements related to the verifications conducted by the Bank of Albania on e-banking
service;
c) principles on e-banking risk management.
Article 3
Subject

Subject to this Regulation shall be all banks and branches of foreign banks (hereinafter, banks)
that conduct banking business in the Republic of Albania and intend to perform electronic banking
transactions.

Article 4
Definition

E-banking is a distance service, through electronic channels of distribution and communication,
of traditional and new banking products and services, within the framework of the allowed activities
for commercial banks.

Article 5
Prohibitions

a) Banks are not allowed to open e-banking account without the physical presence of the client
at the bank and without making his identification or that of his legally authorized representative,
pursuant to the approved internal regulations. The bank keeps the documentation that proves
the client’s identification, for at least a five-year period.

b) Banks are not allowed to perform e-banking service without a prior verification on the conditions
this service is performed from the Bank of Albania.

Article 6
The right of performing e-banking transactions

Banks can perform e-banking services only once they make the verifications on the requirements
provided by the Bank of Albania. After the preparations, the bank shall notify the Bank of Albania on the
verifications conducted. The notification shall be accompanied by:

a) decision of the board of directors on the use of e-banking when performing bank transactions;
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curriculum vitae of the immediate responsible and technical personnel that will support the
bank in conducting e-banking activity, which must include their qualifications and working
experience;

data that show the necessary technical requirements for the conduct and control of e-banking
activity;

assessment of the effects of e-banking use on the bank outcome through financial statements
for the next three years;

procedures of e-banking operation and internal auditing program for this purpose;

the agreement signed upon with the company on information technology support to the bank,
if there is any or if signed after receipt of the authorization;

the list of banking transactions they will perform along with the communication channels they
will use.

Article 7
The right of performing the service and suspension of the service

After notifying Bank of Albania according to article 6, and after the verifications by the Bank of
Albania inspectors are conducted on the assessment of technical conditions, the bank is
entitled to perform e-banking service.

Bank of Albania may order the bank to suspend partially or completely the e-banking service,
if during the supervision process conducted by the Bank of Albania it results that the bank
has not meet the requirements of this regulation.

In case of partial suspension, the bank interrupts within 60 days the suspended e-banking
service and notifies the Bank of Albania on this matter. The bank cannot resume this service
before a period of six months from suspension is passed. The conditions of resumption are
the same as in article 6.

In case of complete suspension, the bank interrupts within 60 days the e-banking service and
notifies the Bank of Albania on this matter. The Bank cannot resume this service before a
period of 18 months from suspension is passed. The conditions of resumption are the same
as in article 6.

Article 8
The request after the opening of the service

The bank shall notify in advance Bank of Albania on all the additions to the list of channels of
communication and to the electronic banking transactions that are performed after the opening
of e-banking service.

Bank of Albania has the right to request that the documents prescribed in article 6 are properly
filled in for all the changes and to conduct verifications on the technical conditions when it
deems appropriate.

Article 9
Accounting

Banks shall conduct accounting records on the transactions performed even for e-banking, pursuant

to the law “On Accounting and Financial Statements” and “Banking Accounting Manual”.

PRINCIPLES ON E-BANKING RISK MANAGEMENT

Article 10
Effective supervision

The Leading Council and the senior executive administrators should establish an

effective supervision of e-banking risk management on the e-banking operations,
including the establishment of specific responsibilities, politics and controls on the
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management of these risks. For this purpose they should in a documented way:

a) clearly define the bank risks in terms of e-banking;

b) define the authorities, their competencies and the reporting mechanisms, including the
necessary procedures of acting according to the degrees of responsibility in case of violation
of the security (such as penetration through the net, violation of security requirements from the
employed persons, any serious misuse of computers, etc.) that have an important impact on
the service security, on the situation and reputation of the bank;

c) evaluate the unique risk factors for guaranteeing the security, the integrity and availability of e-
banking products and services and apply the request that the thirds, with whom the bank
shares/uses the main systems or applications, take similar measures;

d) ensure that due diligence and risk analysis are carried out before cross-border operations are
performed;

e) define the resources that are required to supervise the e-banking services in proportion with
the operational functioning and system riskiness, network deficiencies and nature of the
information transmitted.

Article 11

Quality control infrastructure

The Leading Council and senior executive administrators should review and adopt the main
orientations of security control process of the bank.

a) The Leading Council and senior executive administrators should supervise the ongoing
development and maintenance of quality control infrastructure, that protects on an adequate
basis the systems and e-banking data from the external and internal threats. This process
includes the granting of authorized rights, of rights on logical and physical controls and the
definition of the adequate infrastructure security to maintain the required limits and restrictions
in the internal and external activities.

The Leading Council and senior executive administrators should:

b) define the explicit responsibilities of the personnel for the application and control on the
application of the bank’s security policies;

c) enable adequate physical controls for protection from the unauthorized physical inflows in the
computerized environment;

d) enable adequate logical controls and monitoring processes for protection from the unauthorized
external and internal inflows in the applications and e-banking database;

e) enable regular reviewing and testing of measures and security controls, including the ongoing

follow-up of the current developments of security industry and the setting-up of an advanced
software, of service packets and other measures.

Article 12
External resources supervision

The Leading Council and senior executive administrators should establish a supervision process
and demonstrate full and continuous diligence for the administering of the bank’s relations with other
external parties that support e-banking and for the use of other external resources in this field.

The Leading Council and senior executive administrators must ensure that:

a) the bank understands to a full extent the risks that are associated with involvements in a
partnership agreement or external resource (for example, with an independent company that
offers Internet service, etc.) for the systems and e-banking applications;

b) a careful and adequate reviewing of professional skills and financial condition of the service
provider as a third party, before the contract on e-banking services is signed, is conducted;
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the contractual responsibility of all the parties in a partnership relation, including an external
party is defined. Particularly, the responsibilities on providing and receiving information to and
from the service provider, responsibilities on the backups keeping and copies of transactions
performed through e-banking, should clearly be defined;

all the e-banking systems and operations provided by external resources are subject of risk
management, of security policies and the keeping of confidentiality that are in line with the
standards of the bank itself;

periodical internal/and or external controls on external resources operations are conducted, at
least to the same extent as required when they are conducted by internal resources;

there are plans for reserve resources in case of incidents for e-banking activities from external
resources.

Article 13
Identity and authorization of clients

Banks should take the necessary measures to verify the identity and authorization of clients with

whom they conduct business through Internet.

a)

Banks should employ safe methods for the verification of identity and authorization of new
clients as well as the verification of the existing clients that seek to undertake electronic
transactions.

Banks may employ various methods, separate or combined ones, to proceed on the

identification, including PIN-s, passwords, smart cards, biometrics and digital certificates.

Banks should monitor and adopt sound practices of industry in this field to ensure that:

i) Verification database that ensures the access to the e-banking account of clients or
the access to the sensitive systems, is protected from the manipulations and
corruptions. These manipulations must be detected and investigation controls must
be in place to document such attempts.

i) Additions, deletions or changes on individuals, agents or on the system based on
the verification data are authorized only from a verified source.

iii) Necessary measures to control the e-banking system links are established in order
that third parties are not able to move or replace the identified clients.

iv) The verified e-banking sessions should remain safe during all the session process,

orin the event of a security error the system requires a new verification.

Article 14
Verification of the transactions

Banks shall employ methods on the verification of transactions, which lead to the real

acknowledgement of facts and establish the responsibilities on e-banking transactions.

Banks shall make reasonable efforts pursuant to the type of e-banking transaction and the proper

value this transaction has or might have for the bank, to ensure that:

a)

E-banking systems are projected to reduce the possibility that the authorized users get involved
inill-considered transactions and the clients fully understand the risks related to the transactions
they perform.

All the parties involved in transactions are positively verified and the control on verification
channels is made.

Financial transactions data are protected from modifications and, if occurred, these
modifications must be observed.

Article 15
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Distribution of tasks

Banks shall ensure that the appropriate measures for the proper distribution of tasks within the
systems, databases and e-banking applications are made.

Practices on establishing and maintaining the distribution of tasks within the e-banking environment
shall include:

a) processes and systems, which ensure that none of employees/service providers from outside
might gain access to, authorize and complete a transaction;

b) distribution of tasks among the staff who organizes statistical data (including website contents)
and those who are responsible for the verification of their integrity;

c) e-banking system testing, ensuring that the distribution of tasks might be neither avoided nor
left out;

d) distribution of tasks among the staff who develops and those who manage the e-banking
systems.

Article 16

Control and right of access to the system

Banks shall ensure that controls for the authorizations and privileges on the rights of access to the
systems, in e-banking database and applications, are established.

Banks shall strictly control the privileges of access and authorization in order to preserve the
allocation of duties. In e-banking system, authorizations and rights of access may be established in a
centralized or allocated way within one bank, and are generally saved in databases. The protection of
these databases from external intervention or corruption is fundamental for an authorized and efficient
control.

Article 17
Integrity protection

Banks shall ensure that the appropriate measures to protect the integrity of data on transactions,
records and e-banking information are established.

a) Banks shall ensure that the appropriate measures to define the accuracy, completeness and
security of transactions, records, and e-banking information that is transmitted via Internet,
resident within the internal database of the bank, or that is transmitted/protected from a third
service provider on behalf of the bank, are established.

b) Practices on integrity protection of the data within the e-banking environment shall include:

i) performing e-banking transactions in a way that makes them too resistant against
any intervention throughout the process;

ii) saving, accessing and modifying e-banking records in a way that makes them too
resistant against interventions;

iii) projecting e-banking transactions and processes to keep the records in a way that
makes impossible the avoidance of discovering unauthorized modifications;

iv) establishing adequate policies on modifications control, including the monitoring

and testing procedures, that are established to be protected against the e-banking
system modifications, and which might wrongly compromise the controls or data
security;

V) discovering interventions in the e-banking transactions or records through transaction
processing, monitoring functions and records maintenance.

Article 18
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E-banking transactions control
Banks shall ensure that safe controls for all e-banking transactions exist.

The distribution of financial services via Internet can render more difficult for banks to apply and
implement the internal controls and maintain the safe tracing of control, if these measures are not
adapted for an e-banking environment. In the process of determining where control tracing should be
carried out, the following elements of e-banking transactions are to be taken into consideration:

a) opening, modification or closing of client’s account;

b) financial consequences of transaction;

c) an authorization issued to a client who exceeds the allowed limit;

d) a granting, modification or revocation of rights and privileges to have access to the systems.

Article 19
Keeping the information confidentiality

Banks shall take the necessary measures to keep the confidentiality of basic e-banking information.
The measures on keeping confidentiality must be in proportion with the sensitivity of information being
transmitted and/or saved in the database.

Thus, banks shall ensure that:

a) all the confidential data and records of the bank be accessible only from individuals, agents
and from authorized and certified systems;

b) all confidential data of the bank be safely kept and be protected from the viewing or modification
during the transmission via public, private or internal networks;

c) bank standards and controls for the use and protection of data be implemented even when
the third parties have access to the data through the relationships with external sources;

d) all entries to the limited data be traceable and require the confirmation (be logged-in), even

following a certain number of unsuccessful efforts to log-in.
Article 20
Informing the clients
Banks shall ensure that the adequate information is provided in the website, to allow the clients
to get an informed conclusion on the bank’s identity and its regulatory status, before they have access

to the e-banking transactions.

The information the bank shall provide in its website-in is as follows;

a) name of the bank and location of its Head Office (and other local offices if applicable);

b) identity of the principal supervisory banking authority responsible for the supervision of the
bank’s Head Office;

c) the way the clients can contact the client service center regarding the service problems,
complaints, suspected misuse of accounts, etc.;

d) how the clients can have access to the information on the applicable compensation, coverage
of secured deposits and protection level they afford (or the website links that provide such an
information);

e) other information that might be adequate or that are required under particular circumstances.

Article 21

Requirements on the client’s confidentiality
Banks shall take the necessary measures to ensure the loyalty to the requirements on the client’s

confidentiality, applicable within the jurisdictions based on which the bank provides the e-banking
services and products.
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Banks shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that:
a) policies and standards of the client’s confidentiality consider the consistency with all the laws
and regulations on confidentiality, within the jurisdiction based on which it provides the e-
banking services and products;

b) clients are acquainted with the policies and issues related to confidentiality on the use of e-
banking services an products;

c) clients may give up allowing the bank to share with third parties for cross-marketing purposes
the information on the requirements, interests, financial position or personal banking business
of the client;

d) data on the client are not used for purposes other than those allowed specifically or allowed
by the client;

e) bank standards on the use of client's data must be implemented even when the third parties

have access to client’s data through the relationships with external sources.

Article 22
Ensuring the e-banking operations continuity

Banks shall possess effective capacities to ensure business continuity and efficient process of
reserves planning, to help ensure the availability of the e-banking systems and services.

a) To protect banks from business risks, legal and reputation risks, the e-banking services must
be performed continuously and respond in due time to clients’ expectations.
b) To achieve this goal, the bank must be able to provide e-banking services to the last users,

either from the primary sources (such as internal systems and applications of the bank) or
from the secondary ones (such as systems and applications of service providers).

To provide the clients the continuity of the e-banking services they seek for, banks shall ensure
that:
a) current capacities and future development of e-banking systems are analysed in the context
of the development of all the markets on electronic trade and of the expected degree of
acceptance of the e-banking services and products from the client;

d) calculations of the e-banking transactions processing capacity are certified, stress tested
and reviewed periodically;
e) plans on the regular business continuity for the systems and e-banking critical processing are

applicable and duly tested.

Article 23
Contingent events management

Banks shall have adequate plans to react to incidents, to manage, maintain and minimize the
problems arising from contingent events (including both internal and external shocks), that might
make difficult the e-banking systems and services provision.

To ensure an effective reaction to contingent events, banks shall prepare:

a) reaction plans to contingent events, to address the process of putting again into functioning
e-banking systems and services. Scenarios analysis must take into consideration the possibility
of exposure to risks and their impact on the bank. E-banking systems provided from external
providers must be integral part of these plans;

b) mechanisms to identify an imminent incident or crisis, to assess their material and control
reputation risk related to any service interruption;

c) a communication strategy to sufficiently address the concerns of foreign markets and
communications means that might emerge in case of failure of e-banking systems;

d) a clear process to notify the supervisory authorities, in case security materials are broken or

interruption incidents occur;
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e) reaction teams to incidents that must be adequately trained and have the authority to act in
emergency cases to analyse the reaction/detection systems of incidents and construe the
significance of results;

f) a clear chain of commands, including either the internal operations or those of external sources,
to ensure that the immediate actions according to the gravity of incident are taken. Escalation
and procedures of the internal communication must be defined and include the notification
from the executive board when necessary;

9) a process to ensure that all the relevant external parties, including the bank’s clients,
correspondents and communications means, are informed properly and in due time on the e-
banking interruptions and the activity resumption developments;

h) a process for the gathering and preservation of legal evidence to ease the necessary reviews
following an e-banking incident, as well as to assist in bringing a charge against illegal
meddlers.

Article 24
Penalties

Any infringement of the requirements of this regulation is a violation of the terms on conducting
banking business in a sound and safe way, and is treated according to the provisions of article 44,
Law No. 8365, dated 02.07.1998 “On Banking Law in the Republic of Albania”.

Article 25
Transitional provisions
The banks that have started to perform e-banking transactions before this regulation enters into

force must meet, within a six-month period from the time this regulation enters into force, the terms
and conditions provided in this regulation.

Article 26
Entering into force

This Regulation shall enter into force fifteenth days following its publication in the Official Gazette
of the Republic of Albania.
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